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“This has been a ternific first year for Dixons Carphone We have seen excellent increases
in both sales and profitability and we have made very encouraging progress with the
tricky job of integrating these two great companies At the same time, we have continued
to generate strong customer satisfaction numbers, made significant strides in our
Connected World Services business including our agreement with Sprint, and launched
a brand new mobile network

The job 1s far from done | am acutely aware that there 1s no room for complacency

In a sector which has seen unprecedented change, bringing both opportunities and
challenges We have set ourselves ambitious goals, not only financial, but also in terms
of drniving customer happiness, bullding a completely integrated company and delivering
a brand new global services business with CWS To achieve these, we will need to
exhibit creativity, energy, resilience and toughness of purpose Nevertheless we are very
optimistic about the road ahead, and Dixons Carphone 1s lucky to have such a fantastic
team of people - In every part of the business — to deliver these goals My sincere
thanks to them for everything that has been done so far”

A

/\

Sebastlan James
Group Chiet Executive
16 July 2015

Cautionary statement

Cerain staterments made in this Annual Report and Accounts are forward looking Such statements are baseg on current expectations and are
subject to a number of nsks and uncertainties that could cause actual results 10 differ matenally from any expected futurs events or results
referred to in these forward looking statements Unless otherwise required by applicable laws, regulations or accounting standards we do not
undenake any obligation to update or revise any forward looking staterments, whether as a result of new information future developments or
otherwise Nathing in thus Annual Report and Accounts should be regarded as a profit forecast
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Dixons Carphone plc is Europe’s leading specialist electrical and
telecommunications retailer and services company, employing over
40,000 people in 9 countries.
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¢ Group like-for-like revenue up 6%

o UK like-for-like revenue up 8%

¢ Group pro forma PBT of £381 million, up 21%

¢ Group pro forma EPS of 25.5p

+ Strong balance sheet with year end pro forma net debt of £260 million

¢ Final dwvidend of 6.0p proposed, taking total dividends for the year to 8.5p
¢ Integration progressing well

¢ Disposals of non-core operations

Pro forma revenue (Emilion) Pro forma Headline EBIT {£millicn) Headline basic EPS (pence}

QOur European store presence
| -
I

Store numbers Own  Franchised Total

® UK and Iretand 1,328 — 1,328 ‘

© Nordics 257 131 388 1

& Southern Europe 389 223 582 il

1,954 354 2,308 i

]
Headline and pro forma performanca measures are as defined m the Performance Review Pra forma results are presented as If the CPW Europe Acquisition and the

Merger had occurrad at the start of the comparative penod Headline figures for the year ended 22 March 2014 have been re-presented to exclude the results of
discontinued operations
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Business segments

We operate four segments as follows:

Brands Websites
UK & treland Currys cumys co uk
curmys i@

= Currys and PC World are the largest specialist electncal retailing

and services operators in the UK & Ireland PC World pcworld co uk

peworld

+ Carphone Warehouse Is the largest independent °

telecommunications retailer in the UK & {reland Carphone Warehouse  carphonewarchouse com
+ Dntons Travel operates in major UK arports and Dublin arphonewarehouse 1e
+ KNOWHOW 1s our market leading services brand Duxons Travel dixonstravel com
« Geek Squad s the repairs and support provider for the KNOWHOW knowhow co uk

Carphone Warehouse Geek Squad geeksquad co uk
+ PC World Business provides computing products and services

to business to business {B2B) customers PC World Business peworldbusiness co uk
Nordics Elkjop elkjop no
« The Elkjep Group is the leading specialist electncal retaller across Elgiganten elgiganten se

the Nordics elgiganten dk
* Elkjep and Lefdal stores operate in Norway, Elgiganten in Sweden  Grgantt) gigantt fi

and Denmark and Gsgantti in Finland

Lefdal lefdal com

+ Phone House 1s a leading independent telecommunications

retaller 1in Sweden Phone House phonehouse se
« KNOWHOW has now been launched in the Nordic region
Southem Europe Kotsovolos kotsovoles gr
+ Kotsovolos s Greece’s leading specialist electncal retailer Phone House phonehouse es
+ Phone House stores operate in Spain where the Group is the

leading independent telecommunications retailer Geek Squad geeksquad es

+ Geek Squad 1s the repairs and support provider for the Phone
House in Spain

Connected World Services

+ The Group has 25 years expenence in the mobile industry and
several decades in consumer electronics, and has developed
sophisticated IT systerns and operating processes to help
customers navigate through the extensive range of network
package plans and other ancillary products and services It has
also evolved bespoke customer relationship management tools
which enable services such as upgrade reminders, data storage
and tanff checks

+ Connected World Services 1s the B2B division that packages the
core systems, expertise and relationships into a range of services
and provides these to other businesses

+ Connected World Services organises its services into five
product towers

- Connected Retailing
— Services and Support
Technology Platform
Product Solutions

- MVNO

connectedworldservices com

Dixons Carphone plc Annual Report and Accounts 2014/15
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Chairman’s Statement

| am pleased to be reporting on a very encouraging first year
since the merger of Carphone Warehouse and Dixons Retall
We have had a strong start, with pro forma Headline profit
before tax nsing 21% to £381 million Progress has been good
across the board and in virtually all temitones, with excellent
market share gamns in all core countries in all key categories,
and record customer satisfaction numbers Some important
strategic goals have also been achieved, most notably the
disposals of non-core operations in France, Germany, the
Netherlands and Portugal In addition, 1t 1s good to see real
traction with some key new clients in our Connected World
Services business including our agreement with Sprint In
short, it has been a good year and the Board 1s pleased to
recommend a final dividend of 6 Op per share to be paid on
25 September 2015

At the same time, the team have made really good progress in
bringing our two great companies together Much has been
achieved on this wital jourmey and, in particular, It grves me
enormous pleasure to see so many fully-functioning Carphone
Warehouse stores doing so well nside CurrysPCWorld stores
up and down the country | believe that the team are doing
something that 1s both hard to do and relatively rare creating
a genuine merger of equals where the best parts of each
company are preserved

Whle this 1s very encouraging so far, | am also aware that
getting this nght 15 not optional We brought the businesses
together because we believed that ncreasingly interconnected
customers were going to require something new fromus a
powerful partner to help them navigate these new technologies
Over the last year we have started to think about our customer
needs very hard and how we will address them going forward
- not only through the products that we offer, but also through
the services that we believe will bring these products to Iife
This 1s a long-term strategy but | am conwinced that it will

bear fruit in the end and it 1s exciting to be at the forefront

of these developments

In recent years we have expenenced unprecedented changes
in our marketplace, and this year 1s not shaping up to be an
exception There 1s no doubt that technology 1s evolving,
consumer behaviour 1s shifting, the supplier landscape 15
changing and, of course, in the telecommunications world, that
there are a number of important M&A transactions pending

We believe that change creates opportunity for us as
consurmers turn more and more to those who can offer
genuine impartial advice and service at very competitive pnces,
and as suppliers rely more and more on us to tell therr stones
farty and well to their customers It 1s our job o make
customers' lives better through technology, and, f we are
successful, this will lead to continued growth and success for
Dixons Carphone

Finally, | am conscious that all we have achieved - and all of
our future = 15 down to the skills and commitment of cur
people On behalf of the Board and our shareholders, [ would
like to thank them for therr hard work and dedication

(i Pl

Sir Charles Dunstone
Chairman
16 July 2015

4 Dixonsg Carphone plc Annual Report and Accounts 2014/15




Group Chief Executive’s Statement

I am very proud to be reporting on the first year of the newly
merged Dixons Carphone Group In eleven months we have
established the new organisational structures of the Group,
UK & Ireland, and Sweden, rolled out almost 250 Carphone
Warehouse SWAS, exited retall operations in Germany and the
Netherlands, signed matenal contracts in Connected World
Services, and launched a new MVNO in the UK under the 1D
brand More importantly, during this time we have also
delvered very strong trading, taken market share in all
terntones and detivered record customer satisfaction nght
across the business

The business has also had a strong first vear financially We
have delivered PBT ahead of guidance, increasing pro forma
Headline PBT from £316 millon to £381 million, resulting in
an increase in pro forma Headline basic EPS from 20 5p to
25 5p Pro forma net debt 1s also lower than expectation at
£260 milion

In the UK & Ireland, Like-for-lke sales were up 8% (13% in Q4)
and EBIT grew by 26% to £306 rmiulion, reflecting strong
performances in both electncals and mobile In electncals,
wiute goods and TVs sold particularly well with customers
responding to our range, pricing and - above all - service
ntiatives Our mobile business in the UK & Ireland also saw
very encouraging sales growth Postpay volumes and market
share continued to grow year-on-year in relatively quiet
markets as the business benefited from the exit of Phones 4u
and successful product launches We are also - cautiously -
encouraged by the impact on ARPU from higher levels of
data usage

Also in the UK, we launched our new MVNOQ, 1D, in May
Enabled by an innovative IT platform, it will target a number

of specific customer segments, with a particular focus on
personalising plans with flexible tanffs and introducing shared
data tanffs, market-leading roaming and the re-introduction of -
already very popular - 12 month contracts 1D will also be
launching in Ireland later in the summer

Our Nordics business had a good year with ike-for-like sales
up 4% EBIT declined in sterling by 16% to £86 million but this
was largely due to the devaluation of the Norwegian Kroner
{£11 millon} We have a very strong business in the Nordics and
continue to gain share 1n all key markets We continue to focus
on pnecing and new product and service offenngs, such as our
‘'epoq’ kitchen range and the rollout of KNOWHOW In Sweden
we are building a cutting edge small box distnbution centre to
support the growth of multi-channel throughotnt the Nordics
and across the region we are expanding our range of pnvate
label products We believe that these and many other initatives
will continue to dnve profitable growth in the years to come

Like-for-like sales in Southem Europe were down 5%, but
exited the year up 8% in Q4 EBIT grew 40% to £14 million

As you are aware, this has been a time of some fluidity in the
political and economic situation in Greece Nevertheless,
Kotsovolos ganed significant market share and exited the year
back in profitability for the first time in 5 years What the future
holds in the immediate term 1s necessanly less certain, but with
a really excellent team and a strong market position, we fee!
that this situation may end up proving the aphonsm that all
cnsis leads to opportunity  Meanwhile, the market in Spain
remains tough, but our stores saw improved trading dunng
the final quarter boosted by the distnbution of Mowistar quad
play offenngs

In December we announced that we plan to deliver at least our
synergy target of £80 million by financial year 2016/17- one
year ahead of plan The integration continues to progress well
Dunng the year we have announced our joint UK head office
and moved into one head office m both Sweden and Ireland,
integrated most support functions, begun consultatons on
moving our logistics and our repair centres and opened almost
250 Carphone Warehouse SWAS We have opened a number
of co-branded Elgiganten Phone House stores in Sweden and
launched the Phone House m Norway in both cases the
performance of these stores has been very encouraging

The Connected World Services management team have put in
place a newly-configured orgarusational structure to deliver on
an already strong pipeline and we now have the sales team to
develop our pipeline Post the year end we were very pleased
to announce a partnership with Spnntin the US, and subject to
the successful completion of a pilot phase, we will open up to
500 new stores, as well as a separate agreement to provide
services to support ther existing retail business In addition,
following the success of honeyBee In the UK, we are also
prepanng for launch in Canada

Cur focus on markets where we have scale and relevance led
to the decision to exit from our retall husinesses in Germany
and the Netherlands, whilst retaining long-term contracts for
the prowvision of nsurance services in these markets through
CWS On 16 July 2015 we also announced plans to dispose
of our operatigns in Portugal

A great deal has been achieved this year, but there is still
muchto do Delivery options, [T investment, extending our
free warranty programme, further training for our colleagues,
completion of the integration, bulding on cur MVNO and CWS
businesses, creating a new services business and even
stronger pncing in some temtones are just some of the
inttiatives in our sights to build on our long-term sustainability
and grow the value of the Company
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Group Chief Executive’s Statement

The consumer electrormics and mobile phone landscapes

are in a constant state of flux - and never more so than today
This creates challenges of course, but also some exciting
opportunities The growth of smartphones, tablets and the
speed of intemet access both in and out of the home, together
with an increasing number of connected devices, are changing
the way people live therr ives, communicate, and use
technology This has made a number of new markets available
to Dixons Carphone, including wellness, secunty, content and
home management We are focused on building strong
positions in these markets in the next few years

On top of this, the growing complexity and interconnectivity

of products means that customers are increasingly demanding
help and support throughout a product's ifecycle, from
choosing the nght product at the outset through to installation,
connechon, and repar This provides an increasing cpportunity
for our Geek Squad and KNOWHOW services, as customers
ask for help in getling therr products working - and keeping
them working

Behind our end-to-end service operaton we have a
comprehensive - and unigue - infrastructure, including
technical support, delwery, nstallation, repaw and recycling
We plan to leverage this infrastructure to widen our services
custorner base nght across our core markets

Finally, every team and every indwidual will have been affected
by the many changes that the organisation has navigated this
year | began by listing some of the many achievements we
have accomphshed in the year, but to do all this whilst ensunng
we did not take our eye off the ball s a testament to the
creatwity, skill, fortitude and hard work of the very talented
men and women that make up Dixons Carphone 1 would fike
to take this oppertunity to offer my humble and heartfelt thanks
to them

Sebastan James
Group Chief Executive
18 July 2015
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Our markets

The ntegration of connectivity, products and services was
central to the Merger rationale for Carphone Warehouse and
Dixons Retail into Dixons Carphone, and we operate across
a vanety of distinct marketplaces such as mobile, consumer
electronics, and business to business operations via the
Connected World Services dwision

In mobile, the Group is well placed, in particular in the UK,
to offer mpartial advice on a vast array of propositions The
markets in which the Group operates are served by mobile
network operators and mdependent and generalist retailers
In the UK we have seen a major market withdrawal with the
exit of Phones 4u As a result our market share improved, in
particular in the higher value post-pay segments The Group
1s positioned to improve this further, as the only nationwide
independent channel with rmulb-year contracts with all the
major MNQs

Maobile telephony has evolved rapidly, from simple mobile
devices to sophisticated hardware with advanced computing
functionalty There 1s a wide choice of operating platforms and
network options for customers, which makes the Group's
expert and impartial proposttion particularty relevant

MNOs across Western Europe have been investing
significantly in the development of thetr 4G network
infrastructures 4G technology facilitates much faster
downloads, providing comparable levels of performance to
many Wi-Fi networks, and providing a much better platform for
streaming than 3G MNOs have seen significantly increased
levels of data usage, a trend which we see continuing as
network quality improves, and more and more devices become
capable of communicating with one another MNQOs will
continue to roll out ther 4G networks, with nationwide
coverage expected in the UK by the end of 2015

To benefit from 4G services, customers need 4G-enabled
devices and as 4G network coverage improves in Westem
Europe, there 1s an incentive for customers to upgrade therr
services, providing a stimulus to the replacement cycle as
penetration of 4G devices and tariffs ncrease After several
years of downward pressure on ARPU, increased data usage
provides an exciting opportunity for MNOs

The intemet plays an important part of customers' purchasing
Jjoumey for mobile The majonty of customers research online
before making a purchase Online sales continue to grow as a
proportion of sales and represent between 5% and 20% of
total retall sales for the Group's markets Customers continue
to value the advice avallable within stores, on the many
choices open to them

The efectncal retall market can be split between speciafist
electncal retailers, such as Dixons Carphone, and general
retaters which sell certain electncal goods as part of a wider
offenng The market can also be broken down into two distinct
distnbution channels ‘assisted' and ‘unassisted’ In the
assisted channel, specialist retallers, such as Dixons
Carphone, help customers through the buying process in the
form of product advice, add-on services, delivery and
installation The unassisted channel, which includes single
channel internet retailers as well as general retailers, tends not
to offer all of these services

Specialist electncal retalers are the predominant destination
for customers in the European consumer electncal market
Buying groups, general merchants and independents also have
a retail presence through stores and / or online The market s
served by a relatively small number of global manufacturers
supplying goods to local, regional, national and international
electncal retalers

We have seen some significant shifts in capacity in many of
our markets in recent years with some mass merchandisers
reducing space for electncal products, some single channel
internet operators de-emphasising certain segments, as well
as some specialists exiing the market These shifts have
helped us to gain market share and it underpins our wiew that
a strong service led multi-channe! eperation satisfies both
customer and supplier needs while delivering a sustainable
business as customer shopping habits continue to evolve We
believe further consolidation will occur in some of our markets

The intemet has established itself as a fundamental part of the
retall landscape It brings enhanced product information as
welt as price comparability It1s becoming an important part of
the buying process for customers, particularly for large ticket
discretonary products Larger retailers, with an integrated
multi-channel ‘bneks and clicks’ offer, with scalable distnbution
and systems, together with proven after sales service and
support are increasingly attractive to customers Qur
colleci@store service, where customers can order on the
internet and collect from a convenient store at a time to suit
them, and our pay&collect service, where customers can
access a wider range of products than is typically avalable in
their local store for ether home delivery or later collection from
the store, are both proving to be increasingly popular

The UK and Nordic markets have high broadband penetration
and a matunng cnline sales platform The increase in online
penetration provides us with the opportunity to increase both
the range of goods on offer and the availability of product
information Qur mult-channel approach 1s well placed to
exploit synergies between our ntemet sites and stores

Innovation brngs new products with improved functionalty
that dnve sales growth These include 4K Ultra High Definition
and Smart TVs, wearable technology, tablets as well as
converging products that combine the flexibility of a tablet with
a keyboard Content, such as social media, apps, digital media
and cloud computing, also help to drive hardware innovation
and replacernent Product sales are dnven by structural shifts,
such as analogue to digital and standard format through to
Ultra HD television In addition, innovation drives new service
requirements, including TV installation, data backup, computer
set up and instructional Showhow teach-ins In this
increasingly complex world we believe our assisted sales
model 15 best placed to help customers navigate the market
and to help them choose a complete solution that best meets
their needs

Dixons Carphone plc Annual Report and Accounts 2014/15 7
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Our markets

Electncal products, and in particular *brown goods', are
predommantly discretionary purchases However, increasing
penetration of digital technology in the home dnves faster
replacement cycles as these products become less
discretionary The economc backdrop also determines
whether customers trade up or down Accordingly, the
electncal market tends to grow at a rate which 1s at or
exceeding the economy dunng years of economic growth
While the opposite can be true dunng a downturn, this may
be influenced by new innovation and products

The rapid innovation cycle may lead to price deflation in *brown
goods' and computing, but also dnve volume as products
become more affordable and replacement cycles accelerate
For larger ticket items, the low frequency of purchases imis
the impact of pnce deflation on total market sales as
consumers typically trade up to higher specification products
Our "Customer Jouneys' are designed to explain the features
and benefits of the latest technology to customers and help
them understand the reasons for trading up to these newer
technologles

The sale of "white goods’ 1s underpinned by the replacement
cycle Due to higher costs of reparr, it often makes better
economic sense for consumers to replace ‘white goods’
outright rather than to amange for their repair The sale of ‘white
goods' 1s also dniven by the dynamics of the housing market
as new construction, house sales and refurbishment trigger
new purchases

We are one of the largest specialist electrical retailing and
services companies in Europe with leading market shares in
the UK, Ireland, the Nordic region and Greece We benefit from
long established and widely recognised brands In each of our
markets there are varying numbers of specialist retailers who
compete In the assisted market While we do compete against
general retailers, this 1s usually kmited to certain lower pnce
categones as these retallers do not offer the full range of
products, assisted sale or the other services we are able

to provide

Technology and the digitised world increasingly embed
themselves into our customers’ Iives through social medsa,
online garming, watching movies on the move, shanng pictures
with others, backing up files in the cloud or controlling energy
efficiency The latest technology allows our customers to do

all this and more with tablets, Smart TVs and apps The
ecosystems behind the current digital revolution are smplifying
our customers’ Ives Customers come to us not just for the
enabling technology, but to find a solution

Developments in mobile broadband technelogy will continue to
transform lives and cument industry developments suggest that
everyday objects will ncreasingly be connected to the intemet,
in an ‘Intemet of Things' The ‘Intemet of Things' means that
people can manage home secunty or heating, or domestic
electronics through their smartphones This phenomenon will
not only dnve mobile data growth, but also machtne-te-
machine data growth With smartphones at the heart of this
evolution we believe that the Group 1s well placed

Selling connected devices requires a range of experence and
processes that many retallers find impossible to emulate It can
be an expensve, complicated and difficult process The Group
combines the connectivity and product expertise of the two
former businesses at a crucial stepping-stone in the
developrnent of the ‘Intemet of Things'

Connected World Services aims to leverage the specialist
skills, operating processes and technology of the business to
provide services 1o third parties looking to develop thewr own
connected world solutons CWS already provides managed
senvices to a number of businesses and 15 actively explonng
further opportunities Connected retarling has become one of
the five areas of expertise, along with services and support,
technology platform, product soluticns and MVNO

8 Dixons Carphons plc Annual Report and Accounts 2014/15




CWS 1s active In five different areas summansed as follows

Surte of services

Why so comphcated?

Example services

Existing clients

Connected  Multi-channel » MNO and suppler + Sales processes and Samsung
Retailing consultancy and support relationships proposition design  Spnnt
for connected product
and service propasitions, Complex, propositions Store format design
ranging from specific » Exposure to fraud + Employee bluepnint
ms:sgﬁ?os?url\;lfee; | - Complex remuneration and reward model
9 structures + Customer fulfilment
partnerships and loyaty
+ Need for highly traned ¥
consultants
Services and  Prowvision of insurance * Regulation * Inswrance and clam BT
Support services, including policy Exposure to fraud management RBS
administration, clams + Trade-ms TalkTalk
Partner Aviva 2@Minustration and + Repairs manufacturer
fulfiiment, and provision accreditation - Reparrs
of techmical support
soluhions for connected Delivery
devices + Remote technical
support
Technology Provision of technology » Capital intensive in imhial + honeyBee assisted
Piatform platforms and managed stages sales tool
services Lo support » Requires interfaces to * Actwation services
Partner complex transactions, networks
Accenture connections to service + Web solutions
providers and customer - Tracking senalised stock Data secunty sute
relationship management Credit checkin
9 = Customer
relationship
management
Product Leverages Dixons + Scale s key to buying + Commercial TalkTalk
solutions Carphone's scale and power relationships The Good Guys
commercial relatronships, | .
enabling partner retailers ggaztessupply of popular Scale advantages
to source hardware * Purchasing benefits
+ Rapid product cycles
MVNO Leverage Dixons = Significant upfront = Virtual mobile
Carphone's expertise In investment in platform network provision

MVNO butlds to
aggregate services via
white fabet

Dixons Carphone plc Annual Report and Accounts 2014/15

9

Strategic report




Strategic report

Strategy and business model

The Merger of Carphaone and Dixons brought two market
leading businesses together with an unnvalled offer for the
new connected world, as mobile, electncals and connectity
increasingly integrate The Grroup now has a unique
independent position in the UK for mobile telephones, offenng
impartial and personal service via the pioneenng tablet based
assisted sales tool Pin Pomt

Furthermore, as evidenced by recent announcements in
Germany, the Netherlands and Portugal, we contnue to be
relentless in managing our business portfolio, focusing on
temtones in which we are the market leader and growing
market share

Thus enabtes us to drive the Group forward from a position

of strength with a focus on four strategic pnonties By focusing
on these we can deliver not only a better bustness for our
customers and colleagues, but also better returns for
shareholders

The strategic pnonties are

1 Continue to enhance and dnve successful
and sustainable retail business models ina
mutti-channel world;

2 Complete the integration process and achieve
our synergy targets,

3. Leverage our scale, our knowhow, and our umque
asset base to dnve growth in new product areas
including growth in services, and

4. Continue to develop the Connected World
Services model and establish it as a matenal
contnbutor to eamings

Looking at each of these in tum

1 Continue to enhance and dnve successful
and sustainable retail business modelsina
mutti-channel world

The way in which customers shop continues to evolve

Our customers tell us that they want advice, to expenence
products and services and to ensure they are making the right
choices, particularly as these are often major purchases and, in
the case of ‘white’ and ‘brown goods’, that the custormer will
own for several years The intemet empowers customers with
greater access to information including product knowledge
and price transparency In mobile, we are umguely positioned
in the UK to provide independent advice, meeting customer
requirements for impartiality, comparability and flexibility, both
online and n-store with the Pin Point tool In consumer
electronics, single channel internet operators have a different
model whose pnincipal advantage 1s structurally lower costs
and which have histoncally been able to offer competitive
prices versus store based operators By focusing on those
aspects that we, as a multi-channel specialist, can offer
custorners and suppliers we can eiminate the cost advantage
that pure play intemet operators have histoncally enjoyed As
a result we are able to offer customers very competitive pnces
aganst our competitor set and stilf be more profitable

There are four distinct activibies that we believe are the key
strengths of our multi-channel, service-based model and which
will support our competitive advantage going forward

1 Work closely with suppliers to hamess benefits availlable
to our business mode! Suppliers want to ensure that
customers not only choose their brands, but also
expenence the benefits of the latest products As a
muth-channel operator we work with our suppliers to
ensure we can explain the benefits of these products and
demonstrate them to customers in our stores and our
suppliers support us In this work in a vanety of ways

1 Focus on complete solutions for customers The Pin Point
tool enables the personalisation of the mobile customer
expenence Using tablets in store, we ask customers a few
simple questions to help them find the nght deal The tool
will wdentify the preferred network via its coverage checker,
handset and operating system, check bundle options
including data requirements and ensure this 1s future
proofed In consumer electronics, customers buy products
in order to achieve something, such as washing clothes, or
entertaining the children Thus does not just mean buying
the hardware, but increasingly includes delivery,
explanation and peace of mind through product support
and after sales services, as well as accessones and
eventually, recycling The conversations our colleagues
have in store with customers gives us an opportunity to
explan the benefits of these solutions and sell more of
them than our single-channel competition

m  Dnve our service proposihion We need to be able to stand
shoulder to shoulder with our customers and for them to
know they can come to our stores and get knowledgeable
adwvice and great service to help them buy the nght
product They need to be confident that we will solve therr
problem quickly and efficiently Geek Squad and
KNOWHOW in the UK offer customers services and
technical support that can help them with thew product
throughout its ifetirme

v Reduce costs The scale of our operations across stores,
ranges, logistics, distnbution, repairs and services means
that we can continually improve processes to reduce
costs We have removed a considerable amount of cost
from the business over the last few years by making the
business simpler, easier to operate and more efficient and
we remain relentlessly focused on managing costs to make
our business more efficient
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2. Complete the integration process and achieve
our synergy targets

At our intenm results we were pleased to announce that our
synergies plan was firmfy on track We confirmed the total
figure of £80 million and that this would be acheved a year
earlier than anticipated in 2016/17

We are acutely aware that the bulk of the synergies are to be
realised over the course of the coming two years Whilst we
have made fantastic progress, including our head office
integrations in the Group / UK, lreland and Sweden as well as
the raliout of the SWAS programme we continue to implement
our plans to achieve our synergy targets

3 Leverage our scale, our knowhow, and our unique
infrastructure to drive growth in new product areas
including growth in services

The Merger allows us to expand and strengthen our
proposition to customers, our service capability and our
relationship with suppliers to underpin and drnive even greater
advantage i the markets in which we operate

The Group has many best practices in each of its business
divisions and we are shanng them across the Group, such as
the co-branded Elgiganten / Phone House stores in Sweden,
new store formats, use of Pin Point, supplier relationships and,
to a hmited degree, own brands

Growing complexity and interconnectivity of praducts means
that customers are increasingly demanding help and support,
not just In choosing the nght product, but also installation,
connection, support and repair Our Geek Squad and
KNOWHOW services are at the forefront of this in the UK and
we have started to roll out our KNOWHOW services across the
Nordics

We must continue to innovate new services to help customers
and to remain relevant to the way products and connectivity 1s
evotving Behind our end-to-end service operation we have a
comprehensive infrastructure, including technical phone
suppont, delivery, installation, repar and recycling We can
leverage this infrastructure to widen our customer base either
to customers who bought their products through a third party
{for exarnple, our fault&fix computer service), or for business
customers By doing this we can increase the efficiency of
using this mifrastructure and deliver even better value services
to our customers

4, Continue to develop the Connected Wortd
Services model and estabhsh it as a matenal
contnbutor to eamings

We can leverage the specialist skills, operating processes,
technology and infrastructure of the enhanced group to
provide services to third parties to support their connected
world solutions

The consumer electronics and mobiie phone retall landscapes
have evolved significantly over the last few years In particular,
the growth of smartphones, tablets and the speed of intemet
access both in and cut of the home, together with an
increasing number of connected devices, are altenng the way
people live therr hives, communicate and use technelogy This
apphes to a number of market segments, including health,
secunity, content and home management Linked to this
market development will be a need for a raft of new services
that will ensure that these technologies work
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Strategy and business model

Business model

Our business model, driven by customer insight, compnses
three pillars underpmned by a low cost operating mode!

{in order to ensure we understand what products and services
our customners want, how they use the products they buy from
us and what they think of the service they get from us, we use
extensive customer nsight This includes discussions at
custormer panels, mterviews, home visits and detaled surveys
We use this information to build our ranges, improve our stores
and services and for other business decisions This s
supported by mystery shoppers, exit surveys and customer
feedback Dunng the year our UK and Nordics businesses
rmade considerable progress in customer satisfaction metncs
as we continue to improve the business

Taking each of the three pillars in tum, our model can be
descnbed as follows

Mufti-channe!
The shopping tnp for customers 1s constantly evolving

Our objective is to provide our customers with a seamless
and perscnalised experience where convenience, ease of
navigation and simplicity are key in attracting customers to
shop with us whether it 15 online, in-store or a combination
of both

We constantly am to develop and improve our customer
Journey whether via our assisted sales tool Pin Peint or by
improving stores, making them easier to shop in, with for
example, mproved nawigation, better signage, enabling
customers to interact with products before they buy, as well
as good advice on features and benefits from our colleagues
Our websites are an integral part of the customer shopping
joumey  In recognmition of how customer trends are evolving we
have made it easter for our colleagues, in particular within our
CunysPCWorld stores, to access products and extended
ranges in store

Our training programmes combined with our product learming
centres and customer joumeys provide our colleagues with the
nght tools to understand customers’ needs and to provide
them wath the complete solution to properly meet those needs
We will continue to improve the training of our colleagues and
the ways in which we can make them experts in the products
we sell For example they have recently undertaken a new
training programme focusing on selling multi-play

Products

Combining our customer insight with our market strength we
can make sure we have the nght range of products and
services 1n our stores to suit customers’ needs Qur scale and
refationships with suppliers means that we can work with them
to showcase the latest technology, connectvity and products
in our stores with areas dedicated to key suppliers

In consumer alectronics, own-brand products enable us to
offer customers greater choice and access to a range of
products at competiive pnces We have defined a clear
‘good, better, best’ brand range including Currys and PC
World Essentials, Logik, Wantit, Advent, Goyi, and Sandstrem
brands We see particular opportunities in the area of
accessones and essenbals with, for example, our own range
of Sandstrem cables

After sales services and support

Qur custorners need help with therr products, whether it be
dehvery and installation, help keeping therr products up and
running or reparir should things go wrong Our business in the
UK & freland sets the benchmark for our services infrastructure
under our Geek Squad and KNOWHOW brands, the latter of
which 1s also avallable across the Nordics

We operate the largest network of two-man delivenes in the
UK with an average of 50,000 delivenes per week enabling us
to provide customers with the convenience of next day delivery
in a four hour time slot or the ophion of a free delivery at a later
date We repar more than 1 million handsets per year and
provide over 11 miilion insurance or service agreements, carry
out approximately 500,000 computing set-ups per year and
take 125,000 technical support calls each week

Our Geek Squad and KNOWHOW teams in stores, m our call
centres as well as field technicians, can prowvide set-up and
upgrade services and online fix and back up services Qur
market leading range of help and support services ensure a
customer has the backing of expertise and support that keeps
their technology up and running Our state of the art repair
facihity in Newark 1s abie to repair and retumn a laptop in seven
days Our network of field technicians offer ‘white goods’
repair in a market we estimate to be worth around £500 million
a year

Through ownership of the service infrastructure we can ensure
the quality of service delivered to customers This, we believe,
provides us with a significant competitive advantage in
meeting the needs of our customers, as well as a revenue
stream not readily available to single channel online and mass
market competitors
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Our resources

+ Customers

+ People

+ Supplers

= Distnbution and logistics
+ Store portfolio

* Intellectual property

» Energy

» Cash and capital
Customers

We are dnven to provide unparalleled expertise and services to
help customers and busmnesses navigate the new digital era
and one of our key values 1s we put the customer first, always

To deliver on this value and to ensure we continue to respond
to customers’ needs, we must listen and respond effectively
to them We have comprehensive customer research
programmes spanning a vanety of {ools including exit surveys,
mystery shoppers and focus groups as well as effective data
gathenng through, for example, our ‘Happy or Not' tools
launched in our Elkjep business and now introduced to
CurrysPCWorld Within our Carphone Warehouse stores,

our Each and Every Customer Counts programme and Net
Promoter Scores (NPS) are integral to our intemal reward
systern We are pleased that customer satisfaction scores
across the business are at record levels

Through this research, managed intemally and reviewed daily,
weekly and monthly, we have developed a clear and detailed
understanding of what we are doing well and more importantly
of where we can target further improvements Customers tell
us that they need us to deliver a strong combination of “Value,
Choice and Service’ across all our shopping channels and it is
clear fromn thewr feedback that more and mare, they recognise
that we are doing this We will continue to deliver easier, more
exciting places to shop for customers whether that be in store,
online or a multi-channel combination of both

Listening to customers extends into how we approach the
sales process in store Our unique training programmes
combined with our customer journeys, including Pin Pont,
are designed to ensure customers leave our stores witha
complete solution that i1s nght for them Dong this s a key
part of our ongoing strategy and delivery of a sustainable
business model, as well as enabling us to differentiate our
offer from competitors

By mamntaining our absolute focus on the customer and
delivenng what they want in a retail environment that is
constantly evolving, we will continue to attract new
customers and retain existing ones

People

Dixons Carphone 1s an organrsation spanning Europe, with
over 40,000 colleagues in over 2,300 stores, offices, call
centres and distnbution centres and one of our key prionties
following the Merger has been to build one cutture, one vision
and one future

To support this we have launched our company values

* We put the customer first, always

+ We stand together as one

* We act bravely, challenge convention and do the nght thing
« We know everyone can make a difference

* We believe anything 1s possible

This supports a ‘culture of discovery’ and faces head on the
changing environment in which we operate and supports us in
cultivating a high performance environment where each
employee performs to the best of their ability, working together
to achieve to therr fullest potential Our people are key to our
success and it 1s essential that colleagues are innovative and
creative, customer-focused and great at building relationships

We are focused on improving every possible aspect of the
shopping jourmney, we want our colleagues to becorne famous
for service and retain customers for life by having exciting
new stores, the best range at great pnees and untanging

the shopping tnp We are making good progress, however,
we must never be satisfied and we can and must make
further improvements to delight customers and to outpace
the competition

We are focusing on building a career development framework
that rewards customer centnc behaviour and nstils a sense of
pnde in our colleagues We now prowvide tailor-made
development programmes and support further education
qualficatons for our colleagues throughout the business

Our development programmes use modules, training
workshops and a dedicated e-leaming intranet service that
helps prowide the skils colleagues need to succeed at every
fevel and career stage We are also launching a dedicated
franing academy later iy the year

We use our sophisticated tracking and measunng processes,
including regular mystery shops and exit surveys, to measure
indmdual and store performance, and to ensure we reward
appropnate behaviours We also use a balanced scorecard
approach, based on the belief that engaged teams deliver
great service, which, in tum, delivers results for the business
We measure the people element of our scorecard using a
colleague engagement survey, which runs twice a year

Ouning the year we launched the first Dixons Carphone
Sharesave scheme giving employees the chance to own
a part of the Company and share in its success

Suppliers

With our market-leading positions, growing reputatien and
being increasingly seen as the ‘go to’ location for all the latest
technology, our relahonship with suppliers becomes ever more
important as well as ever stronger Product sourcing offices
continually monitor current and future product cycles with
existing and potential suppliers

In a complex mutti-channel environment, suppliers trust us
with their new product releases and stock allocations, as they
appreciate the supenor service and advice offered by our
stores and indeed our websites, as well as the exciting
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Our resources

environments offered by our transformed stores in which
customers can expenence ther brands and products

We work closely with supphers of all sizes to help them deliver
the nght product for customers, through the forecasting and
planning stages to ensure we deliver the nght levels of stock
for customers at the nght tme Both the mobule and electneal
industnes are charactensed by a number of targe global
manufacturers, who account for a large proportion of our sales
However, we also source products from a large number of
smaller suppliers We seek to mantain strong relabonships
with all of these supphers, not just to source the nght product
for customers, but also to ensure the Group can purchase

the appropnate level of stock on favourable terms While we
utilise the Group's scale and buying power through an
international buying team, we also mamntan strong
relatonships at a local level

We continue to refine our own-brand ranges to suit all budgets
and tastes Our most notable successes have been the launch
of our own Sandstromn cables brand alongside our Essentials
ranges as key entry lavel products in our ‘good, better, best'
line-up These products are sourced by the Group’s teams
based in the UK and Hong Kong in collaboration with
manufacturers in, for example, Asia

Distnbution and logistics

The Group sees distnbution as one of the keys to success In
maintaining highty competitive margins and delivering
outstanding, market beating service to customers We operate
a centrahsed systemn of distnbution centres for each of the
regions in which we operate This delivers significant
competitive advantages, including reduced operating costs,
reduced supplier delvery costs, reduced stock volumes in
store, increased flexibility as to where to deliver and when,
and a more efficient home delivery network for both us and
our customers

While continuing to reduce costs, we are also constantly
raising the bar, both in terms of successful detivery and
instaflation rates, but also the range and quality of serices
we offer customers nationwide In our Nordic operations
{Jonkoping, Sweden} and the UK (Newark), we operate two of
the largest distnbution centres of their kind in Europe In the
UK alone we now make 50,000 delivenes per week, including
some 500,000 installations per year

Store portfolio

We operate a wide vanety of stores to suit the local customer
demographics We operate many high street locations, smalll,
very popular outlets in arrport locations and ‘megastores’ up to
60,000 sq ft, In out-of-town locations

We constantly review our store portfolio to ensure we have
the nght store for customers in the most competitive locations
As part of this ongoing review and following the rollout of
Carphong Warehouse SWAS, in the UK & lreland we are
cumently trialling 3-1n-1 stores to help determine the end state
property portfolio Separately we also continue to transition
Cunrys and PC World stores to a 2-in-1 format in the UK &
Ireland These stores allow us to offer the best of both worlds
to customers, attracting new footfall and often at a lower cost

In the Nordic region as well as Greece and Span we also \
operate a number of franchise stores This amangement allows

our brands to be present in 8 wider range of catchments, while

increasing the volume of purchases and therefore buying

pawer of the Group

Intellectual property

Withtn our Connected World Services division we have
developed our pioneenng multi-channe! assisted sales tool
Pin Paint powered by honeyBee We are also utilising our
ntellectual property to assist third parties, such as Samsung
and now Spnnt, in connected retailing

In the UK & lreland we operate through Carphone Warehouse,
Currys and PC World brands, in the Nordics through its
varnous Elkyep and Phone House brands and in Greece
through Kotsovolos and in Spain through Phone House
These brands are extremely well-established and respected

in their markets The Group also has two strong service
businesses, KNOWHOW and Geek Squad, aming to dehght I
customers frorm end to end while generating significant new |
business opportunities

As well as our retall and service brands outhned above, we also
sell a range of own brand products such as Sandstrem, Gop,
Logik, Essentials and Advent Each of these brands have
specific target markets defined in conjunction with our
customer research findings

Energy

Saving energy 1s good for the business, good for customers
and of course good for the environment We take energy
efficiency extremely senously and whilst we have already made
progress in a number of areas, we are investing in a wider
range of initiatives to significantly reduce our consumption
going forward These include Vanable Speed drives to ophimise
the efficiency of in-store heating, ventilation and ar
condiboning systems and new efficient flugrescent ighting mn

a number of stores Effictent LED lighting has been tnalled in
back of house areas which we intend to roll out to further
stores and the 65,000 sq ft Customer Call Centre in Sheffield
has been upgraded to LED ighting throughout

Cash and capral

It remains the Group's policy to mantan a strong capital base
50 as to mantan investor, creditor and market confidence and
to sustain the future developrment of the business Through
careful working capital and balance sheet management, a
focus on cost reduction as well as efficient use of capital,
management 1s focused on ensunng we deliver a sustainable
business with strong cash generatron

As a Group we need to make the nght choices as to how each
division utihses or preserves cash, whether it be n determining
ranges and stock held in store, growing mobile share with
accompanying working capital utibisation or managing retums
and related processes
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Key performance indicators

Financial and operational

Stratogic roport

Definition Performance 1
Total Growth n tota! Headline sales The ability to grow sales 1s an important 2014/15 201314
Headline measure of a brand’s appeal to custormers and its competitive position £9,936m £9.752m
sales* !
Like-for- Like-for-Iike sales are calculated based on Headline store and internet 2014/15 2013/141
like sales sales using constant exchange rates New stores are included where they 6% 49
have been open for a full financial year both at the beginning and end of
the financial penod Sales from franchise stores are excluded and closed
stores are excluded for any penod of closure dunng either penod
Customer support agreement, insurance and wholesale revenues along
with revenue from Connected World Services and other non-retail
businesses are excluded from like-for-like calculations Revenue from
Carphone Warehouse SWAS are included in like-for-like
Market In line with the Group's strategy to be the leading specialist electncal and ~ Market leading
position mobule retailer in Europe, this 1s an important measure of how well positions in
customers are being engaged by the Group's brands in each market UK & Ireland
Retailing operations should be, or be capable of becoming, the number Nordics |
one or number two specialist electncal retaller in their market, measured |
by market share Greace |
Headline Continued growth of Headline EBIT enables the Group to invest inits 2014/15 2013/141 ‘
EBIT* future and provide a return for shareholders Targets are sel refative to £414m £359m ‘
expected market performance
Headline Continued growth of Headline profit before tax represents a measure of 2014/15 2013/14
profit before  Group performance to external investors and shareholders Targets are £381m £316m
tax* set relative to expected market performance
Free Cash The Group defines Free Cash Flow as net cash generated from 2014/15 2013/14t
Flow* operations, less net finance costs, taxation and net capital expenditure £(112)m £280m
and excluding certain discrete tems such as special pension
contributions The management of cash usage, 1n particular working
capital employed in the business, optimises resources available for the
Group to Invest in its future growth and to generate shareholder value
Return on The Group calculates ROCE on a pre-tax and lease adjusted basis The 2014/15 2013/14"
Capital return 1s based on Headline EBIT, adjusted to add back the estimated 20% N/A
Employed interest component assoctated with capitalising operating lease costs
{ROCE) Capital employed 1s based on net assets Including capitalised leases, but
excluding goodwill, cash, tax and the defined benefit pension obligations
The calculation 1s performed on a moving annual total in order to best
match the return on assets in a year with the assets in use during the
year to generate the return
Shareholder
Definition Performance
Headline basic The level of growth in EPS provides a suitable measure of the financial 2014/15 2013/141
earnings per  health of the Group and its ability to deliver retumns to shareholders 25 5p 20 5p
share* (EPS) each year The Group targets growth in EPS commensurate with growth
In earnings
Total This metric provides a relative performance measure over the longer term 3 Y#2r Compound Anmual Growth
shareholder  of the Group’s ability to deliver returns for shareholders The Group Dixons Carphone plc 44%
retum (TSR)  previously used the FTSE 250 index but in 2015 changed to measure FYSE 350 Index 129,

itself aganst the FTSE 350 index reflecting the Group’s increased
market caprtalisation

Headline performance measures are as defined in the Performance Review These have been reported on a pro forma basis as if the CPW
Europe Acquisition and the Merger had occurred at the start of the comparative penod

1t Headline figures for the year ended 2% March 2014 have been re-presented to exclude the results of discontinued operations

Dixons Carphone ple Annual Report and Accounts 2014/15 15




Strategic mport

Principal risks to achieving the Group’s objectives

The Group recognises that taking nsks 1s an inherent part of doing business and that competitive advantage can be gained
through effectively managing nsk The Group continues to develop robust nsk management processes, integrating risk
management into business decision making Risks have evolved for the Group as a result of the Merger A comprehensive post
Merger nsk assessment has been undertaken resultmg in a revised set of principal nsks The principal nisks and uncertanties,
together with their potential impacts, are set out in the tables below along with an illustration of what 1s being done to mitigate
them The Group's overall nsk environment 1s refatively unchanged since last year, notwithstanding changes to specific nsks

Specific nsks and potential impacts

Principal nsk Specific nsks Potential impacts

1 Dependence on + The Group Is dependent on relationships with key suppliers - Reduced ravenue and profitatiity
networks and key 1 t h
supphers 0 source products on which availability may be imited + Detencrating cash flow

Changes in Mobile Network Operator (MNO) strategies in
refation to the Group, or more generally, and / or their performance,
could rmatenally affect the revenues and profits of the business

» Reduced market share

2 Consumer environment -
and sustainable
business model

Failure to respond with a business model that enables the
business to compete aganst a broad range of competitors on
service, price and / or range w1 a changing economy

Failure to respond effectively to changes in the industry,
economic and / or competitor landscape

Failure to accommodate changes in consumer preferences
and behaviours

Some markets may not have the scale required to compete
effectively against increased competition, although we are
exting from some of these

Reduced revenue and profitability
Detenorating cash flow

Reduced market share

Loss of competitive advantage

3 Greek Exi from .
the Euro

Possible exit of Greace from the Euro could lead to a detenoration
In consurner confidence and disposable mcome resulting in a
signficant impact on our Greek business, Kotsovolos

Reduced revenue and profitability

Detenorating cash flow

4 1T systems and

Fallure to invest adequately and appropnatety in IT systems and

Reduced revenue and profitability

infrastructure infrastructure, ar an inability to effectively integrate 1T assats . Detenorat sh flow
across the Group constrans the Group’s ability to grow and / or norating ca
adapt quickly + Loss of competitve advantage
* A key system becomes unavadable for a penod of tme * Restncted growth and adaptabilty
+ Reputational damage
5 Information secunty = Major loss / breach of customer, colleague, or business * Reputational damage

sensitive data

Vulnerability to attack, matware, and associated cyber nsks
owing to under investment in people, systems, and
safequarding processes

Financial penalties

Reduced revenue and profitability
Detenorating cash flow

Loss of compettve advantage
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Example mriigating actions and related strategic pnontes

Principal nsk

Example mitigating actions

Related strategc pnonties

1 Dependence on
networks and key
supphers

New mutt-year commercial agreements with all the major MNOs
have been agreed this year, which closely align mnterests and
dnves value for both of us

Continuing 1o leverage the scale of operations to strengthen
relationships with key suppliers and mantain a good supply
of scarce products

Sustanable retal business model m a
mulh-channal word

2 Consumer environment
and sustainable
business mode!

Strategic and business planning takes into account varying
economic scenanos, with ongoing monitoning by finance and
senior executives

Close scrutiny of product performance, trading results,
competitor actmty and market share

Use of customer insight / advocacy to monitor success of
inttiative and actions

Continued focus on dnving cost iImprovements through both
merger synergy and “business as usual” cost-efficiency intiatives

Ongoing evolution of our multi-channel proposition

Diferentiation from competitors through strategic partner
relationships, nnovative propositions, and high qualty
customer service

Working to leverage expertise and scale to buld partnerships with
other retalers and businesses through Connected World Services

Sustainable retal business model In a
mutti-channe! world

3 Greek Exit from
the Euro

A number of exit scenancs have been modelled in order
to understand and mitigate the potential impact on the
Group's business

Review of local funding arrangements including factornng of
debtor raceivables

Sustainable retal business rodel in a
multi-channel world

4 IT systems and
infrastructure

Significant investment being macde in IT systems and infrastructure,
supported by ngorous tasting processes

indmdual system recovery plans in place in the event of failure
which are tested regularty, with full recovery infrastructure available
for cntical systems

Long term partnerships with *ter 1 apphication and infrastructure
providers

Leverage scale, knowhow and unique
asset base 10 drive growth

§ Information secunty

Investrment i nformation secunty safeguards, monitonng, in-house
experlise and resources

Committee compnsing senior management responsible for
oversight, co-ordination and monitonng of information secunty
policy and nsk

Ongoing traring and awareness programmes for employees

Sustainable retall business mode! In a
multi-channel wortd
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Principal risks to achieving the Group’s objectives

Specific nsks and potential impacts

Pnncipal risk

Specific nsks

Potential inpacts

6 FCA Regulation

= Failure to manage the business of the Group in comphance with
Financral Conduct Authonty (FCA) regulation to which the Group
15 subject in a number of areas including the mobile insurance
operations of The Carphone Warehouse Lirruted

-

Reputational damage

Financial penalties

Reduced revenues and profitability
Detencrating cash flow

Customer compensation

7 Colleague retention
and capability

= The organisational structure and related accountabsities
restnct the abiity 10 run the business effectively and adapt
to market change

= Faiure to attract, develop and retain qualty and depth of
necessary isadership end management talent

Reputational damage

Reduced revenue and profitability
Detenorating cash flow

Loss of competitive advantage

8 Business continuity
plans are not effective
and major incident
response 1S inadequate

« A major incident impacts the Group’s ability to trade and business
continusty plans are not effective resulting in an inadequate incident

response

+

Reduced revenue and profitabiity

+ Detenorating cash flow

Reputational damage

Loss of competitive advantage

9 Health and Safety

« Failure to effectively protect customers and / or colleagues from
njury or loss of kfe

Employee / customer injury or loss of Iife
Reputational damage

Financial penalties
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Example mitigating actions and related strategic pnorhies

Principal ngk

Example mitigating actions Related strategic pnornties

& FCA Regulaton

Semor managemen? perform oversight, co-ordination and monitonng «  Sustanable retal business modet In a
of governance, ensunng regulatory compliance and adherence to mulb-channel world
policy and monitonng of mitigating actions

Internal commuttees and control structures t0 manage requirements,
to ensure appropnate comphance (e g undertaking quality assurance
procedures for samples of mobide phone sales) and to react swiftly
should issues anse

Actve monitonng of changes in legislation / regulation

7 Colleague retention
and capability

Ongoing review to ensure appropnate and effective roles, » Sustainable retal business model in a
responsibilities, and accountabiities mult-channet world

Defined and standardised performance management frameworks
In place, with talent and succession plans mantained and reward
ahgned to attract and retain the best talent

Store structures which provide a clear career path for colleagues,
retaining and developing the best retail talent

Bonus plans which include components relating to both business
and personal performance

Continued improvements in the qualty of training courses
and development programmes with specialist focus on core
business areas

8 Business continuity
plans are not effective
and major incident
response 1 nadequate

Business continunty and ¢nsis management plans in place and * Sustainable retal business model in a
tested for key business iocations multi-channel world

Disaster recovery plans in place and tested for key IT systems
and data centres

Cnisis feam appointed to manage response to significant events

Major nsks insured

9 Health and Safety

Dedicated team responsible for ensunng health and safety nsks « Sustanable retal business modelin a
are understood, controlled and momlored aganst applicable mutti-channel world
regulations, who report on a regular basis to sersor management

Clear policies and procedures are In place detaiing the controls
required to manage health and safety nsks across the business

Quality checks and factory audits for own-brand products
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Performance review

Highlights. 13 months to 2 May 2015

+ Group hke-for-ike revenue™ up 6% (UK & Ireland up 8% and Nordics up 4%)

» Strong profit performance
— Group pro forma Headline PBT™ of £381 million {2013/14 £316 million), up 21%
- Group pro forma Headline basic EPSM® 25 5p (2013/14 20 5p)

— Total statutory profit of £97 mullion (2013714 £48 milion) after Non-Headline™ charges of £188 milon (2013/14 £55 million}
which mclude a loss from discontinued operations of £114 multion (2013/14 £10 mullion}

« Strong balance sheet wath year end pro forma net debt of £260 milhon®®

* Final dividend of 6 Op (2013/14 4 Op) proposed, taking total dvidends for the year to 8 5p (2013/14 6 0p), up 42%
year-on-year

» Integration progressing well, expecting to deliver at least £80 million of synergies by 2016/17, one year ahead of plan
= Disposals of non-core operations in France, Germany, the Netherlands and Portugal

Pro forma results — continuing business

Headline revenue' Headline profit / (lossp"
Local

201415 2013114 currency Like-for-ike™ 2014115 201314

Note {miltion £milhon % change % change Lmillion Lenillion

UK & Ireland @ 6,451 6,011 8% 8% 306 242

Nordics (5) 2,718 2,895 4% 4% 86 102

Southern Europe 5] 637 768 {10)% BY% 14 10

Connected World Services N 130 78 67% N/A 8 5]

Group 9,936 9,752 6% 6% 414 359
Net finance costs (33) {43)

Profit before tax 381 316
Tax (88} (80)

Profit after tax 293 236

See notes on page 21 for basis of praparation
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Basts of preparation - pro forma information

On 26 June 2013 the Carphone Warehouse Group pic acquired the 50% of CPW Europe which it did not already own from Best Buy Co Inc,
and on 6 August 2014 an all share merger of Carphone Warehouse and Dixons Retail plc (the Mergen took place The infermation in the
highlights and performance review sections refer, unless otherwise stated, to pro forma Headline™ information for continuing businesses,
reflecting the results of both Carphone Warehouse and Dixons Retail throughout both the current and comparative penods as if the CPW
Europe Acquisition and the Merger had occurred at the start of the comparative panod

The Group has changed its year end to be the Saturday closest to 30 Apri The current year end therefore compnses the 13 months to 2 May
2015 for the Carphone Warehouse business with a comparative period of the 12 months ended 28 March 2014 in line wath praviousty reported
results As such the current year includes an additional five weeks of results from the Carphone Warehouse business The prior penod results
of Carphone Warehouse have been restated to exclude the results of its retall operations in France, Germany, the Netherlands and Portugal
which are treated as discontinued operations followang the decision to exit these businesses

Pnor year comparatives for Carphone Warehouse have also been restated to reclassify the unwind of discounts for the tme value of money
on network commmussions recevable from pro forma Headline EBIT to interest, in ine wath the treatment in the current penad and with the
classification in the statutory results This item had a value of £9 million for the prior year and the reclassification has the impact of reducing
pro forma Headline EBIT

Current penod pro forma results for the Dixons Retall business compnise the 12 months ended 2 May 2015 with a comparative period of the
12 months ended 30 Apnl 2014

Notes

(1} Headline results exclude amortisation of acquisition intangibles, merger integration and transaction costs, CPW Europe Acquisition related
tems, Phone House France operating and closure costs whilst it formed part of the CPW Europe joint venture, net interest on defined
benefit pension schermes and discontinued operations (comprising Virgin Mobile France and Phone House operations in France,
Germany, the Netherlands and Portugal) Such excluded items are described as ‘Non-Headhne' For further details see notes 4 and
24 to the Group financial statements

{2} Pro forma EPS has been calculated assurming the number of shares existing at 2 May 2015, adjusted for the number of shares held by the
Group ESOT, apply from the start of the cument and comparative penods

(3} Like-for-like sales are calculated based on Headline store and internet sales using constant exchange rates New stores are included where
they have been open for a full financial year both at the beginning and end of the financial penod Sales from franchise stores are excluded
and closed stores are excluded for any percd of closure during either penod Customer support agreement, insurance and wholesale
revenues along with revenue from Connected World Services and other non-retal businesses are excluded from like-for-l:ike calculations
Revenue from Carphone Warehouse SWAS are included in like-for-like Like-for-like revenue reflects performance for the Carphone
Warehouse business for the 13 months to 2 May 2015 compared to the 13 months to 3 May 2014 and for the Dixons Retall business for
the 12 months ended 2 May 2015 compared to the 12 months ended 30 April 2014

(4) UK & Ireland comprises operations in the UK and Ireland and the Dixons Travel business

{5} Nordics compnses operations in Norway, Sweden, Finland, Denmark, and Icetand Prior 10 the announced disposals of operations in
Germany and the Netherlands which previously formed part of this segment, it was named Northem Europe

(6} Southern Europe comprises operations in Spain and Greece This now excludes the results of Portugal which are presented as
discontinued operations

(7} Connected Word Services comprises the Group's B2B operation which leverages the specialist skills, operating processes and technology
of the Group to provide managed services to third parties looking to develop therr own connacted world solutions

{8} Pro forma net debt reflects the consolidated net debt of the Group at 2 May 2015 including net funds recognised within assets held for sale
of £53 milion

Dixona Carphone ple Annual Report and Accounts 2014/15 21

Strategic report




Strategic moport

Performance review

Group

Group pro forma Headline revenue was up 2% to

£9,936 milon {2013/14 £9,752 million} and up 6% on a
local currency basis, with both including a 2% benefit due to
an extra five weeks of trading from the Carphone Warehouse
business Like-for-lke revenue growth was 6% reflecting
growth in our UK & Ireland, Nordic and Greek businesses,
partially offset by performance in the Sparnish market The
difference between the total revenue growth on a {oca!
cumrency basis (adjusted for the additional weeks from the
Carphone Warehouse business) and like-for-like 1s
predominantly due to a reduction in stores

Despite operating in a highly competitive market place, the
Group has continued to grow market share and maintan stable
gross margin across the year

Pro forma Headline EBIT was up 15% to £414 million (2013/14
£359 million) driven by the strong operating performance in
the UK & Ireland Pro forma Headline profit before tax was
£381 million (2013/14 £316 milhon) reflecting the improved
EBIT and a lower interest charge year-on-year following the
redemption of the bonds previously held by Dixons Retail in
August 2014

As a part of the Merger we camed out a thorough analysis of
the opportunities that combining the two businesses could
bring and, as prewiously communicated, our stated target ofa
minimum £80 million of synergies by 2017/18 has now been
brought forward by one year to 2016/17 Integration of the two
busmesses continues to progress well with 244 new Carphone
Warehouse SWAS now open and our head office teams
combined and operating as one We are also rationalising
down to one single head office location in each of the UK,
Ireland and Sweden and we have announced the integration
of our UK logistics and repair centres to the legacy Dixons
Retail site in Newark

UK & Ireland

The UK & Ireland had a very strong year with pro forma
revenue Up by 7% to £6,451 million (2013/14 £6,011 million)
including a 2% benefit of the addibional five weeks of trading
from the Carphone Warehouse business Like-for-like revenue
for the year was up 8% reflecting strong performances in both
electncals and mobuile and the roll-out of the Carphone
Warehouse SWAS which have delivered strong revenue
growth on existing floor space, contnbutng 1% of the hke-for-
like increase The difference between the total revenue growth
{as adjusted for the additional five weeks of trading from the
Carphone Warehouse business) and like-for-like predominantly
reflects a reduction in stores

Pro forma Headline EBIT up 26% versus last year, to
£306 million The business continued to gain market share
with strong sales dmving increased profitability

The electncals business had a very positive year supported by
record advocacy and customer net promoter scores and our
pricing being at its most competitive ever The peak penod,
whuch now stretches six weeks from ‘Black Fnday' into the
new year, was particularty strong with both small and large
white goods, as well as large screen TVs, selling very well

Our mobile business in the UK & Ireland also performed well
Postpay volumes and market share continued to grow year-
on-year, dnven by the extt of Phones 4u and some very
successful product launches During the year all the major
networks have moved the majonty of therr customers onto
4G tanffs These factors have helped dnve a better customer
expenence and have led to lugher data usage

in May 2015, the Group launched iD, a new mobile network
focused on providing users with increased contract flexibility,
greater access to free data roaming and competitively priced
4G tanffs The inhial performance of ID and the customer
response, so far, has been very promising indeed

Nordics

Nordics revenue, expressed in Sterling was affected by a
significant movement on foreign exchange rates in the region
As a result pro forrma Headhine revenue in the Nordics was
down 6% to £2,718 milhon (2013714 £2,895 million) Pro forma
Headhne revenue on a local currency basis was up 4%

Nordics pro forma Headline EBIT was £86 milon (2013/14
£102 million) reflecting a negative impact of foreign exchange
of £11 million and the investments noted below

The Nordics business has had a sound year, continuing to
consohdate and grow its position as market leader in all of the
countnes in which it operates The business has invested in
vanous areas dunng the year to strengthen its market position
further and dnve customer satisfaction which is at an all-tme
hugh in each of its countnes

The team has launchad co-branded Elgiganten Phone House
stores with very positive resufts In addrtion the ‘Epoq’ kitchen
business has provided very encouraging resutlts with strong
revenue growth, dnving market share and appliance sales

We expect that this operation will alsc provide opportunities
In smart home and integrated products

The Phone House operations in Sweden encountered tough
trading conditions dunng the year, but its integration with the
Elgiganten business has been swift, dnving synergy savings
and we expect both the businesses to benefit greatly from
the Merger
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Southern Europe

Revenue expressed in Sterling was affected by a significant
movement on foreign exchange rates in the region Pro forma
revenue on a local currency basis was down 10% including

a 3% benefit of the additiona) five weeks of trading from the
Phone House Spain business The difference between the
local cumrency revenue growth and hike-for-like predominantly
reflects the closure of stores in Spain explained below

Southem Europe pro forma Headline EBIT was £14 mifion
(2013714 £10 mullion)

The business in Greece delivered strong hke-for-hke revenue
growth dunng the year, with most categones performing well,
n particular large screen TVs The strong performance in this
market saw the business retum to profitability dunng the year
We do however remain very mindful of the uncertain economic
and potical situabon in the country and the effect this may
have on our business The tearn hava been very active In
planming for every contingency

Cur business in Span continues to operate in a tough
marketplace Although it has been negatively impacted by
these pressures, we have a strong management team in place,
which centinues to innovate and develop the business Dunng
the year we reached agreerment with Telefonica to distnbute
the products and services of Mowistar in our stores which has
been a posiive force We have also focused the business
model to a greater extent on franchise operations and reduced
our own store portfolic In total we closed a net 35 stores
dunng the year reflecting an increase of 20 franchise stores
and a reduction in own stores of 55 These activities resulted
in restructunng costs and the disposal of some non-core
assets all of which have been included within pro forma
Headline results

Connected World Services

Connected World Services {CWS} pro forma Headline revenue
was £130 milion (2013/14 £78 million) with the increase
predominantly reflecting the revenue from our Samsung
Expenence Stores which launched at the end of last year, in
addition to the benefit of the additional five weeks of trading
from the legacy Carphone Warehouse business Pro forma
Headiine EBIT was £8 million (2013/14 £5 million)

The CWS management team has worked hard dunng the year
to grow its strong pipeline and to build on relationships with
blue-chip partners including Samsung, Aviva, RBS and
TalkTalk It has also contmued to develop its ommi-channel
platform, honeyBee

On 2 July 2015, CWS announced that it had entered into an
agreement with Sprint Corporation, a leading US mobile
network operator, to open and manage Sprint-branded stores
inthe US CWS will supply retail expertise to Sprint who will
ntially open around 20 retaill stores, and if this tnal 1s
successful, the parties will progress to a second phase which
will Involve CWS mvesting equally with Spnnt in a joint venture
to support roli-out plans of up to 500 stores in the US Dunng
the second phase, Dixons Carphone has agreed to invest up to
$32 milbon to obtain a 50% interest in the new venture Dixons
Carphone will also provide support across the whole of the
Sprint estate as part of a wider know-how shanng
arrangement We believe this 1s a very exciting opportunity

for the future and provides a platform for the Group to retum
to the US marketplace
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Net finance costs

Pro forma Headline net finance costs were £33 milhon
(2013/14 £43 milion) The reduction in financing costs was
pomantly due to the redemphon of the bonds previously held
by Dixons Retal on 21 August 2014

Tax

The Headline pro forma rate of tax for the full year 1s 23%
(2013/14 25%) This rate s hugher than the UK statutory rate of
21% predommantly reflecting tigher statutory rates in the
Nordics and certain non-deductible costs pnmanly in the UK

Statutory results

The explanation of the Group's results presented above ts on a
pro forma basis as if the group structure following the CPW
Europe Acquisihion and the Merger had been in place
throughout the current and comparative penods Group results
as reported in the financial nformation are prepared on a
statutory basis, consolidating the results of CPW Europe from
26 June 2013 and Dixons Retail from 6 August 2014 These
results are summansed below

Headline Income statement — continuing operations -
statutory basis

2014/15 2013/14"

£mullion €milbon
Revenue 8,255 1,943
EBIT 400 137
Net finance costs {24) 9
Profit before tax aré 128
Tax (o1) {25)
Profit after tax 285 103
Basic EPS 297p 18 6p
Diluted EPS 28.7p 183p

(1} Results for 2013/14 have been restated 10 reclassify the results
of the operations in Germany, the Netherlands and Portugal as
discontinued operations

Headline profit before tax increased from £128 rmillion to
£376 millon predominantly reflecting the inclusion of a full
penod of eamings from CPW Europe and the inclusion of
Dixons Retail results from 6 August 2014 The tax charge
increased from £25 millon to £81 milhon reflecting the higher
pre-tax eamings descnbed above

This in turn resuited in an increase in basic Headline EPS from
18 6p to 29 7p for the period This EPS reflects the growth in
profit after tax explained above but also the fact that the
number of shares in 1ssue approximately doubled following
the Merger

Non-Headline tems

Headline profit before tax 1s reported before Non-Headline
charges of £89 million (2013/14 £51 milion) These charges
are analysed below and are reported on a statutory basis with
the Dixons Retall business only consolidated from completion
of the Merger on 6 August 2014

2014/15 201314

Emillion fmitlion

Headline profit before tax -

continuing operations -

statutory basis 376 128
Merger related costs #1) -
Amortisatron of acquisihion intangibles (35} (13)
Share of JVs - France exit - {(23)
CPW Europe Acquisition - (15)
Net pension interest (13) -
Total profit before tax - continuing

operations - statutory basis 287 77

Costs incurred in relation to the Merger include transaction
costs of £9 milion, predominantly reflecting banking and
professional fees, and merger integration costs of £32 milhon
pnmanly being professional fees, employee severance and
property costs assoctated with the integration process Further
integration costs will be incurred during 2015/16 as the
integration of the two businesses continues

The charge for the amortisation of acguisition intangibles was
£35 milhon (2013/14 £13 milllon) with the cument penod
including a fufl 13 months of amortisation of iIntangible assets
recognised following the CPW Europe Acquisttion and, since
6 August 2014, the amortisation of intangible assets
recognised as a result of the Merger

Net pensicn interest was £13 mullion reflecting the charge
incurred 1IN relation to the Dixons Retal UK pension scheme
foltowing completion of the Merger

Non-Headline items included within Dixons Retail total

results in the penod pnor to the Merger compnsed £11 million
in respect of the acceleration of share-based payment
charges which vested on the Merger, £12 rmilion of merger
related professional fees and £5 milhien of merger integration
planring costs committed to pror to completion of the Merger,
£42 million of debt restructunng costs in respect of early
repayment of the bonds previously held by Dixons Retail,

£5 million of provision releases relating to discontinued
operations and £4 millkon of pension nterest costs As these
items were incurred pnor to the Merger they do not form part
of the Group's consolidated results
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Discontinued operations

On 16 May 2014 the Group announced that ¢ had entered into
an agreement to sell its interest in Virgn Mobile France and
completed the disposal on 4 December 2014 for gross
consideration of £104 million and generated a profit of

£87 milion

Following the Merger, the Group put in place a strategy of
focusing on market leadership positions, while engaging in
other markets through partnerships with its Connected World
Services division The Group camed out detalled strategic
assessments of ts Phone House operations, which led to the
deciston to exit certain markets

+ On 15 Apnl 2015, the Group announced that it had agreed to
the sale of its operations in Gemnany to Dnllisch AG, a
leading moble wirtual network operator in Germany The sale
completed on 5 May 2015

+ On 24 Apnl 2015, the Group entered into an agreement to
dispose of a majorty stake {83%) in its operaticns in the
Netherlands to Relevant Holdings BV, a company set up by
the shareholders of Optet which has extensive telecom
retailing expenence in the Dutch market The sale completed
on 30 June 2015

» On 16 July 2015, the Group announced s commitment to
dispose of its eperations in Portugal following the
completion of a strategic review dunng 2014/15
Discussions, which commenced with potential acquirers
dunng 2014/15, are advanced and an announcement
confirming detals of the disposal 1s expected in due course

The closure of the Phone House operations in France, which
was announced In 2013/14, was completed durning the year
ended 2 May 2015 and 1s therefore now treated as a
discontinued operation

Prior to the Merger, Dixons Retail agreed to sell its

operations in the Czech Republic and Slovakia {Central
Europe) The net assets held for sale assocrated with this
business were included within the far value of assets and
labiliies acquired through the Merger and the sale completed
on 11 August 2014

The above businesses have been treated as discontinued
operations and a net loss of £114 million (2013/14 £10 mullion)
has been recognised in relation to them Comparative
information has been restated to reflect this classification

Cash and movement onh net funds

The information provided below 1s on a pro forma basis and
aggregates the net funds / {debt) and cash flows of the Group,
Dixons Retail and CPW Europe, as though Dixons Retait and
CPW Europe had been 100% owned by the Group throughout
the current and pnor pencds, to enable a complete
understanding of cash flows

Free Cash Flow — pro forma basis

2014/15 201314
£million £million
Headline EBIT 414 359
Depreciation and amortisation 141 170
Working capital (366} 5
Capital expenditure (186} (142)
Taxation (65) {64)
interest 47 (53)
Other tems 13 11
Free cash flow before restructuning
items - continuing operations (96) 286
Restructuring costs {16) 6)
Free Cash Flow (112) 280

Pro forma Free Cash Flow before restructunng was an outflow
of £96 million 2013/14 inflow of £286 mithon) The Group
expenenced a working capital outflow of £366 million (2013/14
inflow of £5 milion) on a pro forma basis with the year-on-year
increase largely reflecting timing 1ssues associated with the
change of year end and the day on which month end fell, as
well as the unwind of certain supplier funding arrangements
previously in place

Capital expenditure in the penod was £186 million on a pro
forma basis {(2013/14 £142 milhon}, with the year-on-year
increase reflecting sigrificant capital expenditure on honeyBee
and investment in relation to merging the two businesses

Restructunng costs in 2014/15 relate to Merger integration
costs and pnmanly reflect professional fees and employee
severance costs

Funding - pro forma basis

2014/15 2013414
Emillion €million

Free Cash Flow - pro forma basis {112) 280
Dvidends (52) {30)
Merger transaction costs (90) -
Acquisitions and disposals including

discontinued operations #41) (441)
Pension contnbutions (28) (20
Other items = {6)
Movement in net funds / (debt) -

pro forma basis (323) (217
Opening net funds - pro forma basis™ 63 280
Closing net {debt) / funds - pro forma

basis? {260) 63

(1) Opening net funds In the current pencd reflects net funds for
Carphone Warehouse at 29 March 2014 and for Dixons Retall at
30 April 2014 Opening net funds in the pnor period reflects net
funds for Carphone Warehouse (including CPW Europe) at
31 March 2013 and for Dixons Retail at 30 April 2013

(2) Pro forma net debt reflects the consolidated net debt of the Group
at 2 May 2015 including net funds recognised withuin assets held
for sale of £53 milhon
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At 2 May 2015 the Group had pro forma net debt of

£260 millon compared to pnor penod pro forma closing net
funds of £63 milion Pro forma net debt at the end of Apnl
2014 for both businesses was £181 milion

Free cash flow was an outflow of £112 million (2013/14 nflow
of £280 million) for the reasons descnbed above

Merger transaction costs reflect professional and banking fees,
the cash cost of share option exercises as a result of the
Merger and the cost of redeeming the bonds previously held
by Dixons Retail

Net cash outflows from acquisitions and disposals in the
current year were £41 milion reflecting the first payment of
deferred consideration for the CPW Europe Acquisihon and
cash outflows in discontinued operations Cash flows in the
pnor period were £441 million predominantly reflecting cash
flows associated with the CPW Europe Acguisition, as well as
those associated with discontinued operations

The Group has a total of £875 million of committed borrowing
facilities compnsing i) a £625 million multi-currency term and
revolving credit faciity, and i) a £250 midlion revolving credit
facility, both of which mature in Apnl 2017 The £625 million
factity s spht into two tranches a £400 mullion revolving
tranche and a term loan tranche of £225 million The term loan
was amortised by £25 milhon dunng the penod and s due to
reduce by a further £50 million on 30 June 2016 These
facilibies mature in 2017 and we expect to complete refinancing
of our facilibes dunng 2015/16

Goodwill

The goodwill of £2,629 milion ansing from the Merger reflects
the fact that the value of Dixons Retail 1s based on its cash
generating potential rather than its existing assets and the fact
that many of its key strengths, such as its scale and expertise,
do not represent intangible assets as defined by IFRS

Pensions

The IAS 19 accounting deficit of the defined benefit section

of the UK pension scheme of Dixons Retaill amounted to

£486 million at 2 May 2015 compared to £429 million at the
date of the Merger on 6 August 2014 The assumptions

used for determining the accounting valuation use a consistent
basis to that adopted within the financial statements of Dixons
Retail for the year ended 30 Apnl 2014 and which build from
the most recent actuanal valuation as at 31 March 2013, which
was completed dunng the perod being reported Contributions
dunng the penod under the terms of the deficit reduction

plan amounted to £28 million on a pro forma basis

(2013/14 €20 mulhon)

The deficit has increased largely as a result of the changes in
financial assumptions which determine habitities, partially offset
by an increase In the asset values

Dwidends

The Board declared an intenm dividend of 2 5p per share, up
from 2 Op per share last year The intenm dnvidend was pad
on 23 January 2015

We are proposing a final dvidend of 6 Op per share, taking the
total dradend for the year to 8 Sp per share, a 42% increase on
the previous year (2013/14 6 Qp} The final dwvidend is subject
to shareholder approval at the Company's forthcoming Annual
General Meetng The ex-dwidend date 1s 27 August 2015,

with a record date of 28 August 2015 and an intended final
dvidend payment date of 25 September 2015

Going cencemn

A review of the Group’s business actvities, together with the
factors iikely to affect its future development, including
consideration of the continuing uncertainty in Greece,
performance and position, are set out within this Strategic
report, Including the nsk management secton The financial
posttion of the Group, its cash flows, iquidity position and
borrowing facihties are shown in the balance sheet, cash
flow statement and accompanying notes to the Group
financial statements

The directors have reviewed the future cash and profit
forecasts of the Group, which they consider to be based on
prudent assumptions Based on these forecasts, the directors
consider that it I1s appropnate to prepare the Group financial
statements on the going concern basis

sl

Humphrey Singer
Group Finance Dwector
16 July 2015
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Corporate responsibility

Duxons Carphone 1s committed to tigh standards of
corporate and sccial responsibility across the Group.

We recognise good sustainability practices make sound
business sense, helping us to achieve our corporate
objectives, fulfil our busmess plan and minimise costs

For Dixons Carphone, sustainability 1s about strengthening our
business by way of meaningful engagement with stakeholders,
reducing cur impact on the environment and benefiting the
communibes in which we operate As we grow we will continue
to listen to, and leam from our stakeholders and stnve to
reward them with consistently transparent and positive
outcomes and expenences

What we care about
Our prionties are to

* Provide a safe and healthy envircnment for employees,
customers and visttors to our sites,

+ Engage colleagues through rewarding workplace
envircnments and careers,

» Continually improve customer service and satisfaction levels,
+ Improve operational energy efficiency,
+ Reduce our impact on the environment,

+ Cut costs and raise revenue through improved waste
recycling,

+ Enhance and promote our customer proposition i relation
to product reuse and recycling,

+ Monitor and reduce carbon emissions,

+ Offer safe and rehable own-brand products achieved as
a result of our expert technical knowledge with products
sourced from manufacturers which are audited against
our ethical requirements, and

+ Engage stakeholders through the support of community
activity and chantable causes

Our approach to sustanability means taking business
decisions that reflect these pnonties, based on our values
and guided by our values and code of business sthics

Peopla

Good people are pivotal to our success and therefore our
biggest nvestment They are both the foundation and face of
our business and key to continued innovation and delivenng
excellent service to our custorners

We place a huge emphasis on attracting and retaining the nght
people We listen to, and work with, employees to help them
reach ther full potential while buillding a diverse, rewarding
environment where they feel empowered and inspired to help
us grow and succeed

We are working to be recognised as an employer of choice
and am to reward colleagues farly, providing equal
opportunities, personal development and traning

Our employee benefits packages are regularly reviewed to
remain attractive and conducive to the recruitment and
retention of talented indwiduals Colfeagues are encouraged
1o participate in our SAYE Scheme to build a personal stake
i the business Qur first combined Dixons Carphone SAYE
scheme n the UK and Ireland was launched with 20% of
colleagues electing to jon

We work to achieve high standards in employment practices
and have a comprehensive suitte of employment poficies and
procedures, which we regularly review These polictes include
guidance on being family frendly through to colleague dispute
management, diversity and equal opportunibes

We have a dedicated Corporate Responsibility function and
are a member of the UK Govemment'’s All-Party Pariamentary
Corporate Responsibility Group

Our Values

Cur culture supports the discovery of new and better ways of
working, two-way communication and the speedy resolution of
concemns and quenes

We are cultivating a high performance environment where each
employee performns to the best of their ability, working together
to achieve untold possibiities

Our Dixons Carphone Shared Values are
We put the custorner first, always

» Everything starts with the custorner

- It's how we start every day, every conversation, every
new idea

+ {t's how we win
We stand together as one
= We love to win It feels great

+ We treat everyone on our team as farmily, our suppliers
as partners

+ We act with humility, respect and kindness
We act bravely, challenge convention and do the nght thing

* We embrace the unknown, are pacey, ambitious, but
never reckless

+ Never scared to fail, it's how we [eam

+ When faced with a difficult decision, we do the nght thing
We know everyone can make a difference

+ The best ideas come from unexpected sources

» Great people with passion and determination

+ Do a great job and you'll feel you can build an amazing
career at Dixons Carphone

We beheve anything 1s possible

+ We make the impossible possible, every day by achieving
the unthinkable

= Opportunities always ke ahead
» We enjoy celebrating success
+ We're never complacent, “Great job  What’s next?”
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The Dixons Carphone Ethical Conduct Policy applies to all
employees and relevant managers are required to sign an
annual statement to confirm ther comphance

Our employees’ performance and engagermnent 15 measured via
a balanced scorecard, and alongside our values and strategy,
this scorecard 1s used to run our business, help us to make the
nght decisions and recogrise success This isdone ata
company, market and on an indwidual level

One Dixons Carphone Team

One of our key prionties post-Merger 1s to build one culture,
one vision and one future A major step towards this is locating
support centre colleagues n one site

The decision to choose Acton as our main support function
site was made based on a set of cntena which ncluded square
footage, car parking faciihes and access to public transport

We will relocate up to 1,000 colleagues from our Hemel
Hempstead site by November 2015, before the site closes on
31 December 2015

Our Acton site remans fully functonal while refurbishment
work takes place This is aded by the introduction of Smart
Working - a flexible approach to tme spent in the office,
designed to drnive greater efficiency and effectiveness as well
as creating a more fluid working environment We are building
a workplace talored for the needs of our people

‘Change Champions’ for each function have been dentified
to hetp the move run smoaothly and all colleagues have been
surveyed for thetr input and are being communicated with
throughout the process

We are working to achieve the following design prninciples
* One Dixons Carphone Team

+ Tech Enabled colleagues

* Flexibility and Healthy Work-Life Balance

« Improved facilittes

= A vibrant working environment
Colleague Communications

We run a comprehensive colleague engagement programme
based on our belief that an engaged workforce will deliver a
great customer expenence, resulting in strong financial results
Qur key ams for this programme are to fully ntegrate our
workforce and instil pnde in working for Dixons Carphone

September will see the launch of a colleague engagement
survey across the Group, admiristered by an extemnal prowider
Colleagues will have the opportunity to say how they fee! about
working for Dixons Carphone and this feedback will be used

to develop nitiatives to ensure our company 15 a great place

to work

In the UK & Ireland we are continuing to integrate online
commurications channels to provide modem and effective
platforms with an emphasis on collaboration and peer-to-peer
communication We will continue to produce ‘Connected’, a
hard copy employee magazine, which launched on the day of
the Merger and Is a key channe! for shanng news and
company progress

Strengthering Capabilities

To help our people to grow therr careers at Dixons Carphone
and develop the skills needed to perform well in their role and
help to grow our business we provide formmal training, on the
job expenence and management coaching

We have a learming strategy to support our business strategy
and indviduals have regular one-to-ones and a formal review
twice a year with their manager to assess thewr performance
and set clear goals and development plans for the year ahead

Across Dixons Carphone around 96,000 leaming hours were
recorded last year with over 80% of this learming completed
onhne This year, we launched our Retall Academy for all new
store colleagues jontng our business We also run talent and
leadership development programmes to develop high
achievers and to improve leadership skills across our
management population

Heatth and Wellbeing

Through the promotion of employee wellbeing, we am to
create a happier, healthwer and more productive workforce,
at the same time as reducing time off through sickness and
ensunng optimum levels of energy and resiience

Healthy iving 1s encouraged through a number of initratives
and facilihes On-site gyms are available in many of our mamn
suppoert centres and a new fitness centre 1s planned as part of
the refurbishment of our Head Office building in North Acton

Relaxation rooms where employees can watch TV, play pool,
play wdeo games or take time out are provided in Support
Functions along with on-site restaurants offenng a range of
foods, which are reviewed regularly to ensure they offer a
balanced menu

Our Employee Assistance Programme, which is available 24/7,
1s available to all our employees and offers a range of
information about issues such as stress and nutrition

A nurnber of products and services are also available to
support employees, such as pnvate medical insurance This Is
also avallable to their close family at subsidised rates Dental
insurance and a Health Cash Plan are also available at special
corporate rates for employees who wish to participate

Spectiic areas of the business also offer support in other ways
too For example, at our Support Centre in Acton a
physictherapist comes n regularly and offers treatments to
employees at reduced rates
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Average to Awesome

Thls wellbeing inibative focused on twelve employees from
our UK business with the aim of transforming therr overall
aptrtude to health and fitness With the help of a dedicated
personal trainer and talored nuinhion plan, we recorded ther
combined weight loss at 30 7kg over the 12 week penod
These employees developed a strong bond and have
continued positive changes to their Ifestyle habits, resulting
in the easing of conditons such as breathlessness and type
2 dlabetes in indviduals, while all twelve are enjoying
mcreased energy levels and enhanced performance We are
repeathg this programme again in 2015 introducing the
latest wearable technology

.

Equal Opportunibes

The Group 1s committed to equality of oppertunity across all of
its employment practices throughout the Group We stnve to
prevent unlawful discnmination in the workplace on the
grounds of sex, race, disability, sexual onentation, religion or
religious behef, age, mamage and civil partnership, gender
reassignment, pregnancy and matermity We promote an
honest and open environment and encourage colleagues with
concems to report 1ssues to us either directly through Iine
managers or via an independent, confidential integnty line

Disability

We are committed to providing colleagues with equal
opporturnities, from recruitrnent to tramning and development
We encourage applications from individuals with disabilities
who can do the job and candidates will be consiclerad for
each role they apply for Every effort 1s made to retain
disabled colleagues in our employment including making
any reasonable readjustments to their jobs, workplace

or environment

Diwversity

We appreciate the benefits a diverse workplace brings,
including, but not restncted to gender diversity and the
importance diversity plays in achieving the nght mix of skills,
knowledge and expenence our organisation needs to reach
its potental

Diverstty in terms of age and gender remains a key
performance indicator Statistics for the UK, Ireland and
Nordics are as follows

All employees Senlor managers Directors

Number %  Number %  Number %%

Male 27803 71% 254 72% 10 77%
Female 11,157 29% 99 28% 3 23%

Customers

Every decision we make 1s driiven by our ambition to provide
unparalleled expertise and services to help customers and
businesses navigate the new digital era

Each and Every Customer Counts programme

Qur Each and Every Customer Counts (EECC) programme 1s
supported by a full suite of customer insight measures, driving
daily, weekly and monthly improvements in our custorner
expenence Each employee 1s accountable on some level for
our lead customer measure Our NPS features in all our intemal
reward schemes and 1s central to our company balanced
scorecard We have seen NPS improvements of 9% year

on year to March 2015

We run a weekly and monthly EECC dash board with key
measures and targets laddenng up to NPS and completing our
omni-channel customer joumey Our customer insight
prograrmme collects feedback from over 850,000 customers
per year via each of our channels and touch points Feedback
mechanisms include mystery shopping, exit surveys and SMS
feedback via text messages immediately following a customer
purchase This programme allows us to track a further 15
customer KPls, out of which seven hit or exceeded targets for
the year and a further four showed improvement

Our governance programme for customer expenence sits at
executive and senior level within our business, underiming its
imperiance to our strategy and day to day thinking Weekly
Voice of the Custormer meetings are used to implement
improvement plans when performance targets are not

being reached

We want t0 be the preferred brand and within our key target
market we have seen an 8% mprovement year on year for the
three months to Apni 2015 Our ultimate goal is to dnve both
preference and real loyalty with our customers Improving
customers’ value for money 15 also cntical in a highly
competitive market and agamn we have seen significant
improvements on value for money ratings across the year
within our key target customers, with a 16% improvement
year on year
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Customer retention 1s another measure we take very senously,
reflected by beating our target by 6% Qur customer
expenence plan has identified key areas for improvement and
we have mvested heavily to fix these We constantly
commurucate with customers through dedicated panels and
every new sultative starts with customer insight This year we
ran over 100 customer focus groups using a combination of
qualitative focus groups and co-creation sessions Large
quantitative and online surveys are also run for additional data
and customer review sites are tracked and used to inform how
we can continually improve

We have been recognised by customers and mdependent third
parties for the customer expenence we stiive to create for each
and every customer Our rating on Trust Pilot is now 7.2/10
and s the highest in the mobile industry

Carphone Warehouse Customer Service Awards include
BT Retall Week Technology Awards Best Custorner
Expenence for Pin Point, Mobile Industry Awards Best
High Street Retailer, Mobile Choice Awards Best High
Street Retailer, What Mobile Awards Best Services and
Reparrs for Geek Squad

KNOWHOW

At the KNOWHOW Contact Cervire in Sheffield we support
the UK & Irefand retail customer base on behalf of both the
Currys and PC World brands in every step of their joumey
with our business

Pnor to purchase ouwr Sales team support with product
selection and advice, post purchase we have teamns to support
every step of the way from Delivery enquines to Technical
advice including our dedicated Careplan Team

Our tearn of over 1,300 colleagues support customers seven
days a week, wrth our Technical homeworking team covenng
365 days arcund the clock for support with PC and
connectvity Issues Across the teams in our busiest week this
year we handled enquines from over 300,000 customers and
have significantly improved our response iimes across all
areas of contact, with particular focus on our Social Media
and Email channels

We offer a great career path across Home Services, with
Apprenticeships n our Techmical team, through to a Pathway
programme for all colleagues, giving alf of our team an
cpportunity to develop therr career, through to becoming an
expert colleague, before moving into coaching and ine
management roles Many of our First Line Managers,
Customer Operations Managers and indeed ouwr leadershup
team have followed a career in such a way, there are no limits
to a career across our business

We ask our team to work with a simple three stage process
1 Understand the customer need or concem

2 Propose a sclution product or service

3 Thank you and feedback

We work to ensure we are farr and reasonable in all propased
solutions for our customers and ask our team to always
constder how we can improve our process to deliver clear and
consistent responses

Across our E-Commerce and Insight teams we work with
Reevoo, one of the leading mdependent Customer Review
sites to share customer reviews of our services and over the
past 6 months we have scored 78% for Customer Service
from over 18,000 customer reviews

{

Contact Centres are known for working within a frarmework
built upon Average Handling Time for a response and within
the KNOWHOW site we have changed the way we lock at thig
‘AHT” measure We coach our colleagues on taking the
Appropnate Handling Time with every customer, allowing us to
train our colleagues to handle customers more personally as
we strive to never leave a customer to fend for themselves

We also provide SMS surveys to our customers across our
sites to define the Advocacy, Care and Knowledge scores for
our colleagues and use these as cntical KPls to improve
process and performance for the future

Thus year KNOWHOW and Carphone Warehouse colleagues
will work closely to understand therr strengths and define the
future support medelling for our new business across our
entire Contact Centre Portfollo We now have over 2,500
Contact Centre colleagues supporting our customers

Information Secunty

The Group 1s commutted ta protecting both electronic and
physical informabon from unauthonsed access, processing,
modification or destruction There are a number of pieces of
legislation relevant to informaton secunty to wiuch the Group
adheres, ncluding the Data Protection Act 1998 and EU's Data
Protection Directive 95/46/EC The Group has a dedicated
nformation secunty teamn Secunty controls and awareness
remamn an area of significant focus for the Board

Data protection

The Group has a responsibility to ensure all nformation is
collected, stored, processed and disposed of in a secure way
in the UK, we are required to adhere to the UK Data Protection
Act 1998 This legislation was enacted to bning UK law in line
with the EU Data Protection Directive, which is applicable to
the rest of the Group's European markets The European
Commussion Is In the process of implermenting a European
Data Protection Regulation which will supersede the Directive
Ahead of the adoption of the new regulation, the business s
working closely with the Group Data Protection Officer to
prepare for the changes in this area The Group 1s committed
to the on-going monitonng of its data protection policies

and procedures, and the implementation of improvements
where necessary

30 Dixons Carphone plc Annual Report and Accounts 2014/15




Environment

Energy Management

Dixons Carphone continues its advanced actvities surmounding
energy efficiency Our portfolio continues to be predominantly
supplied through half hourly metenng which allows us to
monitor our sites accurately, minimise wastage, optimise

our efficiency and invest with energy efficiency projects in
targeted areas

As we move into 2015/16, we are working to extend this
half hourty monitening programme to over 600 Carphone
Warehouse slores

To realise immediate benefits, our energy efficiency
programme contmnues to utiise intemal capital expenditure
funding for energy efficiency projects We continue to explore
new technologies and advanced strategies to assist In our
programme of energy reduction and through 2014/15, a further
£1 4 millien has been invested in new energy efficiency
intiatives including

1 Vanable Speed dnives have rolled out to a further 80 Currys
and PC World superstores to optimise the efficiency of
thetr heating, ventilation and arr conditioning systems

2 New efficient fluorescert ighting has been fitted in
27 large Currys and PC World superstores

3 Energy-efficiency projects have been completed in an
additional 26 stores to further optirnise our energy usage
which mclude fine adjustments to temperature set points,
controlled heating and lighting strategies and the
installation of lghting controls

4 Efficient LED hghting has been tnalled n back of house
areas which we intend to roll out to further stores

5 The 65,000 sq ft Customer Call Centre in Sheffield has
been upgraded to LED ighting throughout

The resulting reduction in our energy consumption from the
above initiatives wiil be approximately 7,000 mWh per annum
and wili reduce our carbon emissions by over 3,500 tonnes of
CQ:in the next year

Energy Efficiency Inthative
Dixons Carphone i1s delighted to have been selected to
partcipate in the Department of Energy & Climate Change -
EDR (Energy Demand Reduction) pilot scheme This intiative
is linked to the large scale roliout of energy efficient LED
hghting to one of our 750,000 sq ft National Distnbution
Centre bulldings in Newark [t represents our largest
Investment in a single energy efficiency project to date and

15 on schedule to complete by September 2015

Our water leak detection programme continues through
consumption analysis to highhight rregulanties and ensures
optmum efficiency

Carbon Managerment

Dunng Phase 2, year 1 of the Carbon Reduction Commitment
{CRC) energy efficiency scheme, Dixons Carphone combined
reported emissions show a reduction against 2013/14 of
approximately 7% which represents a reduction in excess of
9,000 tonnes of CO:

Dixons Carphone will merge its reporting against the Carbon
Reduction Commitment (CRC) energy efficiency scheme for
2015/16 Reporting for 2014/15 will be completed in ine with
previous years under Dixons Retall plc (CRC registration
number 8584817) and Carphone Warehouse Group plc
(CRC registration number 6030144)

Green Energy in the Nordics

We have made the decision to implement the exclusive

use of ‘Green Energy' produced by hydropower and wind
turbines across our sites in the Nordics At present, energy is
denved from nuclear and oil (fossil) sources which generate a
CO: output of 42,604 tonnes per annum This imtiative will
dramatically reduce this figure Each store will receive a
certificate as proof of the environmental contnbution and we
will use this in national, regional and local media to promote
our green profile

Carbon Disclosure Project (CDP) - due to the merger and the
associated challenges of identitying a complete baseline year,
the Group will not be participating in the Carbon Disclosure
Project for 2014/15 We are currently considening whether to
respond to the CDP Ciimate Change Information Disclosure
questionnaire and the CDP Road to Pans 2015 Commitments
n 2015/16
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Mandatory Greenhouse Gas (GHG) Reporting

This section provides the emission data and supporting
information required by The Companies Act 2006 {Strategic
Report and Owrectors' Report) Regulations 2013, Part 7
Disclosures Conceming Greenhouse Gas Emissions

This report covers the international operations of the Group,
including the UK & Ireland, Nordics and Scuthem Europe
Operational control has been used to determine organisational
boundary All scope one and two emissions are included

except where noted

The GHG emissions for the Dixons Retall business are

2014715 2013114
Tonnes of increase / Tonnes of
CO;  [decrsase) CC:
Category / source of emissions amitted” % amitted™
Emissions from
combustion of fuel® 18,019 182% 15,239
Emissions from operation
of any facility 3132 747% 1,793
Ermissions from purchase
of electncity 97,929 (45% 101,757
118,280 (04)% 118,789
2014/15 2013714
Tonnes Tonnes
ol GO, of CO;
emtted per  emitted par
1,000sqft 1000sqft
of fioor of flgor
area' area™
Intensity measure 7.02 697

The GHG emussions for the Carphone Warehouse business

are
2014115 2013/14
Tonnes ot Incraase / Tonnes of
CO; [decrease) CO;
Category f source of 8MISSIONS emitted % emitted:?
Ermissions from combustion
of fuel 3,058 336% 2,289
Emissions from operation of
any facility 548 72% 511
Emissions from purchase of
electnoty 33,690 08% 33,408
37,296 30% 36,208
201415 2013714
Tonnes Tonnes
of CO; of CO;
emittect par  emitted per
1,000sqft 1000sqft
of fioor of fioor
area™ area™
Data
Intensity measure 17.70 | ovaianien

(1) Exclusions compnse Franchises as they do not fall directly under
the Group’s operationa! contral Emissions from Carphone
Warehouse's retall aperations in France have been excluded as an
agreement In principle has been reached for the sale of Dixons
Carphone’s operations in this terntary Following Dixons
Carphone's announcements on 15 April and 24 Apnil, business

interests in Germany and the Netherands have been included
in this 2014/15 GHG reporting, however will be excluded from
future reporting

(2) Emussions generated within properties occupied by the Group
but operated by the relevant landlord and refngerant data from
Nordics are excluded as data was not avarlable (although this
15 estmated to be approximately 1% of total emisstons for
the Group}

(3} Emussions from the combustion of fuel compnses an increased
data set due to dentfied wider scope from 2013/14

{4} Overafl floor area of the Dixons Retail business is estmated to ba
16,845,934 sq ft (2013/14 17,052,000 sq ft) and the calculations
use the methodology set out in DEFRA's updated greenhouse gas
reparting guidance, Environmental Reporting Guidelines (ref PB
13844), issued in June 2013

(5} We have synchronised the emissions intensity measure for the
Carphone Warehouse portfolio to tonnes CO: emitted per
1,000 sq ft of floor area for this reporting year As such,
an intensity measura companson aganst [ast year would be
difficult, however, this will allow data to be merged in future
Overall floor area of the Carphone Warehouse business 15
estimated to be 2,106,753 sq ft and as with Dixons Retal, the
calculations use the methodotogy set out in DEFRA's updated
greenhouse gas reporting guidance, Environmental Reporting
Guidetines {ref PB 13844}, issued in June 2013

(6) 2014/15 Carphone Warehouse GHG reporting includes emissions
from drrecily owned and leased vehicles, company cars, and
defivery fleets which were not included in 2013/14

Waste and recyciing

We have dnven sustainability and efficiencies through refuse
and recycling across the Group In the last year, 75% of
rmatenal generated by our stores now goes to recycing
schemes and not into landfill

We now backhaul our recyclables from 386 CurrysPCWorld
stores, an increase of 239 stores year on year, to our recycling
machinery In Newark Stores retum these recyclable matenals
via the return leg of the delivery vehicles In addition to
cardboard, polythene and expanded polystyrene we recycled
from our stores last year, we have extended the programme to
nclude paper recycling As a group we are now one of the
UK's single biggest recyclers of expanded polystyrene

We have increased the volume of card, expended polystyrene
and potythene recyclate processed from our customer service
centres and Newark sites by 25% or 1,347 tonnes

In the Nordics we participate in national take-back schemes,
n addition to handiing waste at store and home delivenes
There are also stnet procedures in place for soring and
reporting in all markets

Waste Electncal and Electromic Equiprment (WEEE)

Over 66,000 tonnes of WEEE was recycled in 2014/15, which
15 an ncrease of 5,000 tonnes {8%) on 2013/14 Our volume
represents over 15% of the total UK WEEE market We
recycled over 1 2 million white goods last year and bacikfilled
over 10,000 tralers that would have returned to base empty

We have allowed a wide range of re-use companies and FRN
chanties access to all 16 of cur CSC depots to select white
goods units they feel are reuseable resulting in over 60,000
units tast year being diverted from a scrap yard for destruction
to be cleaned, refurbished and reused, for example, by low
mcome families in many different regions of the UK Not only
15 there a social benefit to reuse, 1t also has an environmental
benefit and saved around 6,000 tonnes of carbon
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The Group processed 16,381 handsets and 248 non-mobile
itens, with the proceeds pad mnto the CPW Foundation to
support chantable activity

The total WEEE collected i the Nordics 15 93,606 tonnes with
arecovery rate of 77% matenal, 22% thenmic / incineration
and 1% landfill

Transport and Deivery

Our Home Delvery Fleet continues to grow in response to
increasing demand We camed out 1,426,577 delivenes in
2014/15 by our operated fleet compared to 957,630 n

2013/14 The fleet covered 19,871,184 km which is an increase
of 32 6% year on year, with COz emissions at 9,311 tonnes, an
increase of 44% on last year These increases are due manly
to the higher proportion of delivenes camed out on our own
operated fleet versus fleet operated by our franchises, in
comparison to last year

We took delwery of a further fifty 7 5 tonne Euro 5 vehicles -
the last batch we will procure before switching to the new Euro
6 vehicles i line with new emissions legislaton These vehicles
have been fitted with forward facing cameras and tracking
which has also been rolled out to our white goods repair vans
to help us with accident reduction inhatives Also this year, we
consolidated the Carphone Warehouse branch delivery fleet
with a specific element of the Currys and PC World branch
delivery network utilising the existing fleet, enabling us to
realise some of the benefits of the combined network

Combmned DHL Fleet
Although our carbon emissions are up year on year, we have
dnven efficiencies on the combined DHL fleet

Fleet emissions are at 16,311 tonnes for 2014/15, this 1s an
increase of 11% year on year with miles dnven also up 11%
at 14,041,859 Transported volume is up by 12% year on year
and 31% over two years Cube delivered per mile driven has
decreased by 1 14% Qverall combined trailer fill is up by

1 03m?® per vehicle year on year or 1 79% This efficiency has
saved an addihional 500 road tnps

For 2015/16, we will look to capitalise on year on year and two
year performances and progress A complete review of the
existing tractor and trailer fleet has been undertaken and we
will rernove and replace older trallers We will also introduce
more premum cube trailers into the network with a greater
carrying capacity and are involved in on-going discussions

In relation to tractor unts As part of our on-going Network
Design review for 2015/16, strategic locations will be
introduced to allow us to reduce our stam mileage from

the central distnbution point in Newark

In the Nordics, the number of kilometres driven from our
Nordic Distnbution centre to stores i1s 11 85 million which
1Isup 25%

Suppher relationships

We are committed to upholding and respecting human

nghts While we do not operate a separate human nghts policy,
these values are reflected in our equal opportunity practices
throughout the Group and in our ethical policies and
processes We expect all our suppliers to operate n a farr

and honest way towards their employees and those with
whom they do business

Charty and Community

Strategic report

We aim to be a responsible member of every community

we do business in, whether it's by match-funding employee
fundrarsing, community nitiatives or chanty partnerships, we
willimplement new 1deas to make a positive impact locally

The business contnbuted a total of £935,000 to chantable
causes In the UK & Ireland and a further NOK 1 9 mullion
(£154,000) in the Nordics

Get Connected

Dixons Carphone continued Carphone Warehouse's long term
support of Get Connected This registered chanty is the UK's
only free, confidenttal helpling for under 25s who need help
with any 1ssue, providing support and counselling for those
experiencing problems with mental and emotional health
Young people can access Get Connected by phone, email,
web-chat or text They may also use WebHelp 24/7, the online
help directory

Last year we raised £323,000 for Get Connected through
activities such as Carphone Warehouse Race to the Stones,
a suppher quiz, Give As You Eam and indmidual colleague
fundraising The majonty of these funds were raised through
the Dixons Carphone Chanty Dinner and Auction

In 2014/15 Dixons Carphene also contnbuted £160,000
to accommodate the Get Connected helpline service in
office space

We have worked closely with Get Connected to reduce their
dependency on our business As a result, the chanty has
secured funding from The Cabinet Office and The Department
of Education and continues to grow its trading income

In response to bustness demand, Get Connected now offer
remote helpline volunteenng opporturities for local
communities and employees, including those with mobility
restrictions who are prevented from participating in many
traditonal forms of volunteenng

In 2014/15, Get Connected helped 250,000 children and young
people in crisis which is an increase of 100,000 year on year

Dixons Carphone Foundation Chanty Dinner and Auction
March 2015 saw our first joint fundraising event in aid of our
new Dixons Carphone Foundation This event was supported
and attended by suppliers and partners from across the
business, raising a record breaking net total of £427,060

This figure includes a donation of £213,000 by Dixons
Carphone after we pledged to tnple the income taken

dunng the live Auction

From these proceeds, Get Connected receved £214,000,
Tablets for Schools will receve £200,000 with £14,000 being
pard into the Foundation to support causes that leverage
technology to address social 1ssues

Dixons Carphone ple Annual Repert and Accounts 2014/15 33




Strategic report

Corporate responsibility

Tablets for Schools

We believe the use of technology in education can inspire
children with a fifelong love of leaming, motivate them to know
more and empower independent thinking Tablets for Schools
1s a registered chanty behind the largest independent research
programme in the world into the use of 1 1 technology to
transform education

The real benefits have been defined, the major 1ssues for
schools uncovered and robust data around pedagogy,
attainment, cost savings and the impact on behawviour /
attendance 15 being gathered

In 2014/15 Dixons Carphone continued its support of the work
of this charity, donating a total of £210,000 The Company also
made the chanty a loan of £150,000 in lieu of income from our
Charity Dinner and Auction

In January 2015, Tablets for Schools relaunched as
Techknowledge for Schools with the aim of helping schools
by providing a urited wision and bluepnnt for the successful
deployment of technology in education to transform
learming ocutcomes

The Dixons Carphone Foundation

The Foundation is a fundraising account established under the
Chanties Aid Foundation (registered charity number 268369)
for the benefit of the charity or chanties selected by Dixons
Carphone and approved by the Charnties Aild Foundation

Thus account was set up in March 2015 to deliver our ambition
of making lives better through technology The Dixons
Carphone Foundation will also facilitate employee match-
funding applications and one off donations to emergencies and
disaster funds

Through the Dixons Carphone Foundation, employees can
apply for support with sponsorship The Foundaton will match
the amount an employee has raised for their chosen charnity by
up to £100 or £300 for a team fundraising for the same event
In 2013/14 we donated £36,000 to a vanety of causes through
the CPW Foundation

We are in the process of closing the CPW Foundation and
transfemng the balance of £41,000 to the new Dixons
Carphone Chanties Aid Foundation (CAF) Account

The DSG intemational Foundation

The DSG intematicnal Foundation 1s a charity in its own nght,
registered with the Chanties Commussion For the time being
we will continue to operate chantable activities through our
new CAF account Dixons Carphone Foundation

Dunng 2014/15, a total of £73,000 was transacted through the
DSG international Foundation for Children in Need The
balance of this account stands at £18,000

Give As You Eam

We encourage employees to contnbute to chanties of their
choosing through our payroll giving scheme In 2014/15 Dixons
Carphone employees donated a combined total of £49,000
benefitting a wide range of causes

Qther chantable support

Dixons continued their support of Children in Need enabling
colleagues across our store, service and logistics networks
to get behind fundrarsing efforts for a nationally branded
fundrasing event that supports causes across the UK and
locat to their places of work As a result of a number of
activities, total fundraising and donations to Children in
Need were £75,000

Senior Dixons Carphone executives took to the tennis courts
for a chanty tenmis tournament at The Queens Club raising
£50,000 for the Dallagho Foundation and their work to inspire
and change the lives of young people through sport

Our Sheffield Contact Centre supported the live Comic Relief
television appeal by taking donation calls 150 colleagues,
friends and family gave up therr free time to take £62,000

In pledges

The Company responded to the Ebola Cnsis at the request of
the World Health Organisatron (WHOQ) through the provision
of 200 fully functicning smartphones, allowing WHO field
operatives to collect key data in real time in Sierra l.ecne,
Guinea and Libena The gift in kind value to our business

was £20,000

Carphone Warehouse Race to the Stones

On 19 and 20 Juty 2014 over 1,600 publc participants ran,
trekded or walked 100km from Chinnor in Oxfordshire along
the Ridgeway to the ancient stone circle in Avebury This was
the first time Carphone Warehouse sponsored a chanty
sporting event and over 130 employees signed up to get fit
and raise over £45,000 for our chanty partner, Get
Connected Sponsorship of this event continues for 2015
as the Dixons Carphone Racs to the Stones Over 250
employees from acress Dixons Carphone will take part,
many of them tnalling wearable technology for training
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Spnng Onfine

This inthative run by the chanty Digital Unite, aims to help the

6 4 milhon people who are digitally excluded in the UK
Carphone Warehouse's sponsorship in 2014 enabled this work
to continue and amplified the work of the chanty resulting in

a 426% increase (32,800 views} in traffic to our branded
smartphone and tablets area of the Digtal Unite website

We saw a five-fold increase in store participation year on year
providing us with the opportunity to engage with the over 50°s
and establish trust in a rapidly expanding market with no
previous brand loyafty The Spring Online taster sessions
created a unique way in which to show prospective customers
how to use products through employee engagement and
intiated an advocacy through staff, attendees, event holders
and communities across the UK

Qutside the UK

Eikjep continues to support the Red Cross Water for Life
(Vann for Livet) project and donated approximately NOK

1 9 milion (£154,000) to the Red Cross Water for Life Project
dunng 2014/15

Key Performance Indicators

The performance cntena reported above are largely focused
on the Group’s UK & Ireland and the Nordics businesses which
represent 92% of the Group revenues from continuing
operations in the penod

This strategic report was approved by the Board and signed
on its behalf by

t

2 i /.
g

Sebastan James Humphrey Singer
Group Chief Executive Group Finance Director
16 July 2015 16 July 2015
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Corporate Governance

Board of directors

Sir Charles Dunstone — Chatrman N

Sir Charles Dunstone 1s the Chairman of Dixons Carphone and
the Nominations Committee He 1s the founder of Carphone
Warehouse and was chaimnan of Carphone Warehouse since
28 January 2010 He was chief executive officer of Old
Carphone Warehouse from 1989 to 2010 where he led its
growth to become one of Europe’s largest independent
telecommunications retalers Sir Charles was also appointed
chairman of TalkTalk n 2010 He was a non-executive director
of Daity Mail and General Trust plc from 2001 until 2012 and a
non-executive director of Independent Media Distnbution Plc
(now Independent Medta Distnbution Limuted) from 2002 until
2011 Sir Charles has been chaiman of The Pnnce’s Trust
since 2009 and a member of its Council since 2000 Sir
Charles 1s a partner In Freston Road Investments LLP and
also chaiman of Royal Museums Greenwich

Roger Taylor - Deputy Chairman R

Roger Taylor 1s the Deputy Chairman of Dixons Carphone and
was appointed deputy chairman of Carphone Warehouse on
24 July 2013 From 28 January 2010 to 24 July 2013 he was
chief executive officer of Carphone Warehouse Dunng this
time he was responsible for new business development,
strategwc intiatives and investor relations He was chief
financiat officer of Old Carphone Warehouse from 2000 to
2010 where he played a key role in the growth of Old
Carphone Warehouse across Europe and the construction and
completron of the transactions with Best Buy He was also a
director of Virgin Mobile France until its sale ;m 2014 and non-
executive deputy chairman of TalkTalk from 2010 unt! 2012

In addition Roger 1s a partner in Freston Road Investments LLP
which invests in a number of private businesses including
Student Castle Ltd, Five Guys UK Ltd and Housesimple Ltd
amongst others

Sebastian James - Group Chief Executive

Sebastian James was appointed Group Chief Executive of
Dixons Carphone on 6 August 2014 following the merger of
Dixons Retail with Carphone Warehouse He joned Dixons in
April 2008 and hetd various roles, including group operations
director pnor to his appointment as group chief executive in
February 2012 Before joining the Dixons Group, Sebastian
was CEQ of Synergy Insurance Services Limited and gained
wide retall expenence as strategy director responsible for
developing and implermenting the turnaround strategy at
Mothercare He started his career at The Boston Consutting
Group Sebastan is also a non-executive director of Direct Line
Insurance Group plc and trustee of the chanties Save the
Children and Techknowledge for schools

Andrew Hamson - Deputy Chief Executive

Andrew Hamson was appointed Deputy Chief Executive of
Dixons Carphone on 6 August 2014 Before this, Andrew had
been with Carphone Warehouse since 1995 and became a plc
board member in 2006, a role he held until the formation of the
joint venture with Best Buy in 2008 Andrew played key roles in
establishing the TalkTalk business and in expanding the highly
successful Best Buy Mobile operation in the US He also
retained responsibility for both the Carphone Warehouse

and Phone House operations and, in 2010 he was appointed
Chief Executive Officer of the Best Buy Europe joint venture
Fallowing the ending of the joint venture in 2013, Andrew
became Group Chief Executive of Carphone Warehouse pic
Andrew 18 a trustee of both Techknowledge for Schools and
Get Connected

Humphrey Singer - Group Finance Director

Humphrey Singer was appointed Group Finance Director of
Dixons Carphone on 6 August 2014, upon completion of the
merger of Dixons Retall and Carphone Warehouse He was
appointed group finance director of Dixons Retail in July 2011
and jomned the Dixons board in September 2011 Since joining
the Dixons Group in 2007, he has held a number of finance
roles, namely finance director of Currys, group financial
controller and finance director of the UK & Ireland division
Pror to joiming the Dixons Group, he was finance director of
Coca Cola Enterprises (UK) Ltd and prior to that also held a
number of finance roles at Coca Cola Enterpnses (UK) Lid
and Cadbury Schweppes plc

Katie Bickerstaffe - Chief Executive UK & Ireland

Katie Bickerstaffe was appomted an executive director of
Dixons Carphone on 6 August 2014, upon completion of the
merger of Dixons Retat and Carphone Warehouse She
retained her responsibilities as chief executive of UK & Ireland
for the Dixons business on merger and from 1 May 2015
assumed responsibility for the whole UK and Ireland busmess
Katie joined the Dixons Retail plc board on 20 February 2012
and was the chief executve of UK & Ireland for the Dixons
Group She joined the Dixons Group as director of marketing,
people and property In June 2008 In addition to her executive
position she s also non-executive director of Scottish and
Southem Energy plc Previously, Katie was managing director
of Kwik Save Ltd and group retail director and group HR
director at Somerfield plc Her earlier career included roles at
Dyson Lid, PepsiCo Inc and Unilever plc

Graham Stapleton - Chief Executive Carphone Warehouse
UK & ireland

Graham Stapleton was appointed an executive director of
Dixons Carphone on 6 August 2014, upon completion of the
merger of Dixons Retall and Carphone Warehouse He has
retained his responsibilities as chief executive officer of UK &
frefand for Carphone Warehouse He joined the Carphone
Group 1In 2005 and has held a varety of board postions in both
the UK and Europe Graham is also a Trustee at the chiidren's
chanty Make a Wish Previously Graham worked for Kingfisher
plc and Marks and Spencer plc
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John Gildersleeve
Independent non-executive director R N

John Gildersleeve I1s non-executive director of Dixons
Cambhone and1s Charr of the Remuneration Committee He
joined the Carphone Warehouse board on 28 January 2010
and was non-executive deputy chairman until July 2013 He
was a director of Old Carphone Warehouse until 2010 and
non-executive chairman from 2005 He was appointed as a
non-executve cirector of the Bntish Land Company PLC in
September 2008 and became chairman in January 2013 He
has been a non-executive director of TalkTalk since January
2010 (Deputy Chawman since 16 May 2013) and was
previously an executive director of Tesco plc until he retired
n February 2004 He is also a non-executive director of

Pick n Pay Stores Limited, which is listed on the Johannesburg
Stock Exchange in South Afnca John 1s also non-executive
deputy chasrrman and senior ;ndependent director of Spire
Healthcare Group plc

Andrea Gisle Joosen
Independent non-executive director R N

Andrea Gisle Joosen was appointed as a non-executive
director of Dixons Carphone on 6 August 2014, upon the
completion of the merger of Dixons Retal! and Carphone
Warehouse Andrea joined Dixons Retal plc as a non-
executive director on 1 March 2013 She 1s currendly chairman
of Teknikmagasinet, a non-executive director of ICA Gruppen
AB, James Hardie Industnes plc, Mr Green & Co plc and
BillerudKorsnas AB Former roles include non-executive
director of Lighthouse Group, chief executive of Boxer TV
Access AB in Sweden and managing director {(Nordic region) of
Panasonic, Chantelle AB and Twentieth Century Fox Her early
career Involved several senior marketing roles with Procter &
Gamble and Johnson & Johnson

Tim How
Independent non-executive director R

Tim How was appointed as a non-executive director of Dixons
Carphone on 6 August 2014, upon completion of the merger of
Dixons Retall and Carphone Warehouse Tim joined Dixons
Retall plc as a non-executive director on 8 September 2009
and became senior independent director on 9 May 2012 He
helds a vanety of external board positions, including chairman
of Wobum Enterpnses Limited, semior independent director of
Henderson Group ple and the Norfolk and Norwich University
Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust and Chairman of Roys
(Wroxham} Limited Former roles include chaiman of Rayner
and Keeler Limted and Enotna Wine Group, and non-executive
director of Peabody Capital plc Tim served as chief executive
of Majestic Wine plc, where he led the management buy-out of
the business and subsequent Altemative [nvestment Market
{AIM) flotation Pnor fo this, he was managing director of
Bejam Group plc

Jock Lennox
Independent non-executive director A

Jock Lennox was appointed as a non-executive director of
Dixons Carphone on 6 August 2014, upen completion of the
merger of Dixons Retail and Carphone Warehouse and 1s Char
of the Audit Committee Jock joined Dixons Retall plc as a
non-executive director on 10 January 2012 He ts a Chartered
Accountant and has extensive accounting and finance
expenence having worked for over 30 years (20 years as a
partner) for EY (formerdy Emst & Young) where he led a number
of relationships with international clients and held a number of
leadership positions in the UK and globally He retired from EY
in 2009 and has subsequently acted as a non-executive
dector of a number of companies He was also a council
member of the Institute of Chartered Accountants of Scottand
He i1s cunently a trustee of the Tall Ships Youth Trust and non-
executive director of A&J Mucklow Group plc, Enquest plc and
Hill and Smith Holdings plc He 1s senior independent director
of Oxford Instruments plc

Corporate Governance

Baroness Morgan of Huyton
Independent non-executive director A

Baroness Morgan of Huyton is a non-executive director of
Dixons Carphone and joined the Carphone Board as a non-
executve drector on 28 January 2010 She was a non-
executive director of Old Carphone Warehouse from 2005 to
2010 From 2001 to 2005, she was director of govermment
relations at 10 Downing Street Prior to this, Baroness Morgan
was political secretary 1o the Pnme Mimister from 1997 to 2001
and was appointed Mirister for Women and Equalities in 2001
In 2006, she was appointed as a board member of the Qlympic
Oelivery Authonty She 1s an adwvisor to the board of the
children's chanty ARK and a member of the advisory
committee of Virgin Group Holdings Limited She was
previously chaw of Ofsted

Gerry Murphy
Independent non-executive director A

Gerry Murphy 1s a non-executive director of Dixons Carphone
and joined the Carphone Board as a non-executive director on
2 Apnl 2014 He 15 a former Deloitte LLP partner and was
leader of its Professional Practices Group with direct industry
experience in consumer business, retaill and technology, media
and telecommunicatons He was a member of the Deloitte
board and chairman of its audit commuittee for a number of
years and also charman of the Audit & Assurance Faculty of
the Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales
Germy was appointed as a non-executive board member of the
Department of Health on 1 August 2014 and a non-executive
director of Capital & Counties Properties plc on 1 March 2015

Key

N Nominations Committee
A Audit Committee
R Remuneration Committee
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Chairman’s introduction

It 1s with great pleasure that | present to you my introduction

to the Corporate Governance section of the first Annual Report
and Accounts as Dixons Carphone pic The bnnging together
and ahgnment of two great bustnesses with a jont strategy and
direction s truly exciting but it 1s never more important than
now, in this ime of change, that our corporate govemnance
practices and procedures are well designed and implemented
It 1Is my intention to set out how the Company has embraced
good corporate govemance practice and how we will use

this to form a stable foundation to the building of

shareholder value

Corporate Govermnance

Good corporate govemance is at the heart of any well-run
business We receive a corporate govermnance update at every
other board meeting from our intemnal experts and have
reviewed and updated our policies and procedures, following
the Merger, to comply with the latest best practice standards
We have clearly differentiated the rotes of Group Chief
Executive (to run the business) and Chairman (to run the
Board) Our role descnptions (including that of the Senior
Independent Director} and our other board policies, such as
dwersity, time commitment, extemal appointments and
external advice have ail been renewed and refreshed The
Board will look to adopt the 2014 version of the UK Corporate
Governance Code and will report aganst itin its 2015/16
annual report and accounts The Board, in conjunction

with the Audit Committee, s considenng the business
viability statement

Board composition and role

The members of the Board were announced at the time of the
Merger and remain the same except for the departure of John
Allan Consideration 1s currently being given to replacement for
John Allan as Senier Independent Director and the Board will
update shareholders once a decision has been taken The
resignation of the Senior Independent Director (SID), coming
swiftly as it did following the Merger, has illustrated the need
for succession planning which will have an increased focus
over the next year

The Nominations Committee reviews each year the
composition of the Board, including the independence and
commitment to the Company shown by the non-executive
directors dunng the year That review also includes gender,
professional and international diversity The Board has three
female directors, one of whom 1s based out of the UK and
provides strong support on matters relating to the European
business Following this year's review it was concluded that
the Board had all necessary skills and experience to discharge
its duties fully and to challenge management effectively
where necessary

The Board and Committee Structure

As part of the annual reviews, the non-executve directors were
asked to confirm that they continue to have enough time to
dedicate to company business and all have formally done so
As a unitary board the directors acknowledge therr joint
responsibility for our success We have clearly differentiated
the roles between executive management running the business
and our non-executives, who prowvide the appropnate level of
scrutiny In this way, the Board works together to challenge
and interrogate as well as support each other with the am
being effective decision making, leadership and accountabihity
for all aspects of the business

induction

Following the Merger, each director was given the opportunity
to get to know each side of the busmess, through a
combination of formal presentations, store visits and informal
discussions The Audit Commuttee had its own induction
process ncluding access to auditor's reports and full
supporting documentation for both sides of the business which
provided an excellent understanding of the inhented position

Board evaluation

The Beard agreed that an internal review would be appropnate
for the Board evaluation this year It was conducted by the
Company Secretary and took the form of a questionnaire
completed by all Directors on several aspects of the Board and
its organisation The main finding was that the Board had
come together well n support of the business and that there
was an atmosphere of openness enabling effective challenge
and debate In 2016 the extemat board evaluation 1s due for
Dixons Carphone This timing will provide the newly merged
Board and its procedures ample time and opportunity to
embed fully, with the next evaluation process prowviding
valuable insight and results which will be reported to
shareholders tn the 2015/16 annual report and accounts

Committee structure

The main board commitiees are the Audit, Nominations and
Remuneration Committees, and a section of this report is
dedicated to each of them Beneath Board level there are
further management leve! committees which report back to
the Board as necessary

Conclusion

We have a strong, balanced board supported by sound
policies and procedures and | believe it s well placed to
take the opportunities that the future will bring | look
forward to meeting you, along with my fellow directors,
at this year's Annual Genera! Meeting

(L s

Sir Charles Dunstone
Chaiman
16 July 2015

| Dixons Carphone pic Board l

Audit Committee (page 47) | | Nominations Committee (page 52) ] memuneratlon Commuttee (page 54) |
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Comorate Govermance statement

The Board confirms that dunng the penod ended 2 May 2015
and as at the date of thus Annual Report and Accounts, the
Company has, except to the extent stated below, been in
compliance with the 2012 UK Corporate Govemance Code
{the Code)

It 1s noted that the Company has not had a named director
operating as Semor Independent Director (SID) since the
resignation of John Allan During that time the remaining
independent directors have all been avaitable to discuss items
with the Chairman as necessary and to discuss matters with
sharehelders should this be required The Company 1s
currently considering the replacernent for John Allan and

will update shareholders once the ongoing exercise has

been completed

This report, together with the Directors’ report and the reports
from the Audit, Nominations and Remuneration Committees
together provide details of how the Company has applied the
principles and complied with the provisions of the Code dunng
the year The Code can be chtained from the Financial
Reporting Council’s website, www frc org uk

Board responsibilites

The overnding responsibility of the Board 15 to prowide clear,
entrepreneunal and responsible leadership to the Group within
a framework of efficient and effective controls so as to allow
the key issues and nsks facing the business to be assessed
and managed

Composition of the Board

The Beard has 13 members, six of whom are considered by
the Company to be independent non-executive directors
These directors are John Gildersleeve, Andrea Gisle Joosen,
Tim How, Jock Lennox, Baroness Morgan of Huyton and Gerry
Murphy Half the directors excluding the Chairman are
therefore considered to be independent in accordance

with the Code

It 1s noted that John Gildersleeve was a non-executive director
of Old Carphone Warehouse for more than nine years but the
Board does not believe this affects his independence having
given detailed consideration to his performance and the extent
to which he has shown himself to be ndependent of
management in thought and action dunng the penod under
review As a result, the Company confirms that John
Gildersleeve continues to show independence in his

scrutiny and challenge to the Company and directors and
therefore continues to be classified as an independent non-
executive director

Each of the directors will stand for election / re-election at the
Company's Annual General Meeting Biographical information
1s shown on pages 36 and 37

The dvision of responsibility between the Chaiman and the
Group Chief Executive 1s formally defined, set out in wnting
and 1s reviewed by the Board on an annual basis, as it was on
8 March 2015 The Chairman s responsible for the overall
operation, leadership and govemance of the Board The Group
Chief Executive 1s responsible for the executive management
of the Group's business and for implementing the Group's
strategic and commercial objectives

Corporate Governance

The role of the SID1s to support the Chaiman and be available
for approach or representation from shareholders who feel they
are unable to raise issues with the Chairman directly Since the
resignation of John Allan the Board has operated without a
SID The Board has a strong line up of independent non-
executive directors who have all been available for the
shareholders to contact in absence of a formal SID Under the
role of the SID, which is clearly defined, set out In wnting and
reviewed annually by the Board, the SID also discusses, with
the Chairman the results of his performance review This role
was undertaken by Jock Lennox for the 2015 review
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Reserved matters

There are documented schedules of matters reserved to the
Board and matters delegated to Committees of the Board
Such reserved matters include

+ approval of published financial statements and
dividend pohcy,

= declarabon of ntenm and recommendation of
final dnadends,

+ approval of budget and strategy,

= appointment and remuneration of directors, company
secretary and other senior executives,

+ approval of major acquisitions and disposals,
+ approval of autherity levels for expenditure,
+ approval of Group policies, and
+ approval of treasury / intemal control and nsk
management policies
Board attendance

The Board held two strategy sessions in addition to meeting on
ten scheduled occasions dunng the penod under review

Member Appointed Resigned  Attendance
Charles Dunstone 10 0f 10
Roger Taylor 10 of 10
Sebastian James 6 Aug 2014 7of7
Andrew Harmson 100f 10
Humphrey Singer 6 Aug 2014 7of?7
Katie Bickerstaffe 6 Aug 2014 7of?7
Graham Stapleton 6 Aug 2014 7of7
John Gildersleeve 100of 10
Andrea Gisle Joosen 6 Aug 2014 7of7
Tim How 6 Aug 2014 7of?7
Jock Lennox 6 Aug 2014 70f7
Baroness Morgan

of Huyton™ 9of10
Gerry Murphy 100f 10
Former Directors
John Allwood® 6 Aug 2014 Jof3
John Allan® 6 Aug 2014 17 Feb 2015 6of6
Nigel Langstaff 6 Aug 2014 30f3

(1) Baroness Morgan of Huyton missed one scheduled meeting due
to a pnor commitment that had been armanged before the Merger
and the subsequent change of Board dates

{2) John Allwood was the Senior Independent Director untd his
resignation when John Allan took on thus role until his resignation
on 17 February 2015

40 Dixons Carphonae plc Annual Report and Accounts 2014/15




Committee members

There are three main Board Committees Audit, Nommations and Remuneration The Committees are provided with sufficient
resources via the Company Secretary and, where necessary, have direct access to independent professional advisors to

undertake therr dubes
Audit Nominations Remuneration

{page 47} {page 52) {page 54
Sir Charles Dunstone C
John Gildersleeve M C
Andrea Gisle Joosen M M 8
Tim How M g
Jock Lennox C -
Gerry Murphy M ‘;
Baroness Margan of Huyton M 5
Roger Taylor M 8
Former Directors
John Allwood (rasigned 6 August 2014} C M
John Allan (resigned 17 February 2015) M M

C=Char M -Member

Board governance matters

The Chairman 1s responsible for ensunng that all directors are
properly bnefed on issues ansing at Board meetings and that
they have full and timely access to relevant information The
Company uses an electronic board paper system which
enables the fast dissemination of quality information in a safe
and secure manner All Board papers are sent out on a timely
basis with sufficient information for the directors to be able to
discharge ther dutes Formal minutes of the Board and
Committee meetings are prepared by the Company Secretary
and approved by the Board / Commuttees at therr next meeting

The Chaiman meets regularly with all the non-executive
directors, usually on an evening pnor to a Board meeting when
board dinners are held This provides the opportunity to
discuss amongst other matters, corporate strategy and
business performance

The Board holds meetings at a vanety of the Group's locations
to help all Board members gain a deeper understanding of the
business This also provides senior management from across
the Group with the opportunity to meet the Board Whilst no
visits took place for the penod under review, In May 2015, the
Board held a meeting at its distnbution centre in Newark and in
June 2015 held ancther meeting at its headquarters in Norway
This enabled the Board to meet members of the tearn and
senior management and to visit stores and other elements of
the Group's business

New directors appointed to the Board receive a talored
nduction programme, together with guidance and traiming
appropnate to their level of previous expenence Each director
15 given the opportunity to meet with senior management and
store colleagues and to visit the Group'’s sites both in the UK
and overseas This enables famillansation with the businesses,
operations, systerns and markets in which the Group operates
New directors are also encouraged to meet with the Group's
auditor and adwvisors

The Board receives an update on corporate governance best
practice at every other megting

Performance evaluation

The internal annual review of Board effectiveness and the
balance of skills, knowledge and expenence of the directors
was conducted as usual duning the pencd under review In
addition, the Code recommends that the performance of the
Board be reviewed extemally every three years The last
external review of the Company was camed out by NJMD
Corporate Services in May 2013, therefore the next extemal
evaluation is due In 2016

The internal review thus year nvolved

» indwvidual directors responding to separate questionnarres
which were collated by the Company Secretary The results
were then presented to and discussed by the Board and a
plan of action established to address any areas of
improvement The areas covered included, but were not
imited to, the roles of the executive and non-executive
directors, the Board, Beard Commuttees, the Chairman,
preparation for and performance at meetings, the
effectiveness of each director, leadership, culture and
corporate governance As part of this evaluation, the
Chairman discussed any personal development needs
that were \dentfied with each director,

+ In the absence of a SID at the tme of the performance
evaluation, Jock Lennox reviewed the results of the
performance evaluation questionnaire completed by all of
the directors apart from the Chainman on the Charman's
performance He then discussed the results of that review
with the Chairman and an action plan was prepared The
Board 1s of the opinion that the Chairman had no other
significant commitments dunng the year that adversely
affected his performance in his role and that he continues to
lead the Board effectively whilst creating an atmosphere of
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open discussion where challenge and debate 1s welcomed,
and

+ The Committees each performed a self-evaluation of their
obligations on the basis of a detaled questionnaire relating
to each area of responsibility No major areas for action were
identified

Following the results of the evaluation, the Board confirms that
all directors continue to be effective and demonstrate a
commitment to the role, including having time to attend all
necessary meelings and to carry out other appropnate duties

It was noted that one area for greater emphasis coming out of
this review was succession planning At the time of the Merger
careful consideration was given to what skills were needed to
best lead the Group during this penod of integration The
Board was appointed accordingly With the integration well
underway, the evaluation found that more emphasis now
needs to be placed on succession planning for these critical
board roles

Captal and constitutional disclosures

Information on the Company's share caprtal and constitution
reguired to be included in this Corporate Govemance
statement are contained on page 45 of this report Such
information is incorporated into this Corporate Governance
statement by reference and 1s deemed to be part of it

Risk and intemal controls

Risk managernent

The Group has established a nsk management programme
that assists management to identify, assess and mitigate
business, financial, operational and compliance nsks The
Board views nsk management as integral to good business
practice and protecting the best interests of shareholders
Executive management of the Group has direct responsibility
for the nsk management programmes of ther businesses The
Board’s focus 1s pnmanly on reviewing the effectiveness of
these processes, rather than involving itself in the processes
thernselves Specific controls and processes are detalled
further below

The Group's nsk management framework ams to

+ assist management to implement effective means of nsk
identification, assessment and mitigation,

nstil a nsk-based approach and awareness into the Group's
culture,

» encourage accountability for identifying and managing the
nsks specific to ine managers’ respective areas of the
business, and

+ create and mmplement nsk management strategies which
address all types of nsks

The Group maintains a nsk register the principal nsks of which
are set out on pages 16 to 19 Serior managers within the
business are responsible for managing and monitonng the
nsks identified within their areas, and kentifying new nsks as
they anse Each nsk identified 15 ranked accordmg to a score
based on the likelihood of an event occumng and its impact
on the business should 1t occur due to either fallure or absence
of miigating controls Mitigating controls in place are also
documented

intemal controf

As in any business, the Group faces a number of nsks and
uncertamnties on a dally basis, and a detalled internal control
framework exists so as to mitigate these nsks and protect the
nterests of shareholders The directors have overall
responsibility for the Group's systems of intemal control and
for reviewing effectiveness, and they discharge this
responsibility by performing the following

» determining the Group’s nisk appetite and tolerance,
+ pverseeing the nsk management strategy, and

+ ensunng that management implements effective systems
of nsk identification, assessment and mitigation

The Board delegates to executive management the
responsibility for desigring, operating and monitonng these
systems The systems are based on a process of dentifying,
evaluating and managing signrficant nsks and include the nsk
management processes set out above

The systems of intemal control descrbed in this report were In
place throughout the penod under review and up to the date of
approval of the annual report and financial statements The
effectiveness of these systems 1s penodically reviewed by the
Audit Committee in accordance with the Code, and the other
good practice guidance issued by the FRC in relation to
intemal control These systems are also refined as necessary
to meet changes In the Group's business and associated nsks
They can only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance
agamnst material errors, losses, fraud or breaches of laws

and regulatons

The Company has conducted an annual review of the
effectiveness of the systems of nsk management and intemal
control In eperation dunng the year and up to the date of the
approval of the Annual Report and Accounts which was
approved by the Audt Committee and the Board

At each of its meetings the Audit Committee reviewed and
considered reports on the status of the Group's nsk
management systems, findings from reviews of intemal
controls and reports on the status of any weaknesses in
intemal controls identified by the intemal or external auditors
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Intemal audit

The Group has an intemal audit department which conducts
reviews of selected business processes each year The intemal
audit programme for 2014/15 consisted of reviews across a
range of areas documented and pricntised in the Group’s
intemal audit plan, which was prepared and approved with
nput from management and the Audit Commuittee The plan s
designed each year to test the robustness of mitigating
controls and procedures are designed to identify any areas of
improvement Part of the approval process of this plan involves
the Audit Committee’s consideration of aignment of the plan
with the pnncipal nsks faced by the Group As such this plan
was revised and re-presented to the Aucit Committee agam
following the Merger to capture the key nsks of the

combined Group

The Audit Committee Chairman receives and reviews all
reports from the ntemal audst department detaling its matenal
findings from testing performed and any recommendations for
improvement The Audit Commuttee receives a summary of
these reports at each meeting, with the full reports avallable to
all members on request The progress and implementation of
ensuing action plans are tracked to complebon by the intemal
audit department, and follow up procedures performed where
additional controls have been put in place to ensure that the
new controls have been implemented effectively

The Audit Committee considered the effectiveness of the
internal audrt department through holding discussions with
management, considenng the quality of reports submitted to
the Committee, the timeliness of the clearance of action points,
and the perceived impartiality of the audit team itself The
Committee concluded that the internal audit department has in
all respects been effective dunng the penod under review

Authonsation of conflicts of interest

The Company has procedures in place to identify, authonse
and manage conflicts of interest which have operated
effectively Potential conflicts are approved by the Board or
two independent directors where authonsation s needed
quickly and then reported to the main Board at its next
meeting A register of directors' conflicts 1s maintained

Communication with investors

The Board supports the inhatives set out in the Code and

the Stewardship Code and actively encourages engagement
with major institutional investors and other stakeholders It
believes that it 1s important to explan business developments
and financial results to the Company's shareholders and

to understand shareholder concerns The pnincipal
communication media used to impart information to
shareholders are news releases (Including results
announcements), investor presentations and

company publications

The Group Chief Executive has lead responsibility for investor
relations He 1s supported by a dedicated investor relations
department that, amongst cther matters, crganises
presentations for analysts and institutional investors There

15 a full programme of regular dialogue with major institutional
sharehelders and potential shareholders as well as sell-side
analysts In all such dialogue, care 1s taken to ensure that no
price sensttive information 1s released

The Chairman ensures that the Board recewves regular updates
at Board meetings on investor relations matters The Board
also recerves penodic reports on Investers' views of the
performance of the Company The Chairman and non-
executiva directors, are available to meet with major
shareholders, If such meetings are required and the Chaiman
of the Remuneration Committee communicates with major
shareholders on matters of remuneration and has conducted
vanous remuneration consultations dunng the perod under
review For more information on the remuneration
consultations, please refer to the Remuneration report

on pages 54 to 74

Corporate Governance

The Company 1s committed to communication with all of s
members, whether mstitutional mvestors, pnivate or employee
shareholders The Company reports formally to its members
when its full year and half year results are published These
results are posted on the investor relations part of the
corporate website n additon to other extemnal announcements
and press releases

The Company also commurucates with shareholders through
the annual general meeting, at which an account of the
progress of the business over the last year s given in addition
to a review of current issues This also prowvides the opportunity
for shareholders to ask questions The directors, including the
chaimen of the Audit, Nominations and Remuneration
Committees attend the annual general meeting In accordance
with the Code, formal notification of the Company's annual
general meeting 1S sent to shareholders at least 20 working
days in advance of the meeting

Further financial and business information 1s avallable on the
Group's corporate website

(It Pt

Sir Charles Dunstone
Charman
16 Juty 2015
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Directors’ report

Comorate Govemnance statement

The Corporate Governance statement as required by Rule

7 2 1 of the UKLA's Disclosure and Transparency Rules (DTRs)
15 set out on page 39 of this Annual Report and Accounts All
information detalled in the Corporate Governance statement 1s
incorporated by reference into this Directors’ report and 1s
deemed to form part of ttus Directors’ report

FCA’s Disclosure and Transparency Rules

For the purposes of DTR 4 1 5R (2) and DTR 4 1 8, this
Directors’ report and the Strategic report on pages 2 to 35
compnse the management report

Employee involvement

The Group places significant emphasis on its employees’
involvement in the business at all levels Managers are
remunerated according to results wherever possible and
employees are kept informed of issues affecting the Group
through formal and informal meetings and through the Group's
intemal publications The management team regularly
communicates matters of current interest and concem with
employees Further information on employee engagement 1s
included in the report on corporate responsibility on pages 27
to 22 Detatls of the Group’s employee share plans are
contained in the Remuneration report

Employment of disabled people

It s the Group's policy to encourage application for
employrment from disabled people and to assist with ther
traiming and career development, having regard to particular
apbtudes and abilites Every endeavour 1s made to find
suitable alternative employment and to retrain any employee
who becomes disabled while serving the Group

Information on greenhouse gas emissions

The information on greenhouse gas emisstons that the
Company 15 required to disclose i1s set out on page 32 of this
Annual Report and Accounts This information is incorporated
into this Directors’ report by reference and 1s deemed o form
part of this report

Donations

No political donations were made dunng the penod by
the Group

Change of name

On 6 August 2014 the Company changed its name from
Carphone Warehouse Group Public Limited Company to
Dixons Carphone pic

Directors

The names, biographies and dates of appointment of the
current Board of directors are provided on pages 36 and 37
Former directors nclude John Allan {appointed 6 August 2014
and resigned 17 February 2015), John Allwood (resigned

6 August 2014) and Nigel Langstaff {resigned 6 August 2014)

With regard to the appomtment and replacement of directors,
the Company 1s govemed by #s Articles of Association, the
Code, the Companies Act and related legislation The Articles
themselves may be amended by special resolution of the
shareholders The Board has the power to appoint new
directors to fill a vacancy as long as the total number of
Directors shall not exceed the maximum of 15 as set out in the
Articles Any director appointed by the Board will be appointed
until the next annual general meeting where they shall stand for
re-election by shareholders

In line with best practice and the Code, the Company has
determined that all directors will retire and offer themselves
for election or re-elechion at the 2015 Annual General Meeting
The Remuneration report prowides details of applicable service
agreements for executive directors and terms of appointment
for non-executive directors Each of the directors proposed
for re-election are being unanimously recommended for
re-election / electron by the Board by virtue of therr skills,
expenence and contribution to the Board This
recommendation follows a performance evaluation of the
Board and the contnbution of indmdual directors

Ounng the year, no director had any matenal interest in any
contract of significance to the Group’s business Their
interests, ncluding those of any connected persons, n

the shares of the Company are outhned in the Annual
Remuneration report

Subject to the Company’s Articles of Association, the
Companies Act and any directions given by the Company

by special resolution, the business of the Company will be
managed by the Board who may exercise all the powers of the
Company, whether relating to the management of the bustness
of the Company or not The matters reserved for the Board are
detailed n a specific schedule, which 1s reviewed annually and
details are provided in the Corporate Govemance report

Directors’ indemnities and insurance

The Company has made qualifying third party indemnity
provisions {as defined in the Companies Act 2006) for the
benefit of its directors dunng the year, these provisions reman
in force at the date of this report

In accordance with the Company's Articles of Assocration, and
to the extent permitted by law, the Company may indemnify its
directors out of its own funds to cover liabilities iIncurred as a
result of their office The Group holds Directors’ and Officers’
Liability Insurance cover for any clawn brought aganst directors
or officers for wrongful acts in connection with their posttions
The insurance provided does not extend to claims ansing from
fraud or dishonesty

Information required by Listing Rule 8 8 4R

There 15 no information reguired to be disclosed under Listing
Rule 9 8 4R

Directors’ responsibilibes

The directors’ responsibilities for the financial statements
contaned within this Annual Report and Accounts and the
directors’ confirmations required under Disclosure and
Transparency Rule 4 1 12 are set out on page 75
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Capital structure

The Company’s only class of share 1s ordinary shares Details
of the movements in 1ssued share capital dunng the year are
provided in note 21 to the Group financtal statements The
voting nghts of Dixons Carphone pic shares are dentical with
each share carmying the nght to one vote Dixons Carphone plc
holds no shares in treasury and did not make any market
purchases of its own shares during the year under review

Details of employee share schemes are provided in note 5 to
the Group financial statements The Carphone Warehouse
ESCOT held 791,100 shares on 2 May 2015 (2014 4 9 million
shares) and the Dixons Retail plc ESOT held 151,829 shares
Both ESOTs have waived therr nght to receive dividends

Restnctions on transtfer of secunties of the Company

There are no specific restnctions on the size of a holding nor
on the transfer of shares, which are both govemed by the
general provisions of the Articles of Association and prevailing
legislation The directors are not aware of any agreements
between holders of the Company’s shares that may resuit in
restnctions on the transfer of secunties or on voting nghts

No persan has any special nghts of control over the
Company's share capital and all 1ssued shares are fully paid

Change of control - significant agreements

The Company does not have any significant agreements which
contain change of control clauses other than for its borrowings
Further details are disclosed in note 17 to the Group financial
statements Such nformation 1s incorporated into this Directors’
report by reference and 1s deemed to form part of this report

In addition, provisions under the rules of the Company’s share
ncentive schemes may cause ophons and awards granted
under these schemes to vest and become exercisable in the
event of a change of control

Signrficant shareholdings

At 2 May 2015, the Company had been notified, in accordance
with Chapter 5 of the Disclosure and Transparency Rules of
the UK Financial Conduct Authonty, of the following interests
of over 3% n the voting nghts of the Company

Dividend

The Board has proposed a final dividend for the year ended
2 May 2015 Details of this and other dvidends paid for the
year are as follows

13 months Year

endad endad

2 May 215 29 Mar 2014

Intenm dividend 25p 20p
Final dimdend 60p 4 0p
Tota! ordinary 8.5p 60p

Number of Percentage of
Name shares share tzpital
BlackRock, Inc 64,226,251 558%
Standard bLife Investments 57,001,657 495%
D P J Ross 56,388,699 4 89%

Al 16 July 2015 no change in these shareholdings had
been notified

Directors’ interests in the Company's shares and the
movements thereon are detailed in the Remuneration
report on pages 71 to 73

The nght to receive any dividend has been waived in part by
the Trustees of the Company's Employee Share Ownership
Trusts over a combined holding of 942,929 shares

Issue of shares

In accordance with section 551 of the Comparnies Act 2006,
shareholders can authonse the directors to allot shares in the
Company up to one third of the 1ssued share capital of the
Company Accordingly, at the 2014 annual general meeting
shareholders approved a resolution to give the directors
authonty to allot shares up to an aggregate nominal value of
£192,022 59 The directors were also authonsed to allot shares
1n relation to the Merger up to an aggregate nominal amount
of £576,067 77

The directors have no present intention to issue ordinary
shares, other than pursuant to obligations under employee
share schemes This resolution remains vaiid untit the
conclusion of this year's Annual General Meeting when

a resolution will be proposed to renew the authonty

Authonty was given by the shareholders at the 2014 annual
general meeting to purchase a maxsmum of 57,606,776 shares,
such authonty remaining valid for 15 months or until the
conclusion of the Company’s 2015 Annual General Meeting
The authonity was not exercised dunng the penod or pnor to
the date of this report The Company will seek the usual
renewal of this authonty at the forthcoming Annual General
Meeting but has no current intention to make such purchases
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Use of financial nstruments

Information about the use of financial nstruments 1s given
n note 25 to the Group financial statements

Auditor

Each director at the date of approval of this Annual Report and
Accounts confirms that

+ 5o far as the director 1s aware, there 15 no relevant audit
information of which the Company's auditor 1s unaware,
and

» the director has taken all the steps that he / she ought to
have taken as a director in order to make himself / herself
aware of any relevant audit Information and to establish
that the Company's auditor 1s aware of that information

This confirmation is given and should be interpreted n
accordance with the provisions of section 418 of the
Companies Act 2006

Deloitte LLP have expressed their willingness to continue in
office as auditor and a resolution to re-appoint them will be
proposed at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting

Certain information required to be included in this Directors’
report may be found withn the Strategic report

By Order of the Board

NS sl

Nige! Paterson
Company Secretary
16 July 2015
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Audit Committee report

Chairman's statement

Introduction

| present to you the report of the Audit Commuttee, the first of
the merged Carphone Warehouse and Dixons Retal In this
covenng letter | have set out cur key areas of activity within
our overarching objective of ensunng that the systems and
controls relating to the financial management and reporting
of Dixons Carphone pl¢ are approprate

The Merger has been a significant undertaking The activities of
integration to create the new organisation have had a major
bearing on our work We have focused on ensunng that,
notwithstanding the significant change that has been taking
place, the Group has the appropnate intemal control and nsk
management systems in place to satsfy the financial reporting
and management requirements We are grateful to our financial
management and intemal and external auditors for the
unstinting efforts they have made in this regard

Merger and induction

Al members of the Audit Committee were previously members
of the Carphone Warehouse or Dixons Retail audit committees
We have therefore had the benefit of significant expenence of
the legacy businesses

We recognised that we needed to inform the committee
members about the entire merged group so embarked upon
an early induction process This involved shanng papers on
key judgerents and significant accounting policies in the
legacy businesses, arranging briefings with management on
topics relating to ‘the other side’, and participating in broader
induchon activities on strategy, store visits and the ke Each
committee member was encouraged to request any further
induction information that they required

Key activities
In addition to assimilating the vanous sources of information on
the Group, the Audit Committee's work included the following

+ considered reports by management on how the financial
organisation would be structured and how the financial
reporting would be prepared in the short and longer term,

+ debated the accounting and financial reporting for the
Merger, recewving reports from financial management and
the external auditor to support the conclusions reached,

+ approved the formation of the merged internal audit group
and the plan of work,

+ requested and considered a review by intemal audit,
supported by the appropnate commercial management,
on the supplier rebate terms and processes across the
Group, the review concluded that the accounting being
adopted is satisfactory,

+ received presentations from management on tapics from
the nsk agenda including IT strategy (including secunty and
control} and HR, and

+ considered the vanious corporate transactions that have
taken place in addition to the Merger, the accounting for
these and overall that the financial reporting for the Group
1s fair, balanced and understandable

Looking ahead

It has been a busy year for the Group with much of the
financial reporting pnonty being on the Merger tself and the
need to maintain a controlled environment across the legacy
businesses

The Group's activity will now tum to building the longer terrn
systems, processes and organisation as well as conforming
with the new requirements of the 2014 UK Corporate
Govemance Code and the FRC Guidance on Risk
Management, Intemal Controt and Related Financial and
Bustness Reporting This will include adopting the longer term
viabihty statement for the first time The development of the IT
strategy and control framework will remain an area of focus for
the committee in the year ahead

I will be in attendance at the Annual General Meeting and will
be available to talk to you then In the meantime if you have
any questions please do get in touch

&ac}f, L\_ww-sj

Jock Lennox
Charman of the Audit Committes
16 July 2015
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Members

In comphance with the Code, the Committee compnses
exclusively non-executive directors, who, along with therr
attendance at scheduled meetings, are set out in the table
below

Meetings

The Committee met three scheduled times with one
addrional ad-hoc meeting called dunng the penod Since
the year end there have been two further Committes
meetings All ehgible members attended each of the
meetings dunng which they were a member of the
Committee, except as outlined below The Group Chief
Executive, Group Finance Director, Group Director of
Internal Audit, other sentor management and
representatives of the Company’s extemal auditor (Deloitte
LLLP) attended the Audit Committee mestings by imatation

Scheduled
Current members Meostings
Jock Lennox® 20f2
Baroness Morgan of Huyton® 20f3
Gerry Murphy 30f3
Formes rmembers

John Allanih® 2of2
John Allwood # 10f1
John Gildersleeve™ 10f1

(1) Appointed 6 August 2014

{2) Baroness Morgan of Huyton missed one scheduled meeting
due to a pnor commitment that had been arranged before the
Merger and the subsequent change of committee dates

(3) Resigned 17 February 2015

{4) Resigned 6 August 2014

{5) Resigned from the Committee - 6 August 2014

The Board 1s satisfied that the Chairman of the Committes, a
member of the Institute of Chartered Accountants of Scotland,
meets the requirement for recent and relevant financial
expenence The Company Secretary acts as Secretary to the
Committee and attends all meetings The Committee's
deliberations are reported by its Chairman to the following
Board meeting and the minutes of each meeting are circulated
to all members of the Board following approval

At each meeting there may be a discussion between the
Committee members and the external auditor without the
presence of management in order to allow discussion of
private matters which the auditor may wish to raise
Occasionally a discussion may be held between Commuttee
mermmbers, the external auditor and the Group Director of
Intemal Audit if appropnate

In undertalang ts duties the Commuttee has access to the
services of the Group Finance Director, his team and the
Company Secretary, as well as external professional advice
as necessary In addition the Chaiman meets with the
external auditor outside of formal meetings and without
management present

External advice

The Board makes funds available to the Committee to enable it
to take independent legal, accounting or other adwice when the
Committes believes it necessary to do so

Responsibilities

The Committee assists the Board to fulfil its oversight
respenstbilities by acting independently from the executive
drrectors There 1s an annual schedule of items which are
shared across the meetings dunng the year to ensure the
Committee covers fully those tems within its terms of
reference These items are supplemented throughout the year
as key matters anse

The Committee has the following principal duties

« monitonng the integnty of the half year and full year financial
statements and any forma! announcements relating to the
Group’s financial performance,

- review the results and conclusions of work performed by the
external auditor,

adwising the Board on whether, as a whole, the Annual
Report and Accounts 1s far, balanced and understandable,

« reviewing significant financial reporting judgements,

+ reviewing the Group’s financial controls and internal control
and nsk management systems,

monitoring and reviewing the effectiveness of the
Company's internal audit function,

+ making recommendations to the Board in relation to the
appointment of the external audstor;

reviewing and monitonng the relationship with the extemat
audrtors, including therr iIndependence, objectivity,
effectiveness, remungration and terms of engagement,

» considenng whistleblowing arrangements by which
employees may raise concems about possible impropneties
in matters of financial reporting or other matters,

+ any specific topics as defined by the Board, and

+ refemng matters to the Board which, in its opinion, should
be addressed at a meeting of the Board

The terms of reference of the Audit Committee are reviewed
annually by the Board and are available on the Group's
corporate website (www dixonscarphone com)

Key matters considered dunng the year

Accounting and financial reporting matters

The Committee Is responsible for monitonng the integnty of the
half year and annual financial statements in conjunction with
both serior management and the extemal auditor Following
the Merger, management presented the Committee with the
accounting policies and practices of both legacy businesses
These were then debated and a combined set of policies and
practices agreed with no significant adjustments required in
respect of etther business Dunng the penod ended 2 May
2015 consideration was given to the following matters

» the sutability of the Group's accounting policies and
practices,
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= compliance with financial reporting and governance + whether the Annual Report and Accounts, taken as a whole,

standards, 1s far, balanced and understandable and provides sufficient ‘
- areas where significant levels of judgement have been information necessary for shareho!ders and other users of ‘
applied or items which have been discussed with the the accounts to assess the Group's performance, business

extemal auditor;

* updated accounting and corporate govemance regulations, prepared by management and reports receved from the

and

The Comrmittee recerved reports and recommendations from management and the external auditor setting out the significant
accounting 1ssues and judgements applicable to the following key areas These were discussed and challenged, where
appropnate, by the Committee Following debate, the Commuttee concurred with management’s conclusions

model and strategy To assist with discharging these
responsibilities, the Commuttee considers documents

extenal auditor on the outcomes of their annual and half
year audit procedures

Matters of significance and
araas of judgement

How the issue was addressed by the Committee

Corporate Governance

Revenue recognition

Revenue recognition 1s considered to be a cntical accounting policy and the judgements are set out In
note 1 u) of the Group financial stalements Key components of jJudgement are In refation to the
recognition of network commisston recervable and aiso in relation to customer support agreements

The Committee reviewed management's assessment of these policies with reference to contractual
terms, the Group's histoncal expenence of customer behaviour and information received from third
parties as well as histoncal clams data in respect of customer support agreements

Accounting for the Merger

The Commitiee discussed, challenged and assessed the assumptions made in relation to valuing the
assets and habilities acquired as part of the Merger which concluded in net labilities acquired of

£647 millon In addition, the Committee reviewed the consideration for the Menger fransaction and the
allocation of goodwilt between the different Cash Generated Units acquired

This valuation exercise iIncluded extemnal as well as intemal valuations which incorporated management
judgement The Committee reviewed and, where relevant, challenged the methodologies used in
calculating the fair values which have been recognised as set out in note 23 to the Group financial
statements

Disposal accounting

The Committee reviewed the judgements taken in the caleulation of gains and losses made in respect of
the disposal transactions of Virgin Mobile France as well as the operations in Germany, the Netherands
and Portugal The Committee also assessed the appropnateness of therr treatment as assets held for
sale then further as discontinued operations as concluded by managerment, as set out in note 24 to the
Group financial statements

Supplier funding

A number of arrangements exist relating to supplier funding across the Group, including promotional
support and volume rebates This topic received increased focus by management which culminated in
a presentation to the Commttee from the Group Director of Internal Audit Additional testing in this area
was also camed out by the external auditor The Committee challenged and debated with management
its approach to suppler funding and its recognition and accounting treatment and no major Issues were
noted Further information in refation to supplier funding can be found in note 1 u) to the Group financal
statements

Inventory provisioning

Inventory 15 a significant balance for the Group, as set out in note 12 to the Group financial statements
and contains managenal judgement for such tems as obsolescence and shnnkage As part of the
general committee procedures managenal jJudgement was assessed and no major 1ssues noted

Impaimment testing of goodwill and
intangible assets

Sgnificant goodwill and acquisiion intangibles were recogmised as part of the accounting for the Merger
which compnsed goodwill of £2 629 mifion and acqusition intangibles of £373 milion The Commitiee !
considered the jJudgements winch had been made in relation to the values held in the balance sheet, in '
addition to the methodology used i assessing the supportabiity of the year end goodwill balance and

assessing for any potential mpairment A sensitvity analysis was then reviewed regarding the mpact

of a reasonably possible change m the key assumptions These assumptions are set out innote 9 to the

Group financial statements
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Matters of significance and
areas of judgement

How the 1ssue was addressed by the Committee

Faw, balanced and understandable

As part of this assessment, as well as evaluating the narrative reporting attnbutable 1o the Headline
results and financial position of the Group, the Commuttee reviewed the key judgement conceming the
classification of tems between Headline and Non-Headline, including consideration of the €89 million
pre-tax Non-Headline charges This assessment considered whether items fell within the Group's
definiion of Non-Headline as well as the consistency of treatment of such tems year on year

This assessment was central to the Committee’s consideration of the integnty and sufficiency of
information disclosed in the Annual Report and Accounts along with other salient matters to ensure that,
taken as a whole, 1t 1s fair, balanced and understandable and expfans the Group’s performance,
business model and strategy This includled an assessment of narrative reporting to ensure consistency
with the financial reporting section

Taxation

The Group operates across multiple tax jurisdictions The complex nature of tax legislation in certain
junsdictions can necessiate the use of judgement [n addition, management also uses assurnptions and
judgements to assess the kkelihood of utilsation of available tax losses

The Committee also reviewed judgements and assumptions concerning any significant provisions,
wcluding progress made on matters being discussed with tax authonties and where applicable acvice

provided by external advisors

Going concern

The Cormittes was presented with an assessment of the Group's future cash forecasts and profit

projections, avallable facihbies, facility headroom, banking covenants and the results of a sensiteity
analysis performed, including having regard to the current uncertainties in the Greek economy The
Commitiee discussed this with management n addition to management’s analysis which was performed
with reference to budgeted revenue and eamings levels for the coming years The Committee was
satisfied that the going concem basis of preparation continues to be appropnate for the Group

intemal controf and risk management

The Committee 1s responsible for reviewing the Group's
internal control and nsk management systems In order to
discharge its responsibilities in this area, in addition to its other
responsibilities, the Committee reviewed the following key
tems

« the annual Audit Committee agenda,

+ common control themes identified throughout the business,
including key management dependencies Where this was
identified subsequent action has been taken to minimise
the nsk,

« the assessment of the Group's response to information
secunty and data protection nsks,

* the combined Group’s responsibilities relating to those
aspects of the Group that are regulated,

-« the financial controls framework and its subsequent
assessment by internal audit, and

+ the new govemance and nsk management framework put
in place throughout the merged Group

Intemal audit

The Committee 1s also responsible for monitonng and
reviewing the effectiveness of its intemal avdit function Dunng
the penod the following significant nsk areas of the business
were included withun intemal audit reviews

« information secunty and data protection,
« IT governance and IT nsk managerment, and

= business continuity

In addition, as part of a three year rolling programme, audits
were performed over the following financial processes to
provide assurance to the Audit Committee that controls were
cperating within these areas

* suppler funding,

« payroll,
+ procurement and purchase to pay

In addition to considenng any significant 1ssues ansing from
the results of the audits shown above, the Committee also
formally reviewed the effectiveness of internal audit and the
adequacy of its resources

External audit

The external audrtor 1s appointed by shareholders to provide
an opinion on the financial statements and certain disclosures
prepared by Group management Deloitte LLP acted as the
extemal auditor to the Group throughout the year The
Committee 1s responsible for oversight of the external auditor,
ncluding approving the annual audit plan and all assocated
audit fees

The key matters in relation to extema! audn that were
considered by the Committee were

+ the annual audit plan,

+ the annual audit fee and fees for non-audit services which
are set out in note 3 to the Group financial statements, with
due regard to the balance between audit and non-audit fees
and the policy for approval of non-audit fees paid to the
Group's auditor,
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+ the effectiveness of the external auditor Feedback on the
effectiveness of the audit process in addressing areas of
key audit nsk was obtained from members of the Audit
Committee and regular attendees, members of the finance
team and senior management within the businesses via a
specifically designed questionnaire The responses were
then considered by the Commuttee in conjunction with the
outputs recewved and responsiveness of the auditor during
the audit process The results showed a positive view of the
audit process and of Deloitte as the external auditor,
spectfically in relation to the high qualty and integnity of the
tearn, the constructive relationship and effectiveness of the
communication Following due consideration the Committee
contrues to be satisfied with the quality and effectiveness
of the audit, and

+ sigrificant issues and areas of judgement ansing from
reports from the extemal auditor, which mn addition to those
matters referred to above, included IT controls and nsks
These areas were set out in the reports from the external
auditor and were discussed with the Committee The
Committee concluded that the judgements taken and
assumptions made were all farr and reasonable

Provision of non-audrt services provided by the
external auditor

The Committee has a formal policy on auditor independence
which specifies the types of work from which the extemal
auditor 1s excluded and those which the auditor may perform
In July 2015 the Audit Committee approved a change to this
policy, further restncting non-audit services, so that after a
short transitional penod the only services permitted by the
extemnal auditor will be audit services and certain other audit
related services (pnmarnly those related to the role of reporting
accountant and or audit reports on financial information
provided by the Group) All non-audit fee proposals are subject
to pre-approval and must be submitted to the Group Financial
Controller Where assignments are expected to generate fees
of over £100,000, approval must be obtained from the Audit
Committee in advance

Dunng the penod under review, the non-audit services
performed by the external auditor pnmanly related to activities
in relation to the Merger, assignments which were closely
related to the annual audit or work of such a nature thata
detalled understanding of the Group was necessary The Audit
Committee reviewed the services performed by the external
auditor dunng the year and are satisfied that these services did
not prejudice the extemal auditor’s independence and that 1t
was appropnate for them to perform these services

The leve! of non-audtt fees paid to the extemal auditor, which
was approved by the Committee I1s set out in note 3 to the
Group financial statements and amounted to £1 9 million
compared to £2 0 milhon of audit fees Excluding the effect of
acting as reporting accountants for the Merger, the proportion
of non-audit fees vs audt fees was 28%

Due to the change m the auditor independence policy
detaled above, and following the completion of the Merger,
non-audit fees incurred by the Group are expected to reduce
n the future

Consideration of audrtor appointment and independence

On an ongoing basis the Committee considers the
appropnateness of the re-appointment of the external auditor,
inctuding rotation of the audit partner Deloitte LLP has been
the extemal auditor since the Group’s formation in 2010
{followang the demerger of TalkTalk Group) Deloitte LLP was
also the external auditor of Dixons Retaill The current tead
audit partner has been in place for four years (partner rotation
15 required on a five yearly basis}

The Committee will continue to consider the requirements

of the Code and also the recent Competition & Markets
Authonty's Final Order which 1s now designed to align with the
new European Union Regulation 547/2014 (which allows
companies greater flexibility) on audit tendenng and rotation
timings  Under current guidance Delortte can continue to be
reappainted for year ends beginning before June 2023, at
which point we would be required to change A tender process
would then be undertaken and a proposal made accordingly
In additron to this, the Group will consider retendenng the
external audit at each partner rotation

I hght of the assessments and review undertaken, the Audit
Commuittee recommended to the Board that Deloitte LLP be
retained as audrtors of the Company This recommendation

was endorsed by the Board

Jock Lennox
Chairman of the Audit Committes
16 Juty 2015
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Nominations Committee report

Charrman’s overview

The Nominations Committee has an important role in the
Dixons Carphone plc structure, evaluating the skills required to
lead the business effectively and ensuring the nght talent and
expenence 1s avalable In order to ensure continuity of purpose
and effectve leadership it 1s important to ensure succession
planmung obligations are met Since the Merger the Committee
has met once to perform a thorough review of the balance of
the Board and its Committees and other govemance

obligations

At Merger a thorough review of the Board structure and
membership was performed Also at the year end the
Committee performed a further review of the skills required to
successfully lead the Company and matched those skills to the
current Board membership No further need for appointments
were identified other than an appointment of a Senior
Independent Director More about this process 1s shown below
along with further details on the Neminations Committee and
its position in the Company’s govemance framework

4

Sir Charles Dunstone
Chairman of the Nominations Committee
16 July 2015

1-&::&

Meetings

» The Nominations Committee meets as and when required
and at least once a year

+ The Nominatons Committee met once dunng the penod
under review

Committee membership and attendance

The members of the Nominations Committee are shown in
the table below along with therr attendance at scheduled
meetings for the penod under review

Scheduled meetings

Sir Charles Dunstone 10f1
John Gildersleeve 1of1
Andrea Gisle Joosen 10f1

The majonty of the members are independent NEDs as
required by the Code Other members of the Board or
senior management may be invited to attend meetings at
the request of the Chairnan

The Company Secretary acts as Secretary to the Committee
The Committee's deliberations are reported by its Chairman to
the following board meeting and the minutes of each meeting
are circulated to all members of the Board

Responsibiities
The pnncipal duties of the Nominations Commuttee are to

 review the structure, size, composition of the Board and
to recommend changes as necessary,

identify, evaluate and norminate candidates to fill vacancies
on the Board,

review the leadership needs with a view to ensunng the
contnued abtlity of the organisation to compete effectvely
and be responsible for succession planning,

consider other commitments of directors relative to the time
required for them to fulfil therr duties,

evaluate the skills, knowledge and expenence of the Board,
and

* make recommendations to the Beard regarding the
continuation in office of a director upon the expiry of any
specified terms of appointment

The terms of reference of the Nominations Committee are
reviewed annually and a recommendation made to be Board
accordingly The current tenms of reference are available on the
Group's corporate website (www dixonscarphone com)

Key matters considered

In addition to the principal duties noted above, the Commuittee
also considered the following

+ an evaluation of the size, composition and structure of the
Board and its Committees,

+ the Company's diversity policy,

= the extemal appointments policy,

+ the Committee’s performance and terms of reference, and

+ areview of the role descnptions of the Chairman, Senior
Independent Director and the Group Chief Executive in the
iight of the newly merged entity

Appointments to the Board

The Committee has a formal, ngorous and transparent
procedure for the appaintment of new directors Appointments
are made to the Board on ment, against objective cntena and
with due regard to the benefits of diversity and the leadership
needs of the Company
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Succession planning

At the time of the Merger consideration was given to creating
a talented board with appropnate experience and expertise
to lead the Company in its strategy The Board has been
successful In coming together but over the next year or so
emphasis will be placed on ensunng that a full succession
planmng exercise 1s performed to ensure continuity

Drversity

The Board recognises the importance of diversity, including
but not mited to gender, in achieving the nght mix of skills,
knowledge and expenence n order to help the orgamisation
reach its potential Currently 23% of the Board and 25% of
the Group Executive teamn are female

The Board does not set out a target on gender balance as it
believes that candidates should be appointed on ment The
Board will take opportunities to increase diversity as suitable
candidates present themselves For more information on
employee diversity see page 29

In performung its annual review the Board also looks at other
aspects of diversity relevant to the Group For example, with
a large proportion of the busingss in the Nordics, we have a
Swedish non-executive director on the Board to provide
knowledge of these internaticnal markets

Re-election

All directors will present themselves for election or re-election
at the Annual General Meeting Each of the directors are being
unanimously recommended by the other members of the
Board due to their expenence, knowledge and wider
management and mndustry expenence, continued effectiveness
and commitment to ther role
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Remuneration report

Chairman's statement

The penod since we last reported has seen significant change
especially in refation to the Merger The Prospectus and
Circular have already set out details in respect of the existing
incentive schemes of Carphone Warehouse Group plc and
Dixons Retail plc and how these were impacted by the Merger
This Remuneration report sets out the Group's proposed future
Remuneration policy of the new combined Company which Is
broadly in line wath the Remuneration policy approved by
shareholders in 2014

We have used the opportunity of the Merger to review our
approach to remuneration to ensure it 1s aligned to our
strategic direction, appropnate for a FTSE 100 company and
focused on driving superior shareholder retums

After careful consideration we have decided to continue to
align our executive pay structure for the combined Group to a
more leveraged approach focused on creating shareholder
value This is reflected in our long term incentive plans {LTIPs)
and our shareholding policy, which was strengthened to
require executive directors to hold 200% of ther base salary
n the Company's shares

We have also maintained our approach of providing a strong
{ink between our leve!s of annual bonus with the performance
and delivery of our strategic prionties When setting targets for
our annual bonus and our LTIPs, we start with the strategy of
the business and the behaviours we want to encourage and
design metncs around them In order to keep overall
rermuneration weighted towards vanable pay that incentivises
outperformanice we are providing a modest level of benefits

In order to hammonise we have had to adjust some elements of
pay for all executive directors, such as reducing the annuai
bonus which existed previously within Carphone from 200% of
base salary to 125% and reducing pension contributions for
the former Dixons executive directors from 20% to 10%

At the time of the Merger we gained, by special resolution,
shareholder agreement to make adjustments to existing
awards and grant additional awards under our long term
incentive plans This was to ensure the existing participants
were no better or worse off following the Merger and to make
awards to the new executive directors and other sermor
leaders These plans ahgn the interests of our management
with our shareholders, prowiding the opporturity for them to
eam significant value but only If supenor sharehelder returns
are delivered

We have also responded to the feedback receved on the
policy dunng 2014 and have excluded the executive directors
from being eligible to participate in the rud term incentive plan
introduced following the Merger

Although no substanbal changes have been made to the
remuneration policy following the Merger, we have taken the
opportunity to make soma administrative changes, such as
updating the prowvisions in our LTIPs to include the abthity for
the Remuneration Committee to apply malus and clawback
conditions 1in certain specified crcumstances

Due to the changes made to the components of the
remurneration packages of the executive directors at the time
of the Merger, no further changes are proposed to base
salanes as part of the annual pay review process this year
Bonus payments this year will reflect the posiiive business
performance and will be paid at 125% of base salary No
LTIPs vested dunng the year for executive directors serving
on the Board

We are also acutely aware that our success Is largely down to
the dedication and hard work of &ll our employees and that it 15
vital that they continue to feel farly and appropnately rewarded
and that they are able to share in the success of the business
We are therefore very pleased this year to have been able to
launch a combined Dixons Carphone plc Sharesave plan for
all UK and Ireland employees, which has enjoyed a take-up
rate of approximately 209 of the combined UK and

Ireland workforce

The proposed Remuneration policy set out in this Annual
Report and Accounts will be put to shareholders for approval In
a binding vote at the Annual General Meeting on 10 September
2015 where they will be asked to approve the policy for a
penod of three years

John Gildersleeve
Chairman of the Remuneration Committee
16 July 2015
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Remuneration report - Remuneration Policy report

Introduction

The purpose of these reports 1s to inform shareholders of the
Company's directors' remuneration for the penod ended 2 May
2015 and the Remuneration policy for subsequent years This
report 1s dvided into two sections

+ the Remuneration Policy report, and
+ the Annual Remuneration report

The remuneration policy set out will be put to sharehoiders

for approval in a binding vote at the Annual General Meeting on
10 September 2015 and the policy will be effective from that
date Shareholders will be asked to approve the policy for a
penod of three years starting from the effective date The
Annual Remuneration report will also be put to an advisory
vote at the Annual General Mesting

The role of the Remuneration Committee (the Commuttee) 1s to
determine on behalf of the Board a remuneration policy for
executive directors and semor management 1n order to attract
and retain executives who have the ability, expenence and
dedication to deliver outstanding retums for our shareholders

The Committee has adopted the pnnciples of good
governance relating to directors’ remuneration as enshnned in
section D of the Code and has complied with those principles
n the year under review unless otherwise noted

These reports have been prepared by the Cornmittee on behalf
of the Board in accardance with the Companies Act 2006,
Schedule 8 to the Large and Medwum-sized Companies and
Groups (Accounts and Reports) Regulations 2008 {(as
amended) and the Lisbng Rules of the Financial Conduct
Authonty The Rermuneration Policy report (which 1s not subject
to audit) detalls the role of the Committee, the principles of
remuneration arnd other matters The Annual Remuneration
report (elerments of which are audited) details the directors’ and
former directors’ fixed and vanable pay, share awards, share
optiens and pension arrangemenits

Remuneration policy report — unaudited information

Remuneration Committee objectives

The Board has delegated to the Committee responsibility for
determining policy in relation to the remuneration packages
for executive directors and other semior management This
detegation includes therr terms and conditions of employment
n addition to the operation of the Group's share based
employee incentive schemes The Committee has clearly
defined terms of reference which are available on the
Company's corporate website

Remuneration strategy

Put simply, our aim 1s to generate supenor retums for our
shareholders and the key to achieving this 15 our people Qur
remuneration strategy s therefore designed to motwvate high
performing people to deliver our business strategy

The objectives of our Remuneration strategy are to

+ attract, motivate and retain lugh quality talent,

* be transparent and align the interests of serior management
and executive directors with shareholders, by encouraging
management to have a significant personal stake in the long
term success of the business,

» weight remuneration to vanable pay that incentivises
outperformance over the short and long term whilst
discouraging inapproprate nsk taking,

+ ensure that supenor rewards are only pawd for exceptional
performance against challenging targets,

= apply policies consistently across the Group to promote
alignment and tearmwork,

+ recognise the importance ¢of delivenng across a balanced set
of metncs to ensure the nght behaviours are adopted and
the long term health of the business is protected, and

+ avoid rewarding faitlure
In developing its policy the Committee has regard to

+ the performance, roles and responsibilities of each executive
director or member of senior management,

= arrangements which apply below senior management levels,
including average base salary increases,

+ informaton and surveys from internal and ndependent
sources,

+ the economic environment and financial performance of the
Company, and

+ corporate governance good practice

Guidelines on responsible investment discliosure

In line with the Investment Association Guidelines on
responsible investment disclosure, the Committee 1s satisfied
that the incentve structure and targets for executive directors
do not raise any environmental, social or govemance nsks by
inadvertently motivating iresponsible or reckless behaviour
The Committee considers that no element of the remuneration
package will encourage inappropnate nsk taking by any
member of senior management
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Remuneration policy table

The individual elements of the remuneration packages offered to executive directors are summansed in the following table

Base Salary (fixed pay)

» Purpose and hnk to strategy

+ Operation

* Maxmmum opporturity

- Performance assessment / targets

To awd the recruitment, retention and motivation of high-performing people

To reflect therr expenence and importance to the business

Reviewed annually

The review reflects a range of factors including ment levels, intermnal relativity and cost
QOur overall policy, having due regard to the factors noted, s normally to target salanes
up to the median leve!

Salanes for new appointments as executive directors will be set in accordance with the
Recruitment Policy set out on page 63 of this Remuneration Policy report

The Committee takes into consideration the impact of base satary increases ¢n the
package as a whole, as bonuses as well as some other elements of pay (such as
pension contnibutions) are generally worked out based on a percentage of salary

Ordinanly, increases for executive directors will be in ine with increases across the
Group Increases beyond those granted across the Group may be awarded n certain
circumstances such as changes in responsibilities, progression in the role and significant
increases In the size, complexity or value of the Group

Salary levels for cumrent directors are shown in the Annual Rernuneration report

Salares are reviewed annually by the Commuittee at the appropnate meeting having due
regard to the individual’s expenence, performance and added value to the business

Benefits (fixed pay)

» Purpose and link to strategy

« Operation

« Maximum opportunity

» Performance assessment / targets

In Ine with the Company’s strategy to keep remuneration weighted to vanable pay that
incentivises outperformance, a modest range of benefits 1s provided

Benefits may vary based on the personal choces of the director

Provision of relocation or other related assistance may be provided to suppon the
appointment or refocaton of a director

Executive directors are entitled to a combination of benefits which include, but are not
lirmited to

« car allowance,

« private medical cover,

* long term incapacity cover,

¢+ life assurance,

- holday and sick pay, and

+ arange of voluntary benefits including the purchase of additionat holidays

Should an executive director be recruited from or be based in a non-UK location,
benefits may be determined by those typically provided in the normal country of
residence

Relocation or other related assistance could include, but 1s not imited to, removal and
other relocation costs, tax equalisation, tax advice and accommodation costs

The cost to the Group of providing such benefits will vary from year to year in
accordance with the cost of providing such benefits, which 1s kept under regular review

Not applicable
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Penston {fixed pay)

= Purpose and link to strategy

+ Operation

* Maximum opportunity

A pension 1s provided which s consistent with that provided to managers across the
Group and in line with our strategy to keep remuneratron weighted to vanable pay that
incentises outperformance

Defined contnbution plans are offered to all employees A defined benefit pension plan
continues in operation for Dixons' longer serving employees, which 1s now closed to
new participants and future accrual

Executive directors may choose to receive a cash allowance n heu of pension
contnbutions

Company pension contnbution of up to 10% of base salary, which can be taken in
whole or in part as a cash allowance n lieu of pension However a greater contnbution of
up to 20% may be made where necessary to recruit or retain an executive director

+ Performance assessment / targets Mot applicable

Annual performance bonus {vanable pay)

+ Purpose and link to strategy

* Operation

« Maximum opportunity

+ Performance assessment / targets

Annual performance bonuses are in place to incentivise the delivery of stretching, near
term business targets based on our business strategy

These bonuses provide a strong link between reward and performance and dnve the
creation of further shareholder value

The principles and approach are consistently applied across the Group ensunng
algnment to a commaon vision and strategy

They are based on a balanced approach ensunng appropnate behaviours are adopted
and encouraging a longer term focus

Benus payments are determined after the year end and subject to a mimimum profit
threshold being achieved before payment i1s due

For threshold level of performance a bonus of 25% of base salary s payable A siding
scale deterrmines payment between the minimum and maximum bonus payable

The annual borus 15 typically paid in July / August in cash and i1s non-pensionable,
based on the audited performance over the previcus financial year

The annual bonus can instead be settled in shares or a mixture of cash and shares
which could be deferred, at the discretion of the Remuneration Commirttee

Performance 1s reviewed by the Committee using its judgement where necessary to
assess the achievement of targets The Committee retains the discretion to adjust
downwards bonus payments where achievement of targets would result in a payment
of a bonus at a level which would not be consistent with the interests of the Company
and 1ts shareholders

Clawback and malus provisions apply for matenal misstatement, misconduct and
reputational damage enabling performance adjustments and / or recovery of sums
already paid

Maximum annual bonus potential for all executive directors 1s 125% of base salary
No bonus 1s payable if the mwumum profit thresheld 1s not achieved

All measures and targets are reviewed and set by the Committee at the beginning of
the financial year with a view to supporting the achievernent of the Group strategy

The bonus scheme has targets based on a balanced scorecard The balanced
scorecard may include beth financial and non-financial measures, such as employee,
customer and strategic measures The weighting of measures will be determined by the
Committee each year Financial measures (such as profit and cash) will represent the
majonty of the bonus, with other measures representing the balance
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Long term incentive schemes [vanable pay) Share Plan

» Purpose and link to strategy

+ Operation

+ Maximum opporturity

+ Performance assessment/ targets

Long term incentive schemes are transparent and demonstrably aligned with the
interests of shareholders over the long term

The Share Plan s designed to reward and retain executives over the longer term whilst
abgning an indwidual’s interests with those of shareholders and n tum deiivenng
significant shareholder value

The executive directors participate in the Dixons Carphone (formerly Carphone
Warehouse Group plc) Share Plan approved by Carphone Warehouse shareholders
The intention 1s to use this plan for the most serior management of the Company

New executive directors appointed from ttme to ttme may participate in the Dixons
Carphone Share Plan or the Share Option Plan descnbed on page 59

Participants acquire at market value participation shares n a subsidiary company that
holds the Company’s interests in the Group's main operating businesses The Group
grants loans to participants at a commercial rate of interest to acquire the shares
Lcans are ordinanly repayable in full if performance conditions are met

The performance of the plan will ordinanly be measured at the end of the performance
renod (in or around July 2017 for the current participants), when 60% of the shares vest,
with 40% deferred for a further year When the awards vest, the value of the shares held
by participants will be based on the incremental value (if any) of Dixens Carphone ple in
excess of the opening valuation together with the minimum retum on invested capital
These shares will then be purchased by the Company for cash and / or the Company's
ordinary shares

A ‘bad leaver’ will be required to transfer the parlicipatton shares to such party as the
Company designates for an amount equal to the total amount outstanding under the
loan {and any accrued interest) If the market value of the shares 1s less than the amount
of the outstanding loan (and any accrued interest) then the participant may be required
to repay up to 20% of the shortfall out of therr own resources

A participant shall only be a ‘good leaver’ at the sole discretion of the Committee
and may be permitted to retain an award notwithstanding the termination of their
employment

The Committee has the ability to apply malus and clawback provisions to any awards
made after March 2015

The mechanics of the plan may be vaned by the Committee if necessary to ensure that
participants are neither advantaged nor disadvantaged by a vanation of the share capital
of the Company, bona fide merger, reconstruction or simitar reorgarisation

Further details on the operation of the Share Plan following the Merger are provided
in note (1) below this policy table

The total pool for distnbution to parbicipants 1s subject to a cap of 4% of the total issued
share capital of the Company on the measurement date

Under the Share Plan there are now two pools, one for the onginal grant in December
2013 and one for the second grant n September 2014, each being subject to a cap of
2% of the total 1ssued share capital of the Company

The allocation for the Group Chief Executive is 11% of the poot created by the second
set of awards

The allocations for other executive directors are set out In the Annual Remuneration
report

The Share Plan 1s designed to share 10% of the iIncremental value created in Dixons
Carphone in excess of an opening valuation (assessed over an appropnate penod) and
beyond an annual rate of retum of 7% on invested capital The plan i1s also underpinned
by a mimmum annual compound TSR growth of 5% and outperformance of the median
TSR of the FTSE 250
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Long term incentive schemes (variable pay) Share Option Plan

« Purpose and bink to strategy

» QOperation

+ Maximum opportunity

+ Performance assessment / targets

Long term incentive schemes are transparent and dernonstrably aligned with the
nterests of shareholders over the long term

The Share Option Plan 1s designed to reward and retain executives over the longer term
whilst aigning an individual’s interests with those of shareholders and in tum delivenng
significant shareholder value

Discrettonary awards of either nil-pnced or market pnced options are granted over
Dixons Carphone plc shares Approved options may be granted subject to HMRC limits

The current strategy is to grant a single award of share opbons with phased vesting
rather than annual grants, but the Committee reserves the nght to change this approach

The level of vesting 1s dependent on achievement of performance targets, usually over
a three year penod from the date of grant

Awards do not vest untl the third anniversary of the date of grant and may have a
deferral element

The Committee has applied malus and clawback provisions to awards made after
March 2615

If employment ceases dunng the vesting penod, awards will crdinanly lapse in full,
unless the Commitiee exercises its discretion

No executive director currently holds any interest in the share option plan

There 1s currently no intention to grant any options under this plan to executive directors
whilst they participate in the Share Plan, but the share option plan may be used for
recruitment purposes for any executive directors should this be necessary or desirable

Grants under the Dixons Carphone Share Ophon Plan are subject to overall
cilution hirmits

The maximum grant per participant in any financial year 15 a market value of 200% of
base salary However in exceptional crcumstances an award of up to 300% of salary
may be granted

Performance targets are reviewed by the Commitiee prior to each grant

The Committee determines the targets from a range of measures, including but not
imited to absolute TSR and TSR relative to an appropnate comparator group

The current metnes n use are a combination of absolute TSR performance and relative
TSR performance against either the FTSE 250 or the FTSE 350

All Employee Share Plans including SAYE

« Purpose and link to strategy

= Operation

* Maximum opporturity

+ Performance assessment / targets

Encourages employees to make a long tern investment in the Company's shares and
therefore be aligned to the long term success of the Company

Executive directors are eligible to participate in any all employee share plans operated
by the Company which have been approved by shareholders

A new grant under the Dixons Carphone HMRC approved SAYE scheme was made
in the UK and ireland in February 2015

Participants can save up to £500 per month for either three or five yvears, and in retum
receve a share option granted at up to 20% discount to the market pnce at the time of
the invitation

The Committee reserves the nght to increase this savings imit for future schemes in
accordance with the statutory imits in place from time to time

The performance of the scheme will be detenmined by the share pnce of the Company
at the end of the relevant savings penod
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Share ownersh:p guidelines

+ Purpose and link to strategy

« Operation

+ Maximum opportunity

» Performance assessment / targets

Provides close alignment between the longer term mterests of executve directors and
shareholders in terms of the Company’s growth and perforrmance

The Company requires executive directors to retain a certain percentage of base salary
in the Company's shares Dtrectors have a five year pencd to reach these imits

The shares which count towards this requirement are unfettered, beneficially owned
shares only

Not applicable

The Company requires all executive directors to retain 200% of base salary in the
Company's shares

Non-Executive Directors and Chairman / Deputy Chairman fees.

+ Purpose and ink to strategy

= Operation

* Maximum opportunity

» Performance assessment / targets

To provide a competitive fee for the performance of non-executive director duties,
sufficient to attract high caltbre individuals to the role

The fees are set to align with the duties undartaken, taking into account market rates,
and are reviewed on an annual basis Factors taken into consideration include the
required time commitment and specific experience

Additional fees are payable for acting as Charr of any Board committee, or for acting as
the Senior Independent Director

Non-executive directors do not participate in the annual performance bonus or the long
term incentive plans, however, a histoncal arrangement exists for Roger Taylor who
continues to receive private medical insurance

Aggregate annual imit of £2,000,000 impesed by the Articles of Association for
directors' fees {not including fees in relation to any executive office or Chairman,
Commuttee Chair or Senior Independent Director fees)

Not applicable

Notes

{1) Long term incentives - Share Plan The first awards under the Share Plan were made in December 2013 and further awards were made in
Septernber 2014 after the Merger At the same time adjustments were made to the first awards to ensure participants were no better or
worsa off as a result of the Merger The two sets of awards have different opening valuations reflecting the value of the Company at
appropnate times prior to the grants Each set of awards has its own pool, which are each subject to a cap of 2% of the total issued share
capital of Dixons Carphone The total pool for distnbution to all of the participants rematns subject to an overall cap of 4% of the total issued
share capital of the Company on the measurement date

There are no plans to 1ssue further awards under this Share Plan until such time as these awards vest when the Committee will review the
programme of long term incentives for the Group

{2) The following changes have been made to the Remuneration Policy m arder to ahgn the pay of executive directors foltowing the Merger and
to reflect the remuneration strategy of the new combined Group
« reducing the annual bonus which existed previously within Carphone from a maximum of 200% of base salary to 125% of base salary,
- reducing the pension contrbutions for the Dixens executive directors from 20% to 10% of base salary,
+ strengthening our shareholding policy to require executrve directors to hoid 200% of their base salary in the Company’s shares,
-+ excluding the executive directors from being eligible to participate in the mid term incentive plan introduced following the Merger, and
+ including the ability for the Remuneration Committee to apply malus and clawback conditons in certain specified circumstances
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IHustration of remuneration policy

The remuneration policy scenano chart below Hlustrates the level and mix of potentia! total remuneration the current executive
directors could receve under the remuneration policy at four levels of performance including an annuahsed potential payout for
the Share Plan As descnbed in the policy table above, our long term incentive arrangements are designed to align executives’
interests with those of shareholders and incentivise and reward for the delivery of sigrificant shareholder value Qur
arrangements are intenbonally more leveraged than a standard UK performance share plan no payouts would be due at a
threshold level of performance and the higher payout levels would result only where significant shareholder value had been
created (for example, £1 6 billlon of incremental shareholder retums at the Maximum levef

Remuneration policy scenarno chart

The assumptions underlying the chart in respect of the percentage of maximum opportunity payable are set out below
Notes

(1)
@

3

G

Fixed pay compnses basic salary, taxable benefits and pension contnbut:ans

Annual vanable pay represents the annual bonus entitlement No bonus is assumed at the minimurn performance level Threshold
performance essumes a payment of 25% of base salary, super stretch performance a payment of 75% of base salary and maximum
performance a payment of 125% of base salary

Long term incentives relats to the Share Flan, in which the executive drectors participate These are illustrative amounts and the actual
outcomes may differ depending on share prce growth

The Share Plan vests parily In 2017 and partly in 201B and therefora the total value of the scheme has been annualised over the
performance penod which 15 five years for the first set of awards, and four years for the second set of awards made following the Merger
For Sebastian James, Humphrey Singer and Katie Blckerstaffe the Share Plan has been annualised over four years Andrew Hamson and
Graham Stapleton were grented a second set of awards 1o align their overall awards with other Dixons participants and therefore the Share
Plan has been partially annuabsed over five years and partially over four years

No Share Plan payout is assumed at the miramumn performance level Threshold performance for the Share Plan ts an annual rate of return
of 7% on mvested capital and therefore there will be no payout at threshold Super stretch performance reflects the generation of £1 billion
of incremental shareholder returns over the term of the scheme Maximum perfommance 1s fixed at the point at which the overall dilution
cap of 4% is expected to apply {each set of awards beng subject to a 2% dilution cap), representing £1 6 billion of incremental
shareholder returng

The value of the Share Plan at vesting has been reduced by the value of the loan outstanding {excluding interest payments)
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Comporate Governance

Remuneration Policy report

Remuneration Committee discrebons

The Committese retains discretion consistent with market
practice over a number of areas relating to the eperation and
administration of the bonus plans and long term incentive
share plans These include but are not imited to

+ entitlement to participate in the plan,
« when awards or payments are to be made,
+ size of award and / or payment (within the rules of the plans),

+ determination of a good leaver for incentive plan purposes
and the appropriate treatment based on the rules of each
plan,

- discretion as 1o the measurement of performance conditions
and pro-rating in the event of a change of control,

+ any adjustment to awards or performance conditions for
significant events or exceptional crcumstances, and

+ the application of clawback and malus provisions

Shareholder and employee consultation

The Committee has a policy to consult with its major
shareholders when making any signrficant changes to the
remuneraticn policy of the Company Any feedback receved 18
taken into consideration when determining future policy For
example, in contemplation of the Merger in 2014 a consuitation
took place with major shareholders on various amendments to
the remuneration policy As a direct result of that consultatron,
the executive directors were removed from the mid term
incentve plan Pror to this, n 2013 an extensive consultation
exercise took place with the shareholders to seek their views
on the Carphone Warehouse Share Plan and as a resulta
number of changes were made to the scheme design,
including the introduction of a cap

The Commuttee also takes into consideration remuneration
guidance 1ssued by large investor bodies in addition to the
pnnciples of good govemance relating to directors’
remuneration as set out in the Code

Whilst employees are not formally consulied on executive
remuneration a number of them are shareholders and as such
are able to exercise their nfluence We also monitor our
employee discussion boards and employee torums to ensure
employee feedback in general 1s considered in all our strategy
execution The Company also conducts regular employee
surveys throughout the business

Remuneration policy for the wider workforce

Dixons Carphone employs a large number of people across
different countries Our reward framework IS structured around
a set of common pnnciples with adjustments made to suit the
needs of the different businesses and employes groups
Reward packages differ for a vanety of reasons including the
impact on the business, local practice, custom and iegislation

In determining salary increases to apply across the wider
workforce, the Company takes into consideration company
performance and other market metncs as necessary When
setting the policy for executive directors the Committee takes
into consideration salary increases throughout the Company
as a whole

Discretionary share plans are extended to both senicr
management and other key members of the worldorce,

as the Company feels that it 1s important to mcentrvise and
retain these empioyees in order for the Company to continue
to grow

The Group's UK and Insh employees who meat the eligibidy
critena are also invited to join the Company's UK and Ireland
approved SAYE

Recruitment or promotion policy

On appomntment or promotion, base salary levels will be set
taking into account a range of factors including market levels,
experience, intemal relativites and cost If an individual is
appointed on a base satary below the desired market
positioning, the Committee retains the discretion to re-align
base salary over one to three years, contingent on individual
performance, which may result in an exceptional rate of
annualised increase above ordinary levels if the Committee
ntends to rely on this discretion, it will be noted in the first
remuneration report following an indmidual’s appomtment
Other elements of annual remuneraton will be in ine with the
policy set out in the Policy Table As such, short term vanable
remuneration wili be capped as set out in the Policy Table

The following exceptions will apply

+ In the event that an intemal appointment 1s made or an
executive director joins as a result of a transfer of an
undertaking, merger, reconstruction or similar
reorganssation, the Commuttee retains the discretion to
continue with existing remuneration provisions, mcluding
penston contnbutions and the provision of benefits,

» as deemed necessary and appropnate to secure an
appointment, the Commuittee retains the discretion to make
additional payments linked to relocation, and

+ the Commitiee retains the discretion to provids an
immediate interest In Company performance by making a
long term incentive award on recruitment in accordance with
the Policy Table under its existing long term incentive
schemes or such future schemes as may be introduced by
the Company with the approval of its shareholders The
Commuittee will determine the level of the award, the
performance conditions and time honizon that would apply
to such awards at the bme of award, taking into account the
strategy and business circumstances of the Company

Service contracts will be entered into on terms similar to those
for the existing executive directors, summansed in the
Recrutment table However, the Committee may authonse the
payment of a relocation and / or repatnation allowance, as well
as other associated international mobility terms and benefits,
such as tax equalisation and tax advice
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In addition to the annual remuneration elements noted above,
the Committee may consider buying out on a like-for-like basis
bonuses and / or ncentive awards that an individual forfeits in
accepting the appointment The Committee will have the
authonty to rely on Listing Rule 9 4 2{2} or exceptional imits
within the existing shareholder approved Share and Share
Opticn Plans to make awards If made, the Committee wiil be
informed by the structure, time honzons, value and
performance targets associated with any forfeited awards
while retaining the discretion to make any payment or award
deemed necessary and appropnate The Committee may also
require the appointee to purchase shares in the Company n
accordance with its shareholding policy

Recruitment table

With respect to the appontment of a new Chairman or non-
executive director, terms of appointment will be consistent
with those currently adopted Vanable pay will not be
considered and as such no maximum applies With respect
to non-executive directors, fees will be consistent with the
policy at the tme of appomntment if necessary, to secure
the appointment of a new Chaiman not based in the UK,
payments relating to relocation and / or housing can

be considered

Elements of remuneration on appointment are set out in
the Recrutment table

A timely announcement with respect to any director's
appointment and remuneraton will be made to the
regulatory news services and posted on the Company's
corporate website

Area Feature Policy

Service contractand  Notice penod * Up to 12 months from either side

incentive plan Entitlernents on termination + As summansed in the Policy on loss of office
provisions

Provisions for mitigation and payment in leu of notice

Restnctive covenants + Gardening leave provisions

Vanable elements .

Non-compete, non-solicitation, non-dealing and confidentrality
provisions

The Commuittee has the discretion to determine whether an indivdual
shall participate in any incentive in the year of appointment

The Commuttee shall have the discretion to determine appropnate bonus
performance targets |f participating in the year of appointment

Annual remuneraton  Salary .

Salary progression .

Benefits and allowances .

To be determined on appointment, taking into account factors including
market levels, expenence, mtemal relativities and cost

If appointed at below market levels, salary may be re-aligned over the
subsequent one to three years subject to performance in role In this
sttuation, the Committee reserves the discretion to make increases
above ordinary levels

This imitial market positoring and intention to Increase pay above the
standard rate of increase in the Policy table (subject to performance) will
be disclosed in the first remuneration report following appointment

The Committee retains the discretion to provide additionat benefits as
reasonably required These may include, but are not restncted to,
relocation payments, housing allowances and cost of living allowances

Policy on loss of office

Service confracts contain nesther a liquidated damages nor

a change of control clayse

The Company shall have a nght to make a payment in lieu of

notice in respect of basic salary, benefits including car

allowance and pension contnbutions only for the director's
contractual penod of notice or, If termination 1s part way

through the notice penod, the amount relating to any u

notice to the date of termination There is an obligation on
directors to mittgate any loss which they may suffer if the

A director shall also be entitled to a payment in respect of
accrued but untaken holiday and any statutory entitlements on
termination No compensation is pad for dismissal, save for
statutory entitlements

A director shall be entitted to receive a redundancy payment in
circumnstances where in the judgement of the Committee they
satisfy the statutory tests governing redundancy payments
Any redundancy payment shall be calculated by reference to
the redundancy payment policy in force for all employees in
the relevant country at the time of the redundancy

nexpired

Company terminates their service contract The Commuttee wall
take such mitgation obligation into account when determining
the amount and timing of any compensaton payable to any

departing director
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if a director’s employment terminates pnor to the relevant
annual bonus payment date, ordinanly no bonus 1s payable for
that financial year The Committee shal! retain discretion to
make a pro-rated bonus payment and / or payment of a
retention bonus in circumstances where it would be
appropnrate to do so having regard to the contrnibution of the
director dunng the financial year, the cicumstances of the
departure and the best interests of the Company

Any entittements under long term incentive schemes operated
by the Company shall be determined based on the rules of the
relevant scheme The default position under the Dixons
Carphone Share Plan is that awards will lapse on the
termination of employment unless the Committee exercises the
discretion set out in the scheme rules The Committee retains
the discretion to prevent awards from lapsing depending on
the circumstances of the departure and the best interests of
the Comparny

The Committee shall be entitled to exercise its udgement with
regard to settlement of potential claims, inciuding but not
hmited to wrongful dismissal, unfair dismissal, breach of
contract and discrimination, where it 1s appropnate to de so in
the interests of the Company and its sharehoiders

In the avent that any payment 1s made in relation to termination
for an executive director, this will be fuily disclosed in the
foliowing Annual Remuneration report

A timely announcement with respect to the termmnation of any
drrector’'s appomtrnent will be made to the regulatory news
service and posted on the Company’s corporate website

Service agreements

Service agreements for executive directors

Each of the executive directors’ service agreements
provides for

« the rembursement of expenses incumred by the executive
director in performance of their duties,

+ 25 days paid holiday each year for Sebastian James,
Humphirey Singer and Katie Bickerstaffe (full ime
equivalent), 27 days for Andrew Hamson and Graham
Stapleton,

+ sick pay, and

* notice penods whereby Sebastian James, Humphrey Singer
and Katie Bickerstatfe each have a notice penod of
12 months from the Company and six months from the
director Andrew Hamson has a notice penod of 12 months
and Graham Stapleton six months from erther party

In situations where an executive director 1s dismissed, the
Committee reserves the nght to make additional exit payments
where such payments are made in goed faith, such as

« n discharge of a lega! oblhigation, and

- by way of settlement or compromise of any claim ansing in
connection with the termination of the director’s office and
employment

Letters of appointment

Each of the non-executive directors has a letter of
appointment The Company has no age imit for directors
Non-executive directors denve no other benefit from therr
office, except that the Committee retains the discretion to
continue with existing remuneration provisions, including
pension contributions and the provision of benefits, where an
executive director becomes a non-executive director ttis
Company policy not to grant share options or share awards to
non-executive directors The Charman, Deputy Chairman and
the other non-executive directors have a notice penod of three
months from ether party

Appointments are reviewed annually by the Nominations
Committee and recommendatons made to the Board
accordingly

External appomtments

The Board supports executive directors taking non-executive
directorships as a part of theirr continuing development, and
has agreed that the executive directors may retain therr fees
from one such appointment Further detals on current external
directorships and fees can be found in the Annual
Remuneration report

Availabifity for inspection

The service agreements for the executive directors and the
letters of appointments for the non-executive directors are
available for inspection at the Company's registered office and
at the venue for the Annual General Meeting, 15 minutes prior
to and dunng the meeting

Legacy arangements

For the avordance of doubt, in approving the Remuneration
Policy report, authonty s given to the Company to honour
any commitments previously entered into with the current or
former directors which have been disclosed previously to
shareholders
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Introduction

This part of the report has been prepared in accordance with
Part 3 of Schedule 8 to the Large and Medium-Sized
Companies and Groups (Accounts and Reports) Regulations
2008 (as amended), and contain those elements required by
section 9 8 6R and stipulated in 9 8 8 of the Listing Rules This
Annual Remuneration report will be put to an advisory vote at
the Company's 2015 Annual General Meeting

The following sections set out how the Remuneration Policy
was implemented dunng 2014/15 and how it will be
implemented for the following year

Service Agreements

Service contracls

The following table sumrmanses key terms of the service
contracts in place with the executive directors

Date of contract

Sebastian James 29 Mar 12
Andrew Harrison 290¢ct 13
Humphrey Singer 28ep N
Katie Bickerstaffe 29 Mar 12
Graham Stapleton 50ct 11

With the exception of Andrew Harnson, all the above executive
directors were apponted to the Board on 6 August 2014

Nigel Langstaff resigned from the Board as executive director
on 6 August 2014 More details are set out in the Directors’
remuneration tables on page 68 and 69

Letter of appointment

Non-executive directors are normally appointed for three year
terms, although appointments may vary depending on length
of service and succession planning considerations
Appomntments are reviewed annually by the Nominations
Committee and recommendations made to the Board
accordingly The date of the letters of appointment and expiry
of current terms are shown below

Letters of Expiry of

appeintment cutrent term

Sir Charles Dunstone 17 Jun 14 16 Jun 17
John Gildersleeve 17Jun 14 16 Jun 17
Andrea Gisle Joosen 17 Jun 14 16 Jun 17
Tim How 17 Jun 14 16 .Jun 17
Jock Lennox 17 Jun 14 16 Jun 17
Baroness Morgan of Huyton 17 Jun 14 16 Jun 17
Gerry Murphy 17 Jun 14 16 Jun 17
Roger Taylor 17 Jun 14 16 Jun 17

Tim How, Jock Lennox and Andrea Gisle Joosen were
appointed to the Board on 6 August 2014 and at the same
date John Altwood resigned fromn the Board John Allan was
apponted to the Board on 6 August 2014 and resigned on
17 February 2015 More details are set out in the single figure
of total Directors’ remuneration tables on pages 68 and 69

Remuneration committee membership and attendance

Members

Membership of the Committee compnses four non-
executive directors, their names and attendance record are
set out in the table below and their biographies and
qualfications are set out on pages 36 and 37 The
Company's Deputy Chamrman is a member of the
Commuttee but is not its Charr The Committee’s terms of
reference are available on the Company’s comorate
website

Meetings

The Remuneration Committee met four scheduled times
during the penod under review and since the year end there
have been a further three meetings

Schaduled meatings
Members dunng the year
John Gildersleeve (Chairman) 40f4
Andrea Giste Joosen!” 3of3
Tim How? 30f3
Roger Taylor" dof 3
Former members
John Allwood®? 1ofi
Baroness Morgan of Huyton® 10of1
Gerry Murphy® 10of1

{1) Appointed to the Committee 6 August 2014

{2) Resigned 6 August 2014

{3) Resigned from the Commitiee on 6 August 2014

{4) Roger Taylor also attended the fourth meeting but by invitation
not as a member
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Only members of the Committee are entitled to attend
Committee meetings but the Group Chief Executive and
Group Finance Director (or other serior management)
may attend meetings by invitation and 1n an adwvisory
capacity only Meetings are also regularly attended by the
Company Secretary (who acts as Committee secretary),
Deputy Company Secretary and the Group Human
Resources Director

No director partcipates in discussions about therr own
remuneration

Responsibilities

Responsibility for the establishment of an overall remuneration
policy for the Group hes with the Board The Remuneration
Committee has the following pnncipal duties

* making recommendations to the Board on the Company’s
framework of executive remuneratton,

+ determining the fees of the Chairman and Deputy Chairman,

+ considenng and malang recommendations to the Board on
the remuneration of the executive directors and senior
management relative to performance and market data,

« approving contracts of employment which exceed defined
thresholds of total remuneration or have unusual terms or
termination penods,

+ considenng and agreeing changes to remuneration policy
or major changes to employee benefit structures, and

« approving and operating employee share based incentive
schemes and associated performance conditions
and targets

Advice

The Committee retaned Towers Watson throughout 2014/15
as independent advisors Towers Watson I1s engaged to
provide advice to the Committee and to work with the directors
on matters relating to the Group’s executive remuneration and
s long termncentives Towers Watson s a member of the
Remuneration Consultants Group and operates under its code
of conduct In refation to the provision of executive
remuneration advice in the UK Towers Watson has confirmed
that it adhered to the Code throughout 2014/15 for all
remuneration services provided to the Group Towers Watson
received fees of £82,000 {2013/14 £84,000} in relabion to the
provision of those services Towers Watson also provided
actuanal services on behalf of the defined benefit pension
scheme, however, the Committee has satisfied itself that
Towers Watson's advice was objective and independent

The Committee may also take external legal advice, where
required, to assist it in camrying out its duties

External directorships

The policy relating to extemnal directorships s outlined in the
Remuneration Policy report For 2014/15, the following external
directorships were undertaken and the fees retained by the
executive directors

+ Sebastan James was appointed a non-executive director of
Direct Line Insurance Group pic on 28 August 2014 and was
paid a fee of £53,000 from appomntment to 2 May 2015

+ Katie Bickerstaffe has been a non-executive director of
Scottish and Southem Energy pic dunng 2014/15 and was
paid a fee of £57,000 for the penod to 2 May 2015

How the remuneration policy will be apphed in 2015/16
Executive directors

I} Base Salary

The Committee reviewed the executive directors’ salanes In
2014 as part of the Merger Where indwiduals were apponted
to new roles, in line with our recrutment policy, base salary
levels were set taking into account a range of factors including
market levels, expenence and internal relatvities

Due to the changes in base pay at Merger, no changes are
proposed to the base salanes of the executive directors
dunng 2015/16

increase in
Salary at Salary at Satary at
2 May 7 August 30 March

2015 2014 20140
£'000 £ 000 £ 000
Current directors
Sebastian James® 820 - 820
Andrew Harrison 550 158% 475
Humphrey Singer® 475 — 475
Katie Bickerstaffe® 500 - 500
Graham Stapleton® 460 - 460

(1) Date of appointment, If later
(2) Appointed 6 August 2014

1} Pension Contributions

Company Contributions or allowance in lieu will continue in
2015/16 at their current levels of 10% for Sebastian James,
Humphrey Singer and Katie Bickerstaffe and 5% Andrew
Hamson and Graham Stapleton

1) STIP (Annuat performance bonus)

The maximum annual bonus for 2015/16 will be 125% of base
salary and will operate on a similar basis as for the previous
year That s, the measures have been selected to reflect our
key strategic objectives and are aligned to our Group balanced
scorecard, with a mimnimum profit gate that must be achieved
before any bonus is paid out The proposed target levels for
the year have been set to be challenging relative to the
business plan The Commuttee feels that specific targets
relating to the 2015/16 bonus scheme are currently
cornmercrally sensitive and as such will not be disclosed
However, retrospective disclosure of the targets and
performance against them wilt be provided in next year's
Remuneration report to the extent that they do not remain
cornmercizlly sensitive at that time
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The performance metrics and their weightings for 2015/16 are
shown i the table below

Weighting (as a percentage of
maxim

urm bonus

opportunity)

EBIT 60%
Net Debt 10%
ROCE 10%
Customer net promoter score 10%
Employee engagement 10%

w)LTIP
There will be no further LTIP grants for executive directors
dunng 2015/16

Remunerzhon details for 2014/15

Performance graph

The graph below shows the Group's perfonrmance measured
through TSR on a holding of £100 in the Company's shares,
compared with the FTSE 350 Index, since 29 March 2010
when the Company was first admitted to the London Stock
Exchange The FTSE 350 has been used as it is a broad
market which includes the Company and a number of s
competitors The Company’s performance up untl the penod
ended 29 March 2014, which was pnor to the Merger, relates
to Carphone Warehouse plc After the Merger on 6 August
2014, the Company was renamed Dixens Carphone plc

Group Chief Executive pay

The following table shows, over the same five year penod as
the performance graph above, the Group Chief Executive's
single total figure of remuneration, the amount of bonus
earned as a percentage of the maximum remuneration
possible, and the vesting of long term awards as a percentage
of the maximum number of shares that could have vested
where applicable

Long term

incentive

Annual vesting

bonus rates

CEQ single payout aganst
figure of agalnst maximum

r ion il opportunity

Year £000

Wﬁgﬁm i

2015 Total
Andrew Harnson 679 54% n/a
Roger Taylor 159 n/a n/a
2014 Total 838
2013 Roger Taylor 958 55% n/a
2012 Roger Taylor 474 0%2 n/a
2011 Roger Taylor 1,193 82% wa

Total shareholder return
Seurce' Datastrasm

{1} Excludes remuneration recerved from long term incentve schemes

establshed by Old Carphone Warehouse prior to the demerger
from TalkTalk because that company is not part of the current
Group Details of remuneration associated with Oid Carphone
Warehousa incentive schemes were provided In the company's
annuai report for the year ended 31 March 2012 Future reports
will include long ferm incentives operated by the current Group
when they have vested

(2) Roger Taylor waved a benus of 25% maximum potential and
mnstead chose for it to be paid directly to charity
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Audited mformation

Single figure of Directors' remuneration for the penod ended 2 May 2015

2014115
Basec
satary and Pension Annual  Taxable Total Lme Total
feas  contributions® bonus® benefits** emoluments payments®™ remuneration
£000 £000 £000 000 £000 £000 £'000
Executive
Current directors i
Sebastian James® 590 89 1,025 13 1,687 - 1,687
Andrew Harrison 570 28 745 14 1,357 - 1,357
Humphrey Singer 342 34 594 13 983 - . 983
Katie Bickerstaffe™ 360 3% 625 12 1,033 - 1,083
Graham Stapleton®™ 343 17 623 10 993 - 993
Former director
Nige! Langstaff® 1479 6 - 4 127 - 127 '
2,322 180 | 3,612 66 6,180 - ., 6180
Non-executive : !
Current directors a
Sir Charles Dunstone 290 - - - 290 - - 280
Roger Tayior 179 - - 1M 180 - "180
Andrea Gisle Joosen® 50 - - - 50 - . 50
John Gildersleeve 87 - - - 87 - 87
Tim Howd" 47 - - - 47 - 47
Baroness Morgan of Huyton 70 - - — 70 - . Tﬁ
Jock Lennox™ 54 - - - 54 - 54
Gerry Murphy 67 - - — 67 - 67
Former directors .
John Allan™ 75 - - - 75 - 75
John Allwood® 28 - - - 28 - 7
947 - - 1 948 - 948
3,269 180 3,612 67 7,128 - 7,128

oy

@

&)

@

(8)
(®)

Rernuneration 1s shown for the penod served on the Board The following directors were appointed on 6 August 2014 Sebastian James,
Humphrey Singer, Katie Bickerstaffe, Graham Stapleton, Andrea Gisle Joosen, Tim How and Jock Lennox Remuneration / fees for these
directors 1s shown from appointment to 2 May 2015 John Allan was appointed to the Board on 6 August 2014 and resigned on 17 February
2015 and the fees shown are for this panod Nige! Langstaff and John Allwood resigned from the Board on 6 August 2014 and remuneration
/ {ees are from 1 Apnl 2014 to date of leaving

Pension contributions compnse the Company's contnbution or aflowance in lieu together with the salary supplement which 1s based on the
difference between basic salary and the schems earnings cap set by the Company This addtional amount was 10% for Sebastlan James,
Humphrey Singer and Katie Bickerstaffe and 5% for Andrew Hamson, Nigel Langstaff and Graham Stapleton

Annual bonus for Graham Stapieton and base salary and annual bonus for Andrew Harmson represents the amount eamed over 13 months
following the alignment of the financial year end Annual bonuses for Sebastian James, Humphray Singer and Katie Bickerstatfe represent
the amount eamed over the 12 months to 2 May 2015, which includes the penod pnor 1o the Merger All bonuses are calculated based on
the directors’ annual salary as at 2 May 2015

Taxable benefits include privats medical insurance, car allowance and Sharesave gains of £4,000 for Sebastian James, Humphrey Singer
and Katie Brckerstaffe in respect of options granted on 28 February 2015 as set out in the table on page 72

LTIP payments would compnse amounts under the Share Plan, however, the vesting pencds end in July 2017 and July 2018

In addition to the abova remuneration and subsequent to resigning from the Board on 6 August 2014, Nigel Langstaff receved a
redundancy payment of £247,000 upon leaving the business in December 2014 Nigel also receved £350,000 as a payment in lieu of notice
tn respect of basic salary, £19,700 in respect of benefits including car allowance, permanent health insurance and Iife cover) and £17,500 in
respect of pension contnbutions There was no payment for accrued holiday untaken These amounts were m line with contractual
entittements and the Group's redundancy payments policy and no discretion was applied in their determmation The Committes determined
to apply discretion to pay a bonus of £437,500 n respect of the peniad of service in the 2014/15 financial year and In respect of ongoing
support up 1o the announcament of the preliminary results for 2014/15

Roger Taylor continues to receive pnvate medical insurance benefits
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Single figure of Directors’ remuneration 2013/14

201314
Basic salary Pension Annual Taxable Total LTP Total
and fees®  contibutions™ bonus benefits  emoluments payments® remuneration
£ 000 £'000 £000 £ 000 £ 000 £1000 £ 000
Executive

Andrew Harnson® 317 15 339 8 679 - 679
Nigel Langstaff 325 16 375 10 726 — 726
1,175 as 714 23 1,950 - 1,950

Non-executive
Sir Charles Dunstone® 240 - - — 240 - 240
Roger Taylor®'® 293 7 - 5 305 - 305
John Allwood 74 — - - 74 -— 74
John Gildersleeve 81 - - - 81 - 81
Baroness Morgan of Huyton 60 - - - 60 - 60
Gerry Murphy - - - - - - -
215 - - — 215 - 215
1,390 as 714 23 2,165 - 2,165

(1) Pension contributions compnse the Company's contribution to a defined contnbution pension scheme or allowance in lieu of contnbution to
a penswon scheme This additional amount was 5%

(2} LTIP payments would compnse amounts under the Share Plan, however, the vesting penods end i July 2017 and July 2018

(3) Andrew Harnson joined the Board on 24 July 2013 and the remuneration shown 1s for the period he was a director

{4} S Charles Dunstone and Roger Taylor were employed by the Company dunng this penod and therr pay was reviewed by the Remuneration
Committee

{5) Roger Taylor's remuneration relates to his tenure both as an executive director until 24 July 2013 and subsequently as Deputy Chairman
{6} No payments were made to former directors and no payment for loss of office were made dunng the year

Long term incentive plans (LTIP)
The Share Plan awards made dunng 2014/15 vest in July 2017 (60%) and July 2018 (40%)

Detalls of the awards made and the loans granted to the directers to enable them to subscnbe for shares under the Share Plan
are detaled later in this report

No LTIPs have vested dunng the year for the directors whilst serving on the Board Nigel Langstaff's share entitiements under
the Share Plan lapsed on ieaving the Group

Annual bonus for 2014/15

Dunng the year the maximum bonus opportunity for all executive directors was aligned to 125% of base salary In addition, due
to the Merger and the change to the financial year end the annual bonus measures and targels were reset (as shown below) to
reflect the new merged business All targets are expressed and will be measured on a pro forma basis, as though the Merger
had occurred at the beginning of the financtal year, and reflecting the respective 12 and 13 month penods for Dixons and
Carphone, respectively

The Comrittee determined at the beginning of the year that the disclosure of performance targets were commercially sensitive
and these were therefore not disclosed This was because targets were set within the context of a longer term business plan and
this disclosure could give information to competitors to the detnment of businass performance The Committee has however
disclosed In the table below the targets on a retrospective basis and the actual performance against these

Bonus payments will be at maximurn levels and will be paid at 125% of base salary The benus amounits to be paid to the
execubive directors in respect of 2014/15 are set out in the directors’ remuneration table on page 68
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Annual bonus for 2014/15

As g percentage
of maximum

Measure nppomut; Threshold Target Maximum Actual Payout
Pro forma Headline EBIT 55% n/a £385 milion £405 milion £414 million 55%
Pro forma average net (debt) / funds -

variance vs budget 25% £(50) million Budget £50 milion  £80 mullion 25%
Return on Capital Employed {(ROCE) 20% 15 4% 15 9% 16 4% 20 0% 20%

The maxamum annual bonus of 125% of base salary 1s payable at the maximum level of performance and 75% of base salary
on achievement of target performance

Non-executive directors’ and chairman’s fees

The fees for the independent non-executive directors are determined by the Board {excluding non-executive directors) after
considenng external market research and are reviewed on an annual basis Factors taken nto consideration include the required
time commitment, specific expenence and / or qualifications A base fee 1s payable and additional fees are paid for chainng and
membership of committees The Chairman s not involved in the sefting of hus own salary which is dealt with by the
Rermuneration Committee annually The Deputy Chairman's fee is set by the Remuneration Commuttes with the Deputy
Charman being absent Non-executive directors receive no vanable pay and receve no addibonal benefits, except in situations
where an executive director becomes a non-executive director and benefit and penston arangements continue

For 2015/16, independent non-executive directors will receive a basic fee of £60,000 (2014715 €45,000) and additional fees as
set out in the table below for chainng or membership of commitiees The increase in fees paid to non-executive directors reflects
the increased stze and complexity of the Group following the Merger

2014115 201314

£000 £000
Charr of Audit Commuittee 15 15
Member of Audit Committee 5 5
Chair of Nomination Commuttee® 8 8
Member of Nomination Committee 5
Charr of Remuneration Committee 15 10
Member of Remuneration Committee 5 5

Chair of Consumer Regulatory and Compliance Commtteg® -

{1} The Chairman has chared the Nominatrons Commuttee since 7 August 2014 and recewves no further fee
{2} This Committee ceased to operate as a Board Committee on 13 November 2014

Percentage change in remuneration {not audited)

Increase percentage figures have not been given for the role of Group Chief Executive as, due to the Merger and change in
incumbent, the figures are not directly comparable The relevant figures for 2015/16 will be shown in next year's Rermnuneration
report We have however, set out below, the percentage change for all UK head office based employees as this Group provides
the best ike-for-lke companson Changes in salary relating to changes in roles and / or responsibiities have been excluded from
the increase presented for the wider group

UK head

Group Chref office

Executive  employees

Salary and fees N/A 25%
Taxable benefits™ N/A 0%
Annual bonuses N/A 0%

(1) Taxable benefits have not been separately measured since there have been no matenal changes in Group benefits year on year
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Relative importance of spend on pay
The following table sets out both the total cost of remuneration for the Group compared with pro forma Headline EBIT and
profits distnbuted for 2014/15 and the pror year

2014115 2013714
£milbon £milkon  Change (%)
Dividends paid™ 52 30 73%
Total staff costs - continuing operations® 900 230 291%
Number Number Change (%)
Employee numbers - continuing operations® & 32,834 6,980 370%

(1} Extracted from note 22 to the Group financial statements
(2} Extracted from note 5 to the Group financial statements
(3) The average number of employees has been provided for context

Directors’ interests in shares

Share ownership guidelines

The Company has a policy of encouraging executive directors to build shareholdings in the Company Following the Merger the
Committee reviewed the shareholding policy and as a result all executive directors are required within five years to build up
200% of therr salary as a holding in the Company Other key senior management roles are required to budd up 100% of salary
The actual shareholdings of the executive directors are set out in the Directors' shareholding table below

Directors’ interests in the Share Plan

The table below shows the allocation to the executive directors of participation shares in the subsidiary, New CPW Limited, in
relation to the Share Plan, together wath details of the loans 1ssued to enable the directors to subscribe to the participation
shares As set out in the policy table there are two pools under the share plan, one for the onginal grant in December 2013 and
cne for the second grant post Merger The calculation of the pools is set out on pages 58 and 60 of the Poilicy Table and in
particular the performance penod ends in July 2017, when 60% of the shares vests with 40% being deferred for a further year

A Sharesin A Shares in B Sharesin Allgcation of Allocation Loan Loan
subsudiary subsidiary  subskiiary  Allocation of A pool of Bpool outstanding outstanding
|l d as flocated focated  Apoolas al as at as at as at as at

at 29 March  es et 2May as at 2 May 29 March 2 May 2 May 29 Marth 2 May

2014 1@ 20157 20157 2014ma 201514 2015 2014 2015
Number Number Number (%) %) 1%} £ 000 £'000
Current directors
Sebastian James - - 1,100 - - 11% - 2,239
Andrew Hamson 700 700 200 7% 7% 2% 389 810
Humphrey Singer — - 700 - - 7% - 1,425
Katie Bickerstaffe - - 700 - - 7% - 1,425
Graham Stapleton 600 600 100 6% 6% 1% 334 549
Former director
Nigel Langstaff® 600 600 - 6% - - 334 -

(1) Date of appointment, i later

{2) Allocation relates to the pre Merger pool i respect of A ordinary shares Face value 1s not included as due 1o the structure of the Share Plan
it 1s not considered a representative figure Further details of the operation of the Share Plan, including performance conditions for vesting
are set out on page 58

(3) Allocation refates to the post Merger pool in respect of B ordinary shares Face value 1s not included as due 1o the structure of the Share
Plan it 15 not considered a representative figure Further details of the operation of the Share Plan, including performance conditons for
vesting are set out on page 58

{4) Nigel Langstaff's share enitlements under the Share Plan remained on resignation from the Board but lapsed on leaving the Group
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Directors’ Share Options

As part of the Merger participants of the Dixons Retail Sharesave Plan were offered the opportunity to roll over therr sharesave
awards into options over Dixons Carphone plc Those awards rolled over by the directors, in addition to other options owned by
the directors over the Company are shown in the table below

Lapsed or
At Awerded  forfelted At
Exercise 30 March in the in the Exercised 2May Date from which Expiry of the
Date of grant price (p) 20149 period period  in period 2015 first exercisable exercise penod
Sebastian James
Sharesave 23 Jub2013m 209 35 601 - - - 601 10ct2016 31 Mar 2017
26 Feb 2015 344 00 — 4,866 - - 4,866 1Apr2018 30Sep2018
601 4,866 - - 5,467
Andrew Hamson
Sharesave i0Jan 2014 22400 4,017 - - - 4,017 1Mar2017 31 Aug 2017
4,017 - - - 4,017
Humphrey Singer
Sharesave 22 Jul 2011 8393 1,505 - - (1,505~ —  10ct2014 31 Mar 2015
23 Jul 20120 9148 1,377 - - - 1,377 10ct 2015 31 Mar 2016
23 Jul 2013™ 209 35 801 - - - 601 10ct2016 31 Mar 2017
26 Feb 20159 344 00 — 4,500 - - 4,500 1Apr2018 30 Sep 2018
3,483 4,500 —  (1,505) 6,478
Katie Bickerstaffe
Sharesave 22 Jul2011™ 8393 1,505 - — {1,505 —  10ct2014 31 Mar2015
23 Jul 20120 9148 1,377 - - - 1,377 10ct 2015 31 Mar 2016
23 Jul 2013 209 35 601 - - 601 10ct2016 31 Mar2017
26 Feb 2015 344 00 - 4,500 - - 4,500 1 Apr2018 30 Sep 2018
3,483 4,500 -  {1,505) 6,478

(1) Share options that were granted under the Dixons Retail Sharesave Plan and rofled over into options over Dixons Carphone plc shares
The exercise pnce shown 15 the roll over pnce over Dixons Carphone plc shares

(2) Date of appointment, if later

(3) The options exercised by Katie Bickerstaffe and Humphrey Singer on 7 October 2014 had a market pnce of £3 685 on the date of exercise

(4) The face value of awards granted on 26 February 2015 for the executive directors was £16,739 for Sebastian James and £15,480 for
Humphrey Singer and Katie Bickerstaffe
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Directors’ shareholding
Detalls of directors’ interests in shares of the Company are shown in the following table

Benefically Owned Restricted interests in share plans
Total Total
benaficial benaficial
interests share
undes share interegts
Share Plan®® Share Plan™ Sharesave ownership asa  Exercised
2 May 2% March as at as at as &t guidelines % of salary® dunng
2015m 2014" 2 May 20157 2 May 2015 2 May 2015 2 May 2015 2 May 2015 2014/15
Executive directors
Current directors
Sebastian James 908,234 908,234 - 1,100 5467 908,234 475% -
Andrew Harnson 5,000,000 5,000,000 700 200 8,883 5,000,000 3,902% -
Humphrey Singer 617,770 616,265 - 700 6478 617,770 558% 1,505
Katie Bickerstaffe 657,590 656,085 - 700 6,478 657,590 564% 1,505
Graham Stapleton 880,034 880,034 600 100 — 880,034 821% -
Former director
Nige! Langstaff 3,654,180 3,654,180 600 - - N/A N/A -
Non-executive directors
Current directors
Sir Charles Dunstone® 134,758,481 135,083,481 - - - - - -
Roger Taylor 9,808,554 9,808,554 - - - — - -
John Gildersleeve 122,568 122,568 - - - - - -
Andrea Gisle Joosen 6,076 6,076 - - - - - -
Tim How 12,400 12,400 -— - - - - -
Jock Lennox 11,625 11,625 - — - - - -
Baroness Morgan of Huyton 991 am - - - - - -
Gerry Murphy 20,000 - - - - - - -
Former directors
John Allan 183,026 183,026 - - - N/A N/A -
John Allwood 10,000 10,000 - - - N/A N/A -

M
@

3

“)

>
{6

Date of appointment, if later

The shares listed here are in ‘A’ ordinary shares New CPW Limited as part of the shares purchased in relation to the Share Plan These have
been subscnbed for by the Directors ‘A’ ordinary shares have a different opening valuation to ‘B' orcnary shares, as descnbed in note (3),
reflecting the value of the Company at appropnate times pnor to the grants

The shares listed here are in ‘B orchnary shares New CPW Limited as part of the shares purchased in relation to the Share Plan These have
been subscnbed for by the Dwectors ‘B’ ordinary shares have a different opering valuation to ‘A’ ordinary shares, as descnbed in note (2},
reflecting the value of the Company at appropnate times prior to the grants

Not inclucding the Share Plan participation shares or sharesave options Based on basic salary as at 3 May 2015 and an average share pnce
over the month to 2 May 2015 of £4 292

Date of resignation, If earher

On 22 January 2015 Su Charles Dunstone transferred 325,000 ordinary shares for nil consideration to the Charles Dunstone Chantable
Trust He s not a trustee or beneficiary of this trust

There were no changes in the directors’ restncted or unrestncted share interests between 2 May 2015 and the date of this report
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Statement of voting at shareholder meetings (not audited)

The Company is committed to ongoing shareholder diaiogue in respect of directors’ remuneration, and takes an active interest
i1 voting outcomes and in particular we have consulted with our shareholders on the remuneration policy being put to the vote
at the Annual General Meeting Where there are substantial votes against resolutions, explanatory reasons will be sought, and

any actions in response will be commumcated to shareholders

The followng tables set out the voting results in relation to the resolutions put to the 2014 annual general meeting

Resolution Votes for % Votes against % Withheld
Approval of Remuneration Polcy 457,425,221 9066 47,152,293 934 2,127,987
Approval of Annual Remuneration report 418,120,856 9140 39,357,141 860 49,227,504

Following feedback received on the policy dunng 2014 the Company has reduced the level of annual bonus for executive
directors and has excluded them from being eligible to partictpate in the mid term incentive plan introduced following

the Merger

Compliance

As required by the Regulations, a resolution to approve this Remuneration report will be proposed at the Annual General Meeting

to be held on 10 September 2015

e ek

John Gildersleeve
Chairman of the Remuneraton Committee
16 July 2015
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Statement of Directors’ responsibilities

The directors are responsible for prepanng the annual report and the financial statements in accordance with applicable law
and regulatons

Company law requires the directors to prepare financial staterments for each financial year Under that law the directors are
required to prepare the consolidated financial statements in accordance with IFRS and Article 4 of the IAS Regulation and have
elected to prepare the Company financial statements in accordance with UK GAAP  Under company law the directors rmust not
approve the accounts unless they are satisfied that they give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Company and the
Group and of the profit or loss of the Company and the Group for that penod

In preparnng the Company financial statements, the directors are required to
* select suttable accounting policies and then apply them consistently,
+ make judgements and accounting estimates that are reasonable and prudent,

+ state whether applicable UK GAAP has been followed, subject to any matenal departures disclosed and explained in the
financial statements, and

+ prepare the financial statements on the going concemn basis unless it 1s inappropnate to presume that the Company will
continue In business

In prepanng the consolidated financial statements, IAS 1 'Presentation of Financial Stalerents' requires that directors
+ properly select and apply accounting policies,

*+ present mformation, including accounting policies, 1N a manner that provides relevant, reliable, comparable and
understandable informaton,

* provide additional disclosures when compliance with the specific requirements in IFRS are insufficient to enable users to
understand the impact of particular transactions, other events and condrtions on the Group's financial position and financiat
performance, and

+ make an assessment of the Group's abilty to continue as a going concem

The directors are responsibie for keeping adequate accounting records that are sufficient to show and explain the Company's
transachions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the Company and the Group and enable
thern to ensure that the financial statements comgply with the Cormpanies Act 2006 They are also responsible for safeguarding
the assets of the Comnpany and the Group and hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and
other imegulanties

The directors are responsible for the mantenance and integnty of the corparate and financial information included on the
Group's website Legislation in the United Kingdom goveming the preparation and dissemination of financial staternents may
dhiffer from legrslation in other junsdictions

Responsibilrty statement
We confirm that to the best of our knowledge

+ the financial statements, prepared in accordance with the relevant financial reporting framework, give a true and far view of
the assets, liabiities, financial position and profit or loss of the Company and the undertakings included in the consolidation
taken as a whole,

+ the Strategic report includes a far review of the development and performance of the business and the posttion of the
Company and the undertakings included in the consolidation taken as a whole, togsther with a descnption of the pnncipal
nsks and uncertanties that they face, and

= the annual report and financial statements, taken as a whole, are far, balanced and understandable and provide the
information necessary for shareholders to assess the Group and the Company's performance, business model and strategy

8y Order of the Board

1
Sebastan James Humphrey Singer
Group Chief Executive Group Finance Director
16 July 2015 16 Juty 2015
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Opimon on the financial statements of Dixons Carphone plc
In our opinon,

+ the financial statements give a true and farr view of the state of the Group's and of the parent Company's affarrs as at 2 May
2015 and of the Group's profit for the period then ended,

+ the Group financia! statements have been properly prepared in accordance with Intemational Financial Reporting Standards
{IFRSs) as adopted by the European Union,

» the parent company financral statements have been propery prepared in accordance with Uruted Kingdom Generally
Accepted Accounting Prachice (UK GAAP), and

+ the Group financial staternents have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006 and, as
regards the Group financial statements, Article 4 of the LAS Regulation

The financial statements compnse the consolidated income statement, the consolidated statement of comprehensive income,
the consolidated balance sheet, the consolidated statement of changes in equity, the consclidated cash flow statement and the
related notes 1 to 30, and the parent Company balance sheet and the related notes C1 to C12 The financial reporting framework
that has been applied in the preparaton of the Group financial statements s applicable law and IFRSs as adopted by the
European Union The financial reporting framework that has been applied in the preparation of the parent Company financial
statements 1s applicable jaw and United Kingdom Accounting Standards (UK GAAP)

Separate opinton In relation to IFRSs as 1ssued by the LASB

As explaned in note 1 to the Group financial statements, n addition to complying with its legal obhigation to apply IFRSs as
adopted by the European Union, the Group has also applied IFRSs as 1ssued by the Intemational Accounting Standards Board
{IASB}

In our opinion the Group financial statements comply with IFRSs as 1ssued by the IASB
Going concern

As required by the Listing Rules we have reviewed the Directors’ statement contained on page 26 that the Group is a going
concern We confirm that

+ we have concluded that the directors’ use of the going concem basis of accounting in the preparation of the financial
statements 1s appropnate, and

+ we have not identified any matenal uncertainties that may cast significant doubt on the group's ability to continue as a going
concem

However, because not all future events or conditions can be predicted, this statement 1s not a guarantee as to the Group's ability
te continue as a going concem

Our assessment of nsks and matenal misstatement

The assessed nsks of matenal misstatement descnbed below are thase that had the greatest effect on our audit strategy, the
allocation of resources in the audit and directing the efforts of the engagement team The key nsks we identified are

= Acquisition accounting,

+ Imparrment of goodwill and other intangible assets,

+ Assets held for sale, discontinued operations and disposal accounting,
+ Revenue recogmbon - network commissions,

« Suppher funcing,

* Inventory provisioning, and

» Taxation
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Risk

How the scope of our audrt responded to the risk

Acquisittion accounting

The dentification and deterrrunation of the fair value of
intangible assets ansing from the acquisttion of Dixons
Retail plc and the recogrutron of fair value adjustments
through the associated purchase pnce allocation
process mvolves complex accounting considerations
Managerment engaged extemal valuation experts in
relation to this process £3,002 million of intangble
assets, ncluding brand names of £365 miflion, customer
relaticnships of £8 milion and goodwll of £2,629 milhon
have been recognised in the penod The intangible asset
dentificatron and valuation process requires
management judgement in respect of estimates of future
cash flows and assoctated discount rates in addition to
economic ives

Farr value adjustments, in particular those ansing from
property, plant & equipment, pre-existing intangible
assets and property operating leases, require significant
judgement in relation to fair value at the date of
acquisttion, for which management also engaged
extemal valuation experts

Further informatton in relation to this area 1s discussed in
notes 1u) and 23 to the Group financial statements

We tested the design and implementation of the controls around
management’s process for both the sdentification and valuation of
intangtble assets and fair value adjustments We used our intemal
valuahion specialists to consider and evaluate the appropnateness of
the methodologies applied and to test the inputs to the valuation
models used to determine the value of the mtangible assets, including
the discount rates, growth rates and useful economic lives, through
companng these against indusiry benchmarks on simitar assets and
our understanding of the future prospects of the business We also
tested the appropnateness of the cash flow projections used in

the valuations

For the other significant fair value adjustrments, we obtaned
appropnate support for the adjustments, reviewed any assumptions
agamnst relevant ndustry and company data to assess the
appropnateness of the adjustments, and utitsed intemal valuation
specialists where appropniate

Impairment of goodwill and other intangible assets

The Group has significant acquisition related intangible
assets, including goodwill, (£3,351 millicn at 2 May 2015
including £2,989 millkon of goodwill and £362 million of
acquisition intangibles, related to the CPW Europe
Acquisttion in the pnor year and in the current year the
acquisition of Dixons Retall pic) The Group's
assessment of iImpaiment of acquisition related
intangible assets, pnmanly ansing from the CPW Europe
ard Dixons Retall plc acquisitions, is a judgemental
process which requires estimates conceming the future
cash flows and associated discount rates and growth
rates based on management’s projections of future
business performance and prospects The key
judgements and estimates involved are described i
more detail in notes 1§, 1m) and 1u) to the Group
financial statements

We assessed the assumptions used by management in the
impawrment models for goodwill and acquistion related intangible
assets, meluding the allocation to cash generating units descnbed in
note 9 to the Group financial statements, and more specifically the
cash flow projections, discount rates (utiising the assistance of our
valuation specialists), and long term growth rates used against
tustoncal performance, our understanding of the future prospects of
the business and companson against market rates and the prevailing
Group cost of capital at the year end We have audited the mechanics
of the impairment models prepared by management

Assets held for sale, discontinued operabons and
disposal accounting

The classification and valuation of net assets in the
Phone House operations in the Netherlands, Germany
and Portugal as held for sale at the balance sheet date is
a key area of management judgement In addition, the
classification of these busmesses as discontinued
operations must be carefully considered in line with the
relevant accounting standard Further information is
included in note 24 to the Group financial statements

We tested the design and impiementation of controls which
management have in place around planned and completed
disposal actmties

We challenged management’s judgement on the classification and
valuation of assets held for sale through understanding the status of
the sales process and reviewing comespondence from purchasers and
prospective purchasers This included consideration of any relevant
disposal prowisions with reference 1o the sales agreements and
supporting documentation We also assessed the classification of
disposed businesses and other assets held for sale as discontinued
operations against the relevant cntena in the accounting standard
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Risk

How the scope of our audit responded to the nsk

Revenue recognrhion - network commussions

Commussion receivable on sales, being commission
which 1s contractually committed, and for which there
are no ongoing performance obligations, 1s dependent
on customer behaviour beyond the point of sale
Managerment 1s therefore required to exercise
judgement in respect of the level of customer default
within the contract penod, expected levels of customer
spend and customer behawviour beyond the initial
contract perod The key judgements and estimates
involved are descnbed in more detail in notes 1) and
1u) to the Group financial statements

We evaluated the design and implementatron of both the manual and
automated controls over the revenue recognition process in respect
of commissions receivable, utiising [T specialists to assist with testing
of automated controls In addition we tested that these controls were
operating effectively throughout the penod

We have tested the valuation of revenue recognised through review
of the Group’s contractual arangements, substantive testing of
management assumptions including tenure, line rental, and chum to
third party network data and testing of subsequent cash receipts

We have also assessed any changes in estimate in companson to the
prior year and reviewed year on year movement in key assumptions

Suppher funding

The Group holds a number of significant funding
arrangements with suppliers Agreements in relation to
supplier funding are based predominantly on volume-
related targets, for both purchases and sales, and are
most commonly agreed as a fixed percentage of targets
upfront These targets are generally a mix of quarterly
and annual targets and are mostly coterminous with the
Group's year end The timing of recognition of this
income 1s sometimes judgemental, in particular where
the target penod for measunng achievements spans the
year end and 1t 1s necessary to ensure there 1s sufficient
formal documentation justifying recognition As a result,
and given the increased focus on this area by
management and investors, we have elevated the
treatment of supplier funding to be a significant nsk
area this year The key judgements and estimates
involved are described in more detaill In note 1u) to the
Group financial statements

We obtained an understanding of the key supplier funding
arrangements across the Group As part of this, we met with the key
commercial and finance process owners, we tested the design and
implementation of the Group's key controls in operation, pnncipally
focused on those that determine the appropriate iming of recognition
for supplier funding batances, and we performed an analytical
assessment of movements in suppher funding throughout the

current year {0 histoncal trends

To ensure there 1s sufficient evidence to support the recognition
of suppher funding, we substantively tested and recalculated a
sample of amounts with reference to third party contracts We
also obtamned confirmations received following circulansation of
a sample of suppliers

Inventory provisioning

Inventory 1s a significant balance for the Group

(£920 milhon at 2 May 2015) and there are a nurmber

of judgemental areas mcluding obsolescence and
shnnkage provisioning This nsk has a significant effect
on our audit strategy, the allocation of resources in the
audit and directing the efforts of the engagement team
i1t the legacy Dixons side of the business only, given the
nature and relative significance of the inventory balances
within each pant of the Group Further information in
relation to this area 1s discussed in notes 1q) and 1u)

to the Group financial statements

We have performed testing of the operating effectiveness of controls
around the inventory business cycle and attended a sample of
inventory counts at 31 stores and distnbution centres across the UK
and Nordics, including visiting the Group’s mamn distnbution centre in
Newark on five separate occasions, which enables us to assess
management’s processes for monitonng inventory We performed
audit tests to assess whether inventory 1s valued at the lower of cost
and net realisable value We reviewed, recalcutated and assessed the
inventory ageing and provisioning for reasonableness, including
challenging the appropnateness of provisioning with reference to both
historical and post year end performance and a review of the provision
as a percentage of gross stock year on year We have also considered
the mpact of range changes and other specific known areas of over-
stock on the required provision calculation

Taxation

The Group operates in a number of different tax
unsdictions The nature of the Group’s operations and
related transactions can give nse to uncertam tax
treatments, including with respect to transfer pricing,
thereby requinng the use of estimates and assumptions
which may be subsequently challenged by the relevant
tax authonties

Further information in relation to this area 1s discussed
in notes 1k} and 1u) to the Group financial statements

We used our internal tax specialists to evaluate and test
management’s assumptions in respect of tax related provisions,
including assessment against local tax legislation and review of
supporting documentation
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Last year our report included one other nsk which is not included in our report this year and related to the Group’s
announcement of its planned exit from the French retail market in Apnl 2013 The Dixons Retall pic audit report also included
nsks related to non-underlying items, defined benefit pension assumptions and customer support agreement revenue
recognition In the new enlarged Group, these nsks do not represent areas that had the greatest effect on our audit strategy,
the allocation of resources in the audit and directing the efforts of the engagement team

The descnption of nsks above should be read in conjunction with the significant Issues considered by the Audt Committee
discussed on page 49 and 50 '

Our audrt procedures relating to these matters were designed in the context of our audit of the financial statements as a whole,
and not to express an opinion on indmvidual accounts or disclosures Qur opinion on the financtal statements 15 not modified with
respect to any of the nsks descnbed above, and we do not express an opinion on these individual matters

Qur application of matenality

We define matenality as the magnitude of nuisstaterment in the financial statements that makes it probable that the economic
decisions of a reasonably knowledgeable person would be changed or influenced We use matenalty both in planning the scope
of our audit work and in evaluating the results of our work

We determined mateniality for the group to be £14 0 million, which 1s below 5% of adjusted Headline profit before tax, and below
1% of equity In using adjusted heading profit before tax, we have followed the Group’s definbon of Headline results in note 1a)
and adjusted this to include the impact of the amartisation of acquistion intangibles and pension finance costs due to their
recumng nature We have assessed the use of a Headline measure to be appropniate as this continues to be a key dnver of
business value, 15 a cntical component of the financial statements and the main measure which management uses to monitor
the performance of the business and communicate this to shareholders

In 2013/14 matenality was £6 0 million, below 5% of Headline profit before tax and below 2% of equity

We agreed with the Audit Committee that we would report to the Commuittee all audtt differences in excess of £500,000
(2013/14 £120,000), as well as differences below that threshold that, in our view, waranted reporting on qualitative grounds
We also report to the Audit Committee on disclosure matters that we identrfied when assessing the overall presentation of the
financal statements

Financial statements

An overview of the scope of our audrt

We have reassessed our group audit scope following the acquisition of Dixons Retail plc and accordingly have no longer
performed full scope audits in Portugal or {reland

Our group audit was scoped by obtaiung an understanding of the Group and its environment, including group-wide controls,
and assessing the nisks of matenal misstatement at the group level Based on that assessment, we focused our group audit
scope pnmanly on the audit work of the retail operations operating under the Dixons and Carphone brands in the UK, and those
operations in the Nordics, Germany, Spain and the Netherlands Each of these components requires a local statutory audit
These locations represent the principal business units and account for approximately 93% of the Group's revenue ansing from
continung operations (2013/14 95%)} In addition, an audit of specified account balances was performed in Greece Each
location was selected to provide an appropriate basis for undertaking audit work 1o address the nsks of matenal misstatement
identified above Our audit work at these locations was executed at a level of matenality applicable to each individual entity
which was lower than group matenality and ranged from £1 0 million to £8 0 million

At the Dixens Carphone plc parent entity level we also tested the consohdation process and camed out analytical procedures to
confirm our conclusion that there were no significant nsks of matenal misstatemnent of the aggregated financial information of the
remaming components not subject to audit or audit of specified account balances

The Group audit team Is closely involved in the audit of the two UK components, being the largest part of the Group, throughout
the year including attendance at key audit planning and closing meetings In addition, the Group audit team continued to follow a
programme of planned visits to overseas components that has been designed so that a senior member of the Group audit team
visits the most significant locations each year For the penod ended 2 May 2015, a senior member of the Group audit team
visited Norway, Spain, and Germany In years when we do not visit a particutar significant component we will Include the
component audit team in our team bnefing, discuss their nsk assessment, and review documentation of the findings from

their work
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Independent Auditor’s report

Opimon on other matters prescribed by the Compames Act 2006
In our opinion

» the part of the Directors' Remuneration report to be audited has been properly prepared in accordance with the Companies
Act 2006, and

+ the information given in the Strategic report and the Directors' report for the financial year for which the financial statements
are prepared 15 consistent with the financial statements

Matters on which we are required to report by exception

Adequacy of explanations received and accounting records
Under the Companies Act 2006 we are required to report to you i, in our opinion

+ we have not receved all the information and explanations we require for our audit, or

+ adequate accounting records have not been kept by the parent company, or retums adequate for our audit have not been
recewved from branches not visited by us, or

+ the parent company financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and returns
We have nothing to report in respect of these matters

Directors' remuneration

Under the Comparies Act 2006 we are also required to report if in our opinion certam disclosures of directors’ remuneration
have not been made or the part of the Directors’ Remuneration report to be audited 1s not In agreement with the accounting
records and retumns We have nothing to report ansing from these matiers

Corporate Govemance statermnent
Under the Listing Rules we are also required to review the part of the Corporate Governance statermnent relating to the company’s
compliance with 10 provisions of the UK Corporate Govemance Code We have nothing to report ansing from our review

Our duty to read other information i the Annual Report and Accounts
Under International Standards on Auditing (UK and freland), we are required to report to you if, in our opinien, information in the
Annual Report and Accounts I1s

« matenally inconsistent with the information in the audited financral statements, or

+ apparently matenally incorrect based on, or matenally inconsistent with, cur knowledge of the Group acquired 1n the course
of perforrming our audit, or

= otherwise misleading

In particular, we are required 1o consider whether we have identified any inconsistencies between our knowledge acquired
dunng the audit and the directors’ statement that they consider the annual report 1S far, balanced and understandable

and whether the Annual Report and Accounts appropnately discloses those matters that we communicated to the Audit
Committee which we consider should have been disclosed We confirm that we have not identified any such inconsistencies
or misleading statements

Respective responsibiities of directors and auditor

As explained more fully in the Statement of Directors’ responsibilities, the directors are responsible for the preparation of the
financial statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view Our responsibility 1s to audit and express an
opirnion on the financial statements in accordance with applicable law and Intemational Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland)
Those standards require us to comply with the Auditing Practices Board's Ethical Standards for Auditors We also comply with
Intemational Standard on Quality Control 1 (UK and Ireland) Our audit methodology and too!s aim to ensure that our quabty
control procedures are effective, understood and apphed Our quality controls and systems include our dedicated professional
standards review team and independent partner reviews

This report 1s made solely to the Company’s members, as a body, in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the Companies Act
2006 Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the Company’s members those matters we are required to
state to them in an audrtor's report and for no other purpose To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume
responsibility to anyone other than the company and the company’s members as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for
the opinions we have formed
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Scope of the audit of the financial statements

An audit nvolves obtaining evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements sufficient to give reasonable
assurance that the financial statements are free from rmatenal misstatement, whether caused by fraud or error This includes an
assessment of whether the accounting policies are appropnate to the Group’s and the parent Company's circumstances and
have been consistently apphied and adequately disclosed, the reasonableness of signficant accounting estimates made by the
directors, and the overall presentation of the financial staternents In addition, we read all the financial and non-financial
nformation in the Annual Report to identfy matenal inconsistencies with the audited financial statements and to identfy any
information that 1s apparentty matenally incorrect based on, or matenally mconsistent with, the knowledge acquired by us in the
course of performing the audit If we become aware of any apparent matenal misstatements or inconsistencies, we consider
the mplications for our report

To M

John Adam (Senior Statutory Auditor)

for and on behalf of Delotte LLP

Chartered Accountants and Statutory Auditors
London Unted Kingdom

16 July 2015

Dixons Garphone plc Annual Report and Accounts 2014/15 81

Financial statements




Financial statements

Consolidated income statement

Restated!
13 months ended 2 May 2015 Year ended 29 March 2014
Nen- Non-
HeadfRne® Headline* Tota! Headlne Headline Total

Nots Emillion E£nullion Cmillion Emilon Emillion Emillion

Continuing operations
Revenue 2 8,255 - 8,255 1,943 - 1,943

Profit / (loss) from operations before share of

results of joint ventures 400 (76) 324 134 (28} 106
Share of results of joint ventures 23 - - - 3 (23) (20)
Profit / (loss) before interest and tax 23 400 {76) 324 137 (51} 86
Finance income 15 — 15 8 — 8
Finance costs (39} {13) 52) {17} - (17)
Net finance costs {24) (13) =N 9) - (9)
Profit / {loss) before tax are (89) 287 128 (51) 77
Income tax (expense) / credit 7 {91} 15 (76} (25) 6 {19)
Profit / {loss) after tax - continuing operations 285 (74) 211 103 {(45) 58
Loss after tax — discontinued operations 24 - {114} {114) - {10} {10)
Profit / (loss) after tax for the penod 285 {188) 97 103 (55) 48
Earnings per share (pence) 8
Basic — continuing operations 29.7p 22 0p 18 6p 10 4p
Diluted - continuing operations 28.7p 21.2p 183p 10 3p
Basic - total 10.1p 8 6p
Diluted - total 9.8p 85p

Headiine results exclude amortisation of acquisibion intangibles, Merger integration and transaction costs, CPW Europe Acquisition related
items, Phone House France operating and closure costs whilst it formed part of the CPW Europe joint venture, net interest on defined
benefit pension schemes and discontinued operations (compnsing Virgin Mobile France and Phone House operations in France, Germany,
Netherlands and Portugal) Such excluded tems are descnbed as ‘Non-Headline' For further details see notes 4 and 24 to the financsal
information

1 The results for the year ended 29 March 2014 have been restated to recognise the resulls of the operations in France, Germany,
Netherlands and Portugal as discontinued operations
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Consolidated statement of comprehensive income

13 months Year
ended ended
2May 29 March

2015 2014
Emilifon £ruthon
Profit after tax for the penod 97 48
items that may be reclassified to the incomne statement in subsequent years
Cash flow hedges
Farr value remeasurement losses {14) -
Gamns transferred to carrying amount of inventories 4 -
Movements in relation to interest rate hedges - 2
Exchange differences ansing on translation of foreign operations (107) (8)
Other foreign exchange differences 3 3)
{114) {9)
iterms that will not be reclassified to the incomae statement in subseguent years
Actuanal losses on defined benefit pension schemes - UK {72) -
- Overseas (1} -
Deferred tax on actuanal losses on defined benefit pension schemes 15 -
Foreign exchange movements (1} -
(59) —
Other comprehensive expense for the penod (taken to equity) (173} Q)
Total comprehensive (expense} / income for the penod (76) 39
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Consolidated balance sheet

2 May 29 March
2015 2014
Note Smiltion Lmillion
Non-current assets
Goodwill 9 2,989 481
Intangible assets 10 525 136
Property, plant & equipment 1 327 a0
Trade and other receivables 13 318 191
Deferred tax assets 7 263 54
4,422 952
Current assets
Inventory 12 920 240
Trade and other recemvables 13 207 821
Cash and cash equivalents 14 163 283
1,990 1,344
Assets held for sale 24 137 11
Total assets 6,549 2,307
Current habilities
Trade and other payables 15 (1,961) {869)
Deferred consideraton 16 (25) {25)
Income tax payable 89) (36)
Loans and other borrowings (55) -
Finance lease obligations 18 {2) (1)
Provisions 19 (54) (50}
(2,186) (981)
Liabiities associated with assets held for sale 24 (68) -
(2,254) (981)
Non-current iabilities
Trade and other payables 15 (496) {113)
Deferred consideration 16 (6) {25)
Loans and other borrowings 17 (330) {290)
Finance lease obhgations 18 (89) -
Retirement benefit obligations 20 (489) -
Deferred tax liabilities 7 (101) (18)
Provisions 19 {21) -
(1,532)  (446)
Total habilites (3,786) (1,427)
Net assets 2,763 880
Capital and reserves
Share capital 21 1 1
Share premium reserve 2,256 283
Accumulated profits 1,369 1,355
Translation reserve (113) )
Demerger reserve (750) {750)
Equity attnbutable to equity holders of the parent company 2,763 880

The financial statements were approved by the directors on 16 July 2015 and signed on therr behalf by

7
Sebastan James, Humphrey Singer,
Group Cheef Executive Group Finance Dwrector
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Consolidated statement of changes in equity

Sha
Share premiu: A lated Tr Demerger Total
capital resarve profits ressrve reserve squity
Note Emillion fmillion Smilion  Smillon  Emiflon  Smillan
At 1 Apnl 2013 1 170 1,238 2 {750) 661
Profit for the penod - - 48 - - 48
Other comprehensive Income and expense
recognised directly in equity — - 2 (11} - 9
Total comprehensive income and expense
for the penod - - 50 (11 - 39
Ordinary shares 1ssued — 113 103 -— —_ 216
Net purchase of own shares - - (12) - - (12}
Equity dividends 22 - - (30) - - {30}
Tax on items recogrised directly through reserves - - 6 - - 6
At 29 March 2014 1 283 1,355 © {750) 880
Profit for the penod - - 97 - — 97
Other comprehensive income and expense
recognised directly in equity - - {€9) (104) - (173
Total comprehensive income and expense
for the penod - - 28 {104) - {76)
Ordinary shares 1ssued 21 - 1,973 - - — 1,973
Equity dividends 22 - - {52) - - (52)
Net movement in relation to share schemes - - 21 - - 21
Tax on items recognised directly in reserves - - 17 - - 17

At 2 May 2015

1 2,256 1,369 (113) (750) 2,763
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Consolidated cash flow statement

Restated
13 months Year
ended ended
2 May 29 March
205 2014
Nota Emillion £mihon
Operating activities - continuing operations
Cash generated from operations 26 110 413
Special contnbutions to defined benefit pension scheme (28) -
fncome tax paid (39) (15)
Net cash flows from operating activities 43 398
Investing activities - continuing operations
Interest receved 1 2
Net cash outflow ansing from CPW Europe Acquisition (25) {317)
Cash acquired on the Merger ar -
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant & equipment 11 10
Proceeds on sale of business and short term investments 8 5
Acquisition of property, plant & equipment and other infangibles (166) (57
Net receipts from jont ventures - 2
Net cash flows from investing activities 176 (355)
Financing activities — continutng operations
Settlement of financial instruments - 3
Interest paid (30} (14)
Repayment of obligations under finance leases {7 (2)
Issue of shares — 124
Net purchase of own shares - (12}
Equity dividends paid (52) (30}
{Decrease) / increase in borrowings 2t1) 19
Bond redemption premium (38) -
Facility amangement fees paid {4 (6)
Net cash flows from financing activibies (342) 82
(Decrease) / increase in cash and cash equivalents
Continuing operations (123) 125
Discontinued operations 24 3 4
(120) 166
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the period 283 117
Currency translation differences - -
Cash and cash equivalents at end of the penod 26 163 283
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Notes to the Group financial statements

1 Accounting policies
a) Basis of preparation

The consolidated financiat statements have been prepared on
a going concem basis n accordance with IFRS as adopted
by the EU, IFRS issued by the Intermational Accounting
Standards Board, those parts of the Companies Act 2006
applicable to those companies reporting under IFRS and
Article 4 of the !AS Regulation

The financial statements have been presented i UK Sterling,
the functional currency of the Company, and on the histoncal
cost basis except for the revaluation of certan financial
instruments, as explained below All amounts have been
rounded to the nearest £1 milhon, unless otherwise stated
The principal accounting policies adopted are set out below

As descnbed 1n note 23, on 6 August 2014, the Group
completed the merger of Dixons and Carphone, which was
implemented by way of a scheme of arangement of Dixons
The Company has been renamed Dixons Carphone plc Under
the terms of the Merger, Dixons Shareholders received 0 155
of a new Dixons Carphone Share in exchange for each Dixons
share In accordance with the crtena set out in IFRS 3
‘Business Combinations’ it has been detenmined that
Carphone acquired Dixons

Certain line item descriptions within the income statement and
balance sheet have been adapted to better represent the
newly merged group and are intended to be presented on this
basis going forwards

Histoncally, the Group prepared its financial statements to the
Saturday closest to its accounting reference date of 31 March
Following the Merger, the Group changed its accounting
reference date to 30 Apn! which was the accounting reference
date of Dixons, but will continue to draw up accounts to the
nearest Saturday Accordingly the current financial penod s for
the 13 months ended 2 May 2015 whilst the comparative
penod 1s for the 12 month pencd ended 29 March 2014

The Group’s mcome statement and segmental analysis identify
separately Headline performance and Non-Headline items
Headline performance measures reflect adjustments to total
perforrance measures The directors consider ‘Headline'
performance meastires to be a more accurate reflection of the
ongoing trading performance of the Group and believe that
these measures provide additional useful information for
shareholders on the Group's performance and are consistent
with how business performance 1s measured intemally

HMeadline results are stated before the results of discontinued
operations or exited / to be exited businesses, amortisation of
acquisition intangibles, any exceptional temns considered so
one off and matenal that they distort underlying performance
(such as reorganisation costs, impairment charges and other
non-recumng charges) and net pension interest costs
Businesses exited or to be exited are those which the Group
has exsted or committed to or commenced to exit through
disposal or closure but do not meet the definition of
discontinued operations as stipulated by IFRS and are
matenal to the results and operations of the Group

Non-Headline tems in the current and pnor year compnse
amorhsation of acquisition intangibles, Merger integration and
transaction costs, CPW Europe Acquisition related itermns,
Phone House France operating and closure costs whilst it
formed part of the CPW Europe joint venture, net interest on
definred benefit pension schemes and discontinued operations
(compnising Virgin Mobile France and Phone House operations
in France, Germany, Netherlands and Portugal) A
reconciliation of Headhne profit and losses to total profits and
losses 1s shown in note 2 tems excluded from Headline
results can evolve from one financial year to the next
depending on the nature of exceptional items or one-off type
activihes descnbed above and the exclusion of pension
interest 1s such an item applicable to the 13 months ended

2 May 2015 Headline performance measures and Non-
Headline performance measures may not be directly
comparable with other similarly titled measures or ‘adjusted’
revenue or profit measures used by other companies

The results for the year ended 29 March 2014 have been
restated to recognise the results of the operations in France,
Germany, Netherlands and Portugal as discontinued
operations Therefore financial information in the income
statement, cash fiows statement and associated notes have
been restated to reflect this classification

Gains on disposat of non-core businesses in Southemn Europe
have been included in Headline results net of restructunng
costs The net mpact of these activities totalled €5 rmillion

Since the penod ended 2 November 2014, the Group applhed
adjustments to the fairr values of assets and habilibes acquired
through the Merger These adjustments resulted in the far
value of identifiable net iabilities acquired reducing from

£656 milion to £647 million resulting In a reduction in the
goodwtll recognised from £2,638 million to £2,629 million

Gomng concem

The Group's funding arrangernents and processes for
managing its exposure to hquidity nsk are set out In notes
17 and 25

In their consideration of going concem, the directors have
reviewed the Group's future cash forecasts and profit
projections, which are based on market data and past
expenence This review considered the mplications of the
Merger and the continuing uncertainty in Greece, including the
effect on forecast cash flows and changes to the Group's
financing faciities The directors are of the opinion that the
Group's forecasts and projections, which take into account
reasonably possible changes in trading performance, show
that the Group 15 able to operate within its current facilities and
comply with its banking covenants for the foreseeable future
In amving at their conclusion that the Group has adequate
financial resources, the directors were mindful of the level of
borrowings and facilities as set out in note 17 to the Group
financial statements and that the Group has a robust policy
towards quidity and cash flow management

Accordingly the directors have a reasonable expectation that
the Company and the Group have adequate resources to
continue in operation for the foreseeable future and
consequently the directors continue to apply the going
concern basis in the preparation of the financial statements
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Notes to the Group financial statements

The principal accounting policies are set out below
b) Accounting convention and basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements of the Company and entites controlled by the
Company {its subsidianes) Control i1s achieved where the
Company has the power over the investee, 15 exposed, or has
nights, to vanable return from its involvement with the investee,
and has the ability to use its power to affects its retums

The results of subsidianes and joint ventures acquired or sold
dunng the year are iIncluded in the consolidated income
statement from the effective date of acquisition or up to the
effective date of disposal as appropnate, which 1s the date
from which the power to control passes Where necessary,
adjustments are made to the financial statements of
subsidianes to bring the accounting policies used into hne with
those used by the Group All intercompany transactions and
balances are elminated on consolidation

c) Foreign currency translabon and transactions

Matenal transactions in foreign currencies are hedged using
forward purchases or sales of the relevant currencies and are
recognised in the financial statements at the exchange rates
thus obtaned Unhedged transactions are recorded at the
exchange rate on the date of the transaction Matenal
moenetary assets and habihties denomnated in foreign
currencies are hedged, mainly using forward foreign exchange
contracts to create matching habilities and assets, and are
retranslated at each balance sheet date Hedge accounting
as defined by IAS 39 ‘Financial Instruments  Recognition and
Measurement’ has been applied by marking to market the
refevant financial Instruments at the balance sheet date and
recognising the gain or loss In reserves In respect of cash
flow hedges, and through profit or loss in respect of farr
value hedges

The results of overseas operations are translated at the
average foreign exchange rates for the year, and therr balance
sheets are translated at the rates prevaiing at the balance
sheet date Goodwill 1s held in the currency of the operation to
which it relates Exchange differences ansing on the translation
of net assets, goodwill and results of overseas operations are
recognised in the translation reserve All other exchange
differences are included in profit or loss in the year in which
they anse except where the Group designates financial
nstruments held for the purpose of hedging the foreign
currency expesures that result from matenal transactions
undertaken in foreign currencies as cash flow hedges, hedge
accounting as defined by IAS 39 'Financial Instruments
Recogriton and Measurernent’ 1s apphed The effective
portion of changes in the fair value of financial instruments
that are designated as cash flow hedges 1s recognised in
other comprehensive income The gain or loss relating to the
ineffective portion 1s recognised in profit or loss Amounts
previously recognised in equrty are reclassified to profit or
toss N the penods when the hedged item s recognised in
profit or loss

Where a foreign operation is disposed of, the gain or loss on
disposal recogrised in profit or loss 1s determined after taking
into account the cumulative currency transiation differences
that are attnbutable to the operation The pnncipal exchange

rates against UK Sterling used in these financial statements are
as follows

Average Closing

2015 2014 2015 214

Euro 1.28 119 1.35 121
Norwegian Krone 10.86 - 11.51 -
Swedish Krona 11.85 1036 12.72 10 82

d) Revenus

Revenue compnses sales of goods and services excluding
sales taxes The following accounting policies are apphed to
the principal revenue generating activities in which the Group
1s engaged

+ revenue from the sale of goods 1$ recognised at the point of
sale or, where later, upon delivery to the customer and Is
stated net of retums,

» revenue eamed from customer support agreements 1
recognised over the life of the agreement by reference to the
stage of completon of the transaction at the balance sheet
date,

+ revenue arising on services 1s recognised when the relevant
services are provided,

+ commussion recevable on sales, being commission which 18
contractually committed, and for which there are no ongoing
performance obligations, 1s recognised when the sales to
which the commission relates are made, net of any provision
for promotional offers and network operator performance
penalties Commussion includes a share of customer airtime:
spend, to the extent that it can be rehably measured and
there are no ongoing service obhgations Where the time
valug of money has a matenal impact, an appropnate
discount 1s applied such that revenue 1s recogrised at an
amount egual to the present value of the future
consideration to be received,

+ other ongoing revenue is recognised as It Is eamed over the
lwes of the relevant customers,

+ volume bonuses recevable from network operators are
recognised when the conditions on which they are earmned
have been met,

nsurance premums are typically pad either monthly or
quarterly n advance Sales commission paid by third parties
18 recognised when the insurance policies to which it relates
are sold, to the extent that it can be reliably measured and
there are no ongong service obligations Insurance premium
income for the provision of ongoing msurance services is
recognised over the lives of the relevant policies,

+ revenue from the sale of prepaid credits 1s deferred until the
customer uses the artime or the credit expires, and

* revenue generated from the provision of fixed and mobile
network services 1s recognised as It 1s eamed over the lives
of the relevant customers

e) Other income, including non-operating income

Other ncome, which 1s incidental to the Group's pnncipal
activities of seling goods and services and accordingly 1s not
recorded as part of revenue, 1s recognised when the Group

88 Dixons Carphone plc Annual Report and Accounts 2014/15




obtains the nght to consideration by performance of its
contractual obligations Interest ncome is accrued on a time
basis, by referenca to the pnncipal outstanding and at the
effective interest rate apphcable

f) Discontinued operations and assets and kabilthes
held for sale

A discontinued operation 1s a component of the Group which
represents a significant separate Ine of business, either
through its actvity or geographical area of operation, which
has been sold, 1s held for sale or has been closed

Where tha sale of a8 component of the Group 1s considered
highly probable and the business i1s available for mmediate
sale inits present condition, it 1s classified as held for sale
Such classification assumes the expectation that the sale will
complete within one year from the date of classification Assets
and liabiibes held for sale are measured at the lower of
carrying armount and fair value less costs to selt Once
classified as held for sale, intangible assets and property,

plant & equipment are no longer amortised or depreciated

g) Share-based payments

Equity settled share-based payments are measured at far
value at the date of grant, and expensed on a straight line
basis over the vesting penod, based on an estimate of the
number of shares that will eventually vest

Where share-based payments are subject only to service
conditions or intemnal performance cntena {such as EPS
targets), far value 1s measured using either a Binormial model
or a Black Scheoles model Where share-based payments have
external performance cntena (such as TSR targets) a Monte
Carlo model 1s used to measure far value

For all schemes, the number of ophons expected to vest is
recalculated at each balance sheet date, based on
expactations of leavers pnor to vesting For schemes with
intemal performance cntena, the number of options expected
to vest 1s also adjusted based on expectations of performance
against target No adjustment 1s made for expected
performance against extemal performance cntena The
movement in cumulative expense since the previous balance
sheet date 15 recognised in the iIncome statement, with a
comesponding entry in reserves

If a share-based payment scheme is cancelled, any remaining
part of the farr value of the scheme 1s expensed through the
income statement If a share-based payment scheme 1s
forferted, no further expense Is recognised and any charges
previcusly recogrised through the ncome statement

are reversed

Charges also anse on loans that are provided to employees to
fund the purchase of shares as part of long term incentrve
plans To the extent to which the loans are not, in certain
crrcumstances, repayable, the cost of the relevant part of
such loans 1s expensed over the course of the relevant
Incentive plans

h) Retirement benefit obligations

Company contnbutions 1o defined contribution pension
schemes and contnbutions made to state pension schemes
for certan overseas employees are charged to the income
statement on an accruals basis when employees have
rendered service entithng them to the contnibutions

For defined benefit pension schemes, the difference between
the market value of the assets and the present value of the
accrued pension hablities 1s shown as an asset or hability in the
consoldated balance sheet The calculation of the present
value1s determined using the projected unit credit method

Actuanal gans and losses ansing from changes in actuanal
assumptions together with expenence adjustments and actual
returm on assets are recogrused in the consolidated statement
of comprehensive income and expense as they anse Such
amounts are not reclassified to the iIncome statement in
subsequent years

Defined benefit costs recognised in the Income statement
compnse matnly net interest expense or income with such
interest being recogruised within finance costs Net interest ts
calculated by applying the discount rate to the net defined
benefit lability or asset takung into account any changes in the
net defined benefit obligation dunng the year as a result of
contnbution or benefit payments

i) Dividends

Intenm dividends are recognised in the year in which they are
pard Final dividends are recogrised as a hability in the year in
which they are approved by shareholders

i) Leases

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of
the lease transfer substantially all the nsks and rewards of
ownership to the lessee The determination of the classification
of property leases I1s made by reference to the land and
bulldings elements separately All leases not classified as
finance leases are classified as operating leases

The Group as a lessor

Rental income from operating leases is recognised on a
straight-hne basis over the term of the relevant lease Initial
direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating
lease are added to the carmying amount of the leased asset and
recognised on a straght-line basis over the iease term

The Group as a lessee

Finance leases

Assets held under finance leases are capitalised at their far
value on acquisition or, if lower, at the present value of the
minimum lease payments, each determined at the inception of
the lease and depreciated over therr estmated useful Iives or
the lease term If shorter The comresponding obhgaton to the
lessor 1s included in the balance sheet as a hability Lease
payments are apportioned between finance charges and
reduction of the lease obligation Finance charges are
charged to the mcome statement over the terrn of the lease
in proportion to the capital element outstanding
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Operating leases

Rental payments under operating leases are charged to the
income statement on a straight-line basis over the penod of
the lease Contingent rentals ansing under operating leases
are recognised as an expense in the penod in which they
are incurred

Benefits received and recevable as an incentive to enter Into
operating leases are amortised through the income statement
over the pencd of the lease

k) Taxation

Current tax

Current tax, 1s provided at amounts expected to be paid or
recovered using the prevailing tax rates and laws that have
been enacted or substantially enacted by the balance
sheet date and adjusted for any tax payable in respect of
previous years

Deferred tax

Deferred tax labiliies are recognised for afl temporary
differences between the carrying amount of an asset or hability
in the balance sheet and the tax base value and represent tax
payable in future penods Deferred tax assets are recogrised
to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be
avallable aganst which deductible temporary differences can
be utiised

Deferred tax habilibes are recogrised for taxable temporary
differences anstng on Investments in subsidianes, except
where the Group 1s able to control the reversal of the
temporary difference and it 1s probable that the temporary
difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future No
provision 1s made for tax which would have been payable on
the distnbution of retained profits of overseas subsidianes or
assoclated undertakings where it has been determined that
these profits will not be distnbuted in the foreseeable future

A deferred tax asset 1s recognised only to the extent that it1s
probable that future taxable profits will be available against
which the asset can be utitsed Current and deferred taxs
recogrised in the income statement except where it refates to
an item recognised directly in reserves, in which case it 1s
recogrised directly in reserves

Deferred tax 1s measured at the average tax rates that are
expected to apply in the years in which the tmung differences
are expected to reverse, based on tax rates and laws that
have been enacted, or substantially enacted by the balance
sheet date

Deferred tax assets and habities are offset against each other
when they relate to income taxes levied by the same tax
junsdiction and when the Group intends to settle its current tax
assets and habilities on a net basis Deferred tax balances are
not discounted

I} Goodwill

On acquisition of a subsichary or associate, the far value of the
consideration 1s allocated between the dentifiable net tangible
and intangible assets and liabilties on a far value basis, with
any excess consideration representing goodwill At the
acquisition date, goodwilt is allocated to each Cash Generating
Unit (CGU) expected to benefit from the combnation and held
in the currency of the operations to which the goodwill relates

Goodwill i1s not amortised, but I1s reviewed annually for
impaiment, or more frequently where there 1s an ndication
that goodwill may be imparred Impairment 1s assessed by
measunng the future cash flows of the CGUs to which the
goodwill relates Where the future cash flows are less than the
carrying value of goodwill, an impairment charge 1s recognised
in the income statement

On disposal of subsidiary undertakings and businesses, the
relevant goodwill 1s included in the calculation of the profit or
loss on disposal

m) Intangible assets

Acquisttion intangibles

Acquisition intangibles compnse brand names and customer
relationships purchased as part of acquisitions of businesses
and are capttahised and amortised over their useful economic
Ives on a straight Iine basis These intangible assets are stated
at cost less accumulated amortisabon and, where appropnate,
provision for impainment in value or estimated loss on disposal

In respect of customer relationships, the value attnbuted 1s
based on the future economic benefit that 1s expected to be
denved from them, calculated as the present value of future
cash flows after a deduction for contnbutory assets

Armortisation 1s provided to write off the cost of assets on
a straight ine basis on the following bases

Brands 7% to 20% per annum
Customer relationships 13% to 50% per annum
Software and ficences

Software and licences include costs incurred to acquire the
assets as well as intemal infrastructure and design costs
incurred in the development of software in order to bring the
assets into use

Intemally generated software 15 recogrnised as an intangible
asset only if it can be separately identffied, it 1s probable that
the asset will generate future economic benefits winch exceed
one year, and the development cost can be measured reliably
Where these conditions are not met, development expenditure
I1$ recogrised as an expense in the year in which it 1s ncured
Costs associated with developing or maintaining computer
software are recognised as an expense as Incumred unless they
increase the future economic benefits of the asset, in which
case they are capitalised

The expenditure capitalised includes the cost of matenals,
direct labour and an appropnate proportion of overheads
Subsequent expenditure 1s capitalised only when it increases
the future economic benefits embodied in the specific asset to
which it relates

Software Is stated at cost less accumulated amortisation and,
where appropriate, provision for impairment in value or
estimated loss on disposal Amortisation 1s provided to wnte
off the cost of assets on a straight Ine basis between three and
eight years
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n} Property, plant & equipment

Property, plant & equipment are stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and any accumulated impaiment
losses

With the exception of land, depreciation is provided to wnte off
the cost of the assets over ther expected useful ives from the
date the asset was brought into use or capable of being used

Rates applied to different classes of property, plant &
equipment are as follows

Land and buildings 1%4% - 4% per annum

Fixtures, fithngs and equtpment 10 - 33'4% per annum

Assets capitalised as finance leases are depreciated over the
term of the lease

Property, plant & equipment are assessed on an ongoing basis
to determine whether circumstances exist that could lead to
the conclusion that the net book value 1s not supportable
Where assets are to be taken out of use, an impairment charge
1s levied Where the property, plant & equipment form part of a
separate CGU, such as a store or group of stores, and
business indicators exist which could lead to the conclusions
that the net book value 15 not supportable, the recoverable
amount of the CGU 1s determined by calculating its value in
use The value in use s calculated by applying discounted
cash flow modeling to management's projection of future
profitability and any smpawment 1s determined by companng
the net book value with the value in use

o} Financial assets and investments

The Group's financial assets compnise cash and cash
equivalents, and those receivables which involve a contractual
nght to receive cash from external parties Financial assets
compnse all items shown In notes 13 and 14 with the
excephion of prepayments Under the classifications stipulated
by IAS 39, cash and cash equivalents and dervative financial
instruments, which are further descnbed in notes 1) and 25,
are classified as ‘loans and recetvables’ and ‘held for trading
unless designated in a hedge relationship’, respectively Trade
and other receivables {excluding denvative financial assets) are
classified as ‘loans and recewvables’

Investments, other than subsidianes and joint ventures, are
intially recogmised at cost, being the fair value of the
consideration given plus any transaction costs associated with
the acquisthon Investments are categonsed as avatlable-for-
sale and are then recorded at far value Changes in far value,
together with any related taxation, are taken directly to
reserves, and recycled to the income statement when the
investment 1s sold or determined to be impaired

p) Interests in joint ventures

Interests in joint ventures are accounted for using the equity
method The consolidated income statement includes the
Group's share of the post-tax profits or losses of the joint
ventures based on their financial statements for the year In the
consolidated balance sheet, the Group's interests in joint
ventures are shown as a non-current asset in the balance
sheet, representing the Group's investment in the share capital
of the joint ventures, as adjusted by post-acquisition changes
v the Group's share of the net assets or liabilities less
provision for any impairment Any associated goodwill1s
mcluded within the camying value of the investment and 1s
assessed for mpairment as part of that investment

Where a joint venture has net labihties, any loans advanced to
it are included in the Group’s equity accounted investment in it
Where a joint venture has net assets, any loans advanced to it
are shown separately in the balance sheet, as a receivable to
the Group

q) Inventones

inventones are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value Cost incorporates any attnbutable discounts and
baonuses recewved from suppliers in respect of that inventory
Cost compnses direct purchase cost and those overheads that
have been incurred in bnnging the inventones to ther present
location and condion Net realisable value 1s based on
estimated selling pnce, less further costs expected to be
ncurred to disposal Provision 1s made for obsolete, slow
moving or defective items where appropnate

r} Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents compnse cash at bank and in
hand, bank overdrafts and short term highly iquid deposits
with a matunty of three months or less and which are subject
to an insignificant nsk of changes n value Bank overdrafts,
which form part of cash and cash equivalents for the purpose
of the cash flow statement, are shown under current hiabiities

s) Borrowings and other financial habilihes

The Group's financial habilities are those which involve a
contractual obhgation to deliver cash to extemal parties at a
future date Financial liabilties compnse all tems shown in
notes 15 to 18 with the exception of other taxation and social
secunty, deferred income and other non-financial creditors

Bomrowings

Borrowings in the Group's balance sheet represent committed
and uncommitted bank loans Borrowings are inhally recorded
at the consideration receved less directly attnbutable
transaction costs Transaction fees such as bank fees and
legal costs associated with the securing of financing are
capitalised and amortised through the income statement over
the term of the relevant facility All other borrowing costs are
recognised in the Income statement in the penod in which they
are incurred
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Under the classifications stipulated by IAS 39, bormowings,
finance lease obligations and trade and other payables
(excluding denvative financial abilities) are classified as
financial labities measured at amortised cost’ Denvative
financial instruments, which are descnbed further in note 25,
are classified as 'held for trading unless designated in a
hedge relationstip’

Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables (excluding denvative financial
liabilities) are recorded at cost Denvative financial instruments,
are initially recorded at fair value and then subsequently
remeasured to farr value at each balance sheet date and are
held withun assets or habilities as appropnate Gans and losses
ansing from revaluation at the balance sheet date are
recogrised in the Incorne statement unless the denvatives

are designated as hedges and such hedges are proved to

be effective

t) Provisions

Provisions are recognised when a legal or constructive
obligaton exists as a result of past events and it 1s probable
that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the
obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount
of the obligation Prowisions are discounted where the time
value of money 1s considered to be matenal

Provisions fall into the following categones

Reorgarnisation

Reorganisation provisions relate pnncipally to the costs
of onerous leases, redundancy costs and other onerous
contracts, and are only recognised where plans are
demonstrably committed and where approprate
communication to those affected has been undertaken
at the balance sheet date

Sales

Sales provisions relate to ‘cash-back’ and similar promotions,
product warranties, product retums, and network operator
performance penalties The anticipated costs of these tems
are assessed by reference to histoncal trends and any other
information that is considered to be relevant

Other

Cther provisions relate mainly to wamranties provided in relation
to business disposals and prowisions in respect of the
expected costs of insurance claims, contingent habilities
recognised through business combinations and costs
associated with onerous contracts

All provisions are assessed by reference to the best avallable
information at the balance sheet date

u) Cntical accounting judgements and key sources of
estimation uncertainty

Cntical accounting esimates and assumptions used in the
preparation of the financial staternents are continually reviewed
and revised as necessary

Whilst every effort 18 made to ensure that such estimates and
assumptions are reasonable, by ther nature they are uncertain,
and as such changes in estmates and assumptions may have
a matenal impact The principal tems subject to such
estimates and assumptions are as follows

Revenue recognition

Commussion recervable on mobile phone sales depends for
certain transactions on customer behaviour after the point of
sale Assumptions are therefore required, particularty in relation
to levels of customer default within the contract penod,
expected levels of customer spend, and customer behawiour
beyond the inttial contract penod Such assumptions are based
on extensive histoncal evidence, and provision 1s made for the
nsk of potential changes in customer behaviour Changes in
estimates recogrised as an increase o revenue may be made,
where for example more reliable information 1s available, and
any such changes are required to be recogrised in the income
statemment Changes of estimates in relation to commussion
receivable after the initial contract term for sales enginating n
previous years totalled £33 million (2013/14 €18 millon) The
total value of ongoing revenues receivable was £629 millon
{2013/14 <525 million}

Revenue earned from the sale of customer support agreernents
1s recognised over the term of the contracts when the Group
obtains the nght to consideration as a result of performance of
its contractual obligations Revenue In any one year is
recognised to match the proportion of the expected costs of
fulfilling the Group's total obligations under the agreements

An estimate of the degree of performance of these contractual
obligatons 1s determined by reference to extensive histoncal
clams data

For both commission recevable on mobile phone sales and
revenug frorn customer support agreements, reliance on
histoncal data assumes that current and future expenence will
follow past trends The directors consider that the quantity and
quality of data available provides an appropniate proxy for
current trends

income recened from supphers such as volume rebates

The Group has provided enhanced disclosure on supplier
funding following guidance 1ssued by the Financial Reporting
Council n Decemnber 2014 This disclosure 1s amed at assisting
the users of the financial statements in understanding the
judgements and estimates made in the recogrition of supplier
funding in the Group's financial statements

The Group's agreements with suppliers contain a pnce for units
purchased as well as other rebates and discounts which are
summarised betow

Volume Rebates This income 1s inked to purchases made from
suppliers and 1s recognised as a reduction to cost of goods sold
as inventory 1s sold Uneamed rebates that relate to inventory
not sold are recognised within the value of inventory at the
penod end Where an agreement spans pernod ends, jJudgement
15 required regarding amounts to be recognised Forecasts are
used as well as histoncal data in the estimation of the level of
income recogrised Amounts are only recognised where the
Group has a clear entitlernent to the receipt of the rebate and a
relable estmate can be made

Discounts This income 1s received from supphiers on a pnoe per
unit basis The level of estimation 1s minimat as amounts are
recognised as a reduction to cost of goods sold based on the
agreement termns and only once the temn 1s sold

Marketing incorme This income 15 recesved n relation to
marketing activities that are performed on behalf of suppliers
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Judgement 1s required to ensure that income 1s only recognised
when all performance obligatons within the contract have been
fulfilled and the income 1s expected to be collected

Suppter funding amounts that have been recognised and
not invotced are shown within accrued income on the
balance sheet

inventory valuation

Inventones are valued at the lower cost and net realisable
value Cost compnses direct purchase cost and those
overheads that have been incurred in bnnging the inventones
to therr present location and condition Net realisable value
represents the estmated selling pnce less all estmated and
directly attnbutable costs of completion and costs to be
incurred in marketing, seling and distnbuhion Net realisable
value includes, where necessary, provisions for slow moving
and damaged inventory The provision represents the
difference between the cost of stock and its estmated net
realsable value, based on ageing and other factors
Calculation of these prowisions requires judgements to be
made which include forecast consurmer demand, the
promotional, competitive and economic environment and
inventory loss trends

Recoverable amount of non-current assets

All non-current assets, including goodwill and other intangible
assets, are reviewed for potential impaiment using estimates
of the future economic benefits attnbutable to them Any
estimates of future economic benefits made In relation to non-
current assets may differ from the benefits that ulimately anse
and matenally affect the recoverable value of the asset The
methodology used in assessing the carrying value of goodwill
1$ set out in note 8 and in respect of ntangible assets and
property, plant & equtpment in note 1n)

Acquisition accounting

Accounting for the Merger (2013/14 the CPW Europe
Acquisition) involved the use of assumptions in relation to the
future cash flows associated with acquisition intangibles, and
the use of valuation techruques in order to amve at the farr
value of the other non-cument assets and hiabilities acquired
The assumptions applied were based on the best information
available to management and valuation techniques were
supported by third party valuation experts Nevertheless, the
actual performance of these assets and habilities may differ
from the valuations denved through this exercise

Discontinued operations and assets held for sale

The disposal of businesses and the recognition of assets held
for sale at the lower of cost and farr value less costs to sell will
often require judgement and estimation in relation to the value
of expected future consideration and costs associated with the
disposal Such estimation will be based on the best information
avallable up to the approval of the financial statements, but
nevertheless the final outcomes may vary from that assumed

Trade and other recevables

Prowisions for Imecoverable receivables are based on extensive
histoncal evidence and the best avallable information in
relation to specific 1Issues, but are unavoidably dependent

on future events

Taxation

Tax laws that apply to the Group’s businesses may be
amended by the relevant authonties, for example as a result of
changes In fiscal circumnstances or pnonties Such potential
amendments and their apphcation to the Group are momitored
regularty and the requirement for recognition of any labilihies
assessed where necessary The Group is subject to income
taxes n a number of different junsdictions and judgement 1s
required In determining the appropnate prowviston for
transactions where the ulimate tax detemmination 1s uncertain
In such circumstances, the Group recogrises habiliies for
anticipated taxes due based on best information available and
where the anticipated hability 1s probable and estimable Where
the final outcome of such matters differs from the amounts
nitially recorded, any differences will impact the income tax
and deferred tax provisions i the year to which such
determination s made Where the potentizl habilities are not
considered probable, the amount at nsk s disclosed unless an
adverse outcome 1s considered remote

Deferred tax 1s recognised on taxable losses based on the
expected abilty to utlise such losses This ability takes
account of the business plans for the relevant companies,
potential uncertaintes around the longer term aspects of these
business plans, any expiry of taxable benefits and potentiat
future volatility in the local tax regimes

Provisions

The Group's provisions are based on the best information
avallable to management at the balance sheet date However,
the future costs assumed are inevitably onty estimates, which
may differ from those uttimately ncurred

Defined benefit pension schemes

The surplus or deficit in the UK defined benefit pension
scheme that 1s recognised through the consolidated statement
of comprehensive iIncome and expense is subject 1o a number
of assumptions and uncertainties The calculated liabilibes of
the scheme are based on assumptions regarding salary
increases, inflation rates, discount rates and member longewvity
Such assumptions are based on actuanal advice and are
benchmarked aganst similar pension schemes
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v} Recent accounting developments

The Group adopted the following standards dunng the year,
none of which have had a matenal impact on the disclosures or
amounts reported in the financiat statements

» IFRS 10 ‘Consolidated Financial Statements’

* IFRS 11 ‘Joint Arangements’

+ IFRS 12 ‘Disclosure of interests in Other Entities’

+ |AS 27 ‘Separate Financial Staterments’

+ [AS 28 ‘Investments in Associates and Jont Ventures'

The following new standards, which are applicable to the
Group, have been published but are not yet effective and have
not yet been adopted by the EU

+ IFRS 9 'Financial Instruments’' This standard 1s the first step
in the process to replace IAS 38 ‘Financiat Instruments
Recognition and Measurement' IFRS 9 introduces new
requirements for classifying and measunng financial assets
and affects the accounting for financial assets

+ IFRS 15 'Revenue from Contracts with Customers' provides
guidance on the recognition, timing and measurement of
revenue

IFRS 9 will affect both the measurement and disclosure of
financial instruments and IFRS 15 may change revenue
recogniion and related disclosures it 1s not practicable to
provide a reasonable estimate of the effect of IFRS ¢ and IFRS
15 untill a detaled review has been completed

Certain other new accounting standards, amendments to
existing accounting standards and interpretations which are in
1ssue but not yet effective, either do not apply to the Group or
are not expected to have any matenal impact on the Group's
net results or net assets

2 Segmental analysis

The Group’s operating segmenits reflect the segments routinely
reviewed by the Board and which are used to manage
performance and allocate resources This informatbion 1s
predominantly based on geographical areas which are either
managed separately or have similar trading charactenstics
such that they can be aggregated together into one segment

Following the Merger, the Group operates four operating
segments as descnbed below Comparative peniods have been
restated to reflect this change

As explained in note 24, Virgin Mobile France, the Phone
House operations in Germany, the Netherlands, Portugal and
France as well as Dixons’ operations in Czech Republic and
Slovakia have been treated as discontinued operations and are
therefore excluded from this segmental analysis

The Group’s reportable segments have been identified
as follows

= UK & Ireland compnses operations in the UK and Ireland as
well as operations in airports in UK and Ireland

+ Nordics operates in Norway, Sweden, Finland, Denmark and
lceland

+ Southemn Europe compnses operations in Spain and Greece

« Connected World Services i1s the Group’s B2B operation
which leverages the specialist skills, operating processes
and technology of the Group to provide managed services
to third parties lookung to develop therr own connected
world solutions

UK & Ireland, Nordies and Southem Europe are involved in the
sale of consumer electronics and mobile technology products
and services, primanty through stores or online channels

Transactions between segments are on an arm's length basis
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2 Segmental analysis continued
(a) Segmental results

13 months ended 2 May 2015
Connected
uKa Southern World Jolnt

Iredand Nordlcs Europe Servicas ventures Eliminations Tota!

£rmullion Emillion Emiflien £mithian million E£milon Emiftion

Headline external revenue 5,506 2,055 564 130 - - 8,255

Inter-segmental revenue 64 - - - -~ (64) —

Total Headline revenue 5,570 2,055 564 130 - (64) 8,255

Headline EBIT before share of results of

jont ventures N3 60 20 7 - - 400
Share of Headline results of joint ventures

(post-tax) - - - - - - -

Headline EBIT 313 60 20 7 - — 400

Dunng the 13 months ended 2 May 2015, there were no customers which represent more than 10% of the Group’s revenue

Reconciation of Headline profit to total profit

13 months ended 2 May 2015

Headline Amortisation Dixons Total

profit/ of acquisition CPW Europe Retall France Pension profit/

{loss} intanglbles  Acquisition Merger closura scheme (loss)

Erullion Emihen £million Emillion Ermullion £million Emlien

UK & Ireland 313 22 - {13} - - 278
Nordics 60 {10) - 4 - - a6

Southern Europe 20 2 - - - - 18

Connected World Services 7 t)) - - - - 6
Unaliocated - - - (24) - - (24)
EBIT before share of results of joint ventures 400 (35) - 41) - - 324

Share of results of joint ventures - - - - - - -
EBIT 400 {35) - 41) - - 324

Finance income 15 - - - - —_ 15
Finance costs (39) - - - - (13) 52)

Profit / (loss) before tax 376 {35) - (41} - (13) 287

Unallocated Merger related costs compnse those that are not directly attnbutable to a specific segment
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2 Segmental analysis continued
(a} Segmental results continued

Restated

Year ended 29 March 2014

Connactsd

UK & Southarn World Joint
Ireland Nordics Europe Services ventures Elmmatons Total
Emithon Emulhon Cmillion Lrrulion Emillion Cmition £melion
Headline external revenue 1,427 81 a7s 87 - - 1,943
Inter-segmental revenue - - - - - - -
Total Headline revenue 1,427 81 378 57 - - 1,943
Headline EBIT before share of results of
joint ventures 114 @) 18 4 - - 134
Share of Headline results of joint ventures
{post-tax) — - - - 3 — 3
Headline EBIT 114 (2) 18 4 3 - 137

Included within total revenue 1s income from two MNQs of approximately £450 million and £400 million, respectively No other
customers or MNOs represent more than 10% of the Group’s revenue

Reconciliation of Headline profit to total profit

Restated

Year ended 2% March 2014

Heacling AMOrisaton Dixons Total

profit/ of acgustion  CPW Europe Retait France Pension profit /

(loss) intangibles Acqulsition Mearpar closure scheme (loss)

£milhon Ermithion Erithon Crmllhcn Emilion Lrulhon £million

UK & lreland 114 8 - - -_ - 106
Nordics 2 (1) - - - - 3)

Southern Europe 18 @ - - - - 14

Connected World Services 4 — — - - - 4
Unallocated - — {15) - - - (15)

EBIT before share of results of joint ventures 134 (13} (15) - - - 106
Share of results of joint ventures 3 - - - (23} - 20)

EBIT 137 (13} {15) - (23} -~ 86

Finance income B - - - - - 8
Finance costs (17) - - - - - (17}

Profit / (loss) before tax 128 (13) (15) - (23) - 77
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2 Segmental analysis continued
b} Geographical information

Revenues are aflocated to countries according to the entity’s country of domicile Revenue by destination 15 not matenally

different to that shown by dormicite
c} Other information

Non-current assets

Capitat expenditure  Depreciaion/Amortisation

Restated Restated Restated

13 months Year 13 months Year 13 months Year

ended ended anded ended ended ended

2 May 29 March 2 May 29 March 2 May 29 March

2015 2014 2015 2014 2018 2014

Emillion Smilign Lmilben £milon £mullion Emillon

UK & Ireland 2,916 744 127 52 106 36
Nordics 1,162 2 30 1 32

Southern Europe 86 80 4 4 9 7

Connected World Services 5 - 5 - 2 -

4,159 826 166 57 149 45

“Non-current assets above exclude deferred tax assets and assets retated to discontinued operations

3 Revenue and profit / (loss} before interest and taxation before share of results of joint ventures

Restated
13 months ended 2 May 2015 Year snded 29 March 2014
Non- Non-
Headline Headline Total Headlina Headline Total
£mlition Emullion E£million Smillion £mglion £milion
Revenue 8,255 - 8,255 1,843 - 1,943
Cost of sales (6,118} - (6,118} (1,392} - (1,392)
Gross profit 2137 - 2,137 551 - 551
Operating expenses (1,737) (76) (1,813) (417} (28) (445}
Profit / (loss) before interest and taxation 400 (76) 324 134 (28) 108
Revenue can be further analysed as follows
Restated
13 months ended 2 May 2015 Year ended 29 March 2014
Non- Non-
Heoadline Headline Total Headlina Headling Totat
Emilllon Emillion £milkon Ermulion €milon £milion
Sale of goods 5,641 - 5,641 394 - 394
Revenue from services 2,614 - 2,614 1,549 - 1,549
8,255 - 8,255 1,943 - 1,043

Revenue from services predominantly compnises those relating to commissions from MNQs, insurance, customer support

agreerments, delvery and installation, product repairs and product support
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3 Revenue and profit / (foss) before interest and taxation before share of results of joint ventures continued
Profit / {joss) before interest and taxation for continuing operations 1s stated after charging / {crediting) the following

Restated
13 months Year
andad ended
2 May 29 March
2015 2014
E£rmillion £mdtion
Depreciation of property, plant & equipment 83 17
Amortisation of acquisition intangibles a5 13
Amortisation of other intangibles 31 15
Impairment of trade receivables 8 14
Impairment of mventory 68 26
Loss on disposal of property, plant & equipment 5 -
Cost of inventory recognised as an expense 6,069 1,447
Rentals paid under operating leases
Non-contingent rent 304 71
Contingent rent 22 -
Rentals received under operating leases — subleases %) )]
Investment property rental ncome (1) (2
Net foreign exchange losses 1 -
Share-based payments expense 10 4
Other employee costs (see note 5) 890 226
Auditor's remuneration comprises the following
13 months Year
ended ended
2 May 29 March
2015 2014
£milllan fmition
Fees payable to the Company's auditor for the audit of the Company’s annual accounts 0.1 01
Fees payable to the Company's auditor and its associates for their audit of the Company’s subsidianes 19 13
Total audit fees 20 14
Tax advisory services 0.2 05
Tax compliance services 0.2 02
Qther assurance services 1.3 06
Other services 02 -
3.9 27

The Group’s share of audit fees in the year for joint ventures was £nil {2013/14 £0 1 miliion) and the Group's share of fees for
therr tax and other services was £nil (2013/14 £0 1 millon) Other assurance services relate pnmanily to the Merger in respect
of which the external auditor acted as reporting accountant whilst 2013/14 related pnmanly to the CPW Europe Acquisition,
in respect of which the extemal auditor acted as reporting accountant
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4 Non-Headline tems

Restated
13 months Year
ended erded
ZMay 29 March
2015 2014
Nate £million Emifion
Included in profit / {loss) before interest and tax
Amortisation of acquisition intangibles ) (35 (13
Exceptional items ~ CPW Europe Acquisition (i} - (15)
- Dixons Retall Merger (i} {41) -
Share of results of joint ventures exited (post-tax) {iv} - (23)
(76) (51)
Included in net finance costs
Net non-cash finance costs on defined benefit pension schemes v {13) -
Total impact on profit / {loss) before tax (89) {51}
Tax cn Non-Headline items 15 6
Total impact on profit / {loss) after tax (74) {45)

Non-Headhne items also include discontinued operations, which compnse the results of Virgin Mobile France, the Phone House
operations in Germany, the Netherlands, Portugal and France, and Electroworld in the Czech Republic and Slovakia (which had
previously formed part of the discontinued operations of Dixons) The post-tax results of these businesses have been reported
separately and are further descnbed n note 24

0

(i)

Amortisation of acquisition intangibles

A charge of £35 million arose duning the year in relation to acquisition intangibles ansing on the CPW Europe Acquisition and
the Dixons Retall Merger

Exceptional items - CPW Eurcpe Acquisthion

13 months Year

anded ended

2 May 29 March

205 204

E£million Emillion
CPW Europe Acquisition - {15)

The CPW Europe Acquisitron which occurred on 26 June 2013 gave nse to the following exceptional tems in the year ended
29 March 2014

* Professional fees of £7 mullion, costs of £11 million associated with the early vesting of incentive schemes (of which
£8 miflon were cash in nature) and a tax credit of £3 million was recognised in respect of these costs

= A gan of £1 million resutting from the requirement of the Group to fair value its existing 50% interest in CPW Europe,
which was considered to be equal to the £500 million gross consideration for Best Buy's 50% interest

+ Arrangements with Best Buy allowed the Group to manage the disposal of the Consideration Shares issued to Best Buy,
and to benefit from any gain on disposal above a share pnce of £1 90 The Consideration Shares were placed at a pnce of
£2 44, resulting in a net cash gan of £23 million for the Group The gain implied by companng the share price at
completion, bemng £2 38 and £1 90, was treated as an adjustment to consideration and the remaining gain of £2 milion
was recorded in the income statement
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4 Non-Headling items continued

(ni}

Exceptional items - Dixons Retail Merger

13 months Year

ended endad

2 Mey 29 March

2015 2014

Emulllon Crmillion

Merger transaction costs {9) -
Merger integration costs {32) -
{41) -

v

i

The Dixons Retail Merger 1s descnbed further in notes 1 and 23 The Merger has given nse to the following costs which have
been treated as exceptional items

+ Merger costs comprise banking and professional fees m relation to the transaction

+ Merger integration costs relate to the recrgamisation of the Group following the Merger and compnse the rationalisation of
certain operational and support functions These costs mainly compnse professional fees, employee severance and
property costs associated with the mtegration process

Share of joint ventures exited - Businesses exited

In hght of an iIncreasingly challenging market, the closure of the Phone House France operations was announced in Apnl
2013 Prior to the CPW Europe Acquisition, when the French operations were part of the CPW Europe joint venture,
operating losses of £10 million were incurred and restructunng items compnsed asset wnte-downs of £8 miflion and
provisions for exit costs of £32 million pnncipally covenng redundancies and lease exit costs A tax credit of £3 million was
recognised against these items The Group’s post-tax share of these losses, asset mpaiments and restructunng costs was
£23 mithion The results of the Phone House France following the CPW Europe Acquisition on 26 June 2013 have been
classified as discontinued operations following the completion of the closure duning the 13 months ended 2 May 2015

Net non-cash financing costs on defined benefit pension schemes

Under 1AS 18 'Employee Benefits’, the net interest charge on defined benefit pension schemes 1s calculated by applying the
corporate bond yield rates applicable on the last day of the previous financial year to the net defined benefit obligation
Corporate bond yieid rates vary over ime which in tumn creates volatility i the income statement and balance sheet and
results in a non-cash remeasurement cost which can be velatile due to corporate bond yield rates prevailing on a particular
day and 1s also unrepresentative of the actual investment gains or losses made or the habilihes paid and payable Consistent
with a number of other companies, the accounting effects of these non-cash revaluations of net defined benefit pension
liabilities have been excluded from Headline eamings
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5 Employee costs and share-based payments
a} Employee costs

The aggregate remuneration recognised in the Income statement for continuing operations s as foliows

Aestated

13 months Year

ended ended

2May 20 March

2015 2014

Lmition Cmitlion

Salares and performance bonuses 781 197
Social secunty costs 89 27
Other pension costs 20 2
890 226

Share-based payments 10 4
900 230

Aggregate remuneration for discontinued operations are salanes and performance bonuses of £46 million (2013/14 £49 million),

social secunty costs of £8 million (2013/14 €8 mitlion) and other pension costs of £1 milion (2013/14 £2 million)

The average number of employees for continuing operation 1s

Restated
13 montha Year
ended anded
2May 29 March
2015 2014
Number Number
UK & Ireland 23,582 5,332
Nordics 6,492 286
Southern Europe 2,675 1,298
Connected World Services 85 64
32,834 6,880
The average number of employees for discontinued operations 1s 2,127 {2013/14 1,727)
Compensation eamed by key managerment, compnsing the Board of directors and semior executives, I1s as follows
13 months Year
endad snded
2 May 29 March
2015 2014
Cmillion £milhon
Short term employee benefits 15 8
Termination benefits 1 -
Share-based payments 1
17 9

Dunng the 13 months ended 2 May 2015 and year ended 29 March 2014 loans were advanced to members of key management
in relation to the Carphone Warehouse Share Plan In addition, dunng the year ended 29 March 2014 loans were advanced to
key management to cover the tax ansing on the exercise of share options that vested as part of the CPW Europe Acquisstion

At 2 May 2015, loans to key management in relation to these schemes totalled £16 milion 2014 £10 million) Interest 1s charged

on loans at market rates and interest of £0 4 million has been recognised dunng the penod (2013/14 £0 3 mllion)

Further information about indnidual directors' remuneration, share interests, share options, pensions and other entitlements,

which form part of these financial statements, 1s provided m the Remuneration report
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5 Employee costs and share-based payments continued
b} Share-based payments

) Share Plan

Dunng the year ended 29 March 2014, the Group introduced the Share Plan which allows participants to share 10% of the
incremental value created i the Group in excess of an opening value (assessed on the value of CPW over a three month penod
prior to approval of the plan by shareholders in June 2013 and, for new entrants dunng the 13 months ended 2 May 2015,
assessed on the aggregated value of CPW and Dixons Retall over a three month penod prior to the announcement of preliminary
merger discussions in February 2014) and beyond an annual! rate of retum of 7% on nvested capital The plan s underpinned by
a mirmum annual compound TSR growth of 5% and outperformance of the median TSR of the FTSE 250

Particspants acquired at market value participation shares in a subsidiary company that holds the Group's interests in CPW
Europe and, since the Merger, Dixons Retall The Group granted foans to participants at a commercial rate of interest to acquire
the shares Loans are ordinanly repayable in full f performance conditions are met

The performance of the scheme will ordinanty be measured on or around June 2017, when 60% of the shares vest, with 40%
deferred for a further year When the awards vest, the value of the shares held by partcipants will be based on the incremental
value (if any) of Dixons Carphone in excess of the opening valuation together with the minimum retum on invested capital These
shares will then be purchased by the Company for cash and / or the Company's ordinary shares

A 'bad leaver’ will be required to transfer the participation shares to such party as the Company designates for an amount equal
to the total amount outstanding under the loan If the market value of the shares s less than the amount of the cutstanding loan
{and any accrued interest) then the participant may be required to repay 20% of the shortfail out of their own resources |

A participant shall be a ‘good leaver® at the sole discretion of the Remuneration Commuittee and may be permitted to retain an
award notwithstanding the termination of theirr employment

The mecharucs of the pian may be vaned by the Remuneration Committee if necessary to ensure that parhicipants are nerther
advantaged nor disadvantaged by a vanation of the share capital of the Company, bona fide merger, reconstruction or similar
reorganisation

ti) Share option schernes
During the year ended 29 March 2014, the Group introduced a share option scheme which allows nil-priced options to be
offered to senior employees who are not participants i1 the Share Plan

Options were first granted under the scheme in January 2014 The options are subject to continuing employment and are subject
to performance condrtions based on a combination of absolute TSR performance and relative TSR performance aganst the
FTSE 250 or FTSE 350

Following the Merger with Dixons Retail plc on 6 August 2014, the Company assumed the obligaton to satisfy outstanding
Dixons share options awarded under the Retall Employee Share Option Scheme and Executive Share Option Plan, with
employees eligible to acquire 0 155 Dixons Carphone shares for each Dixons option held All outstanding Dixons awards had
vested before the Merger, and were exercisable within six months post Merger

Prior to the CPW Europe Acquisition, CPW Europe had a share option scheme, under which participants recewed options over
A shares in New CPW and each of Best Buy and the Company had an obhgation to acquire 50% of these shares at a value
based on the Headline PBT of CPW Europe over the vesting penod The pool was based on eamings in excess of mimimum
growth targets, against the eamings for the year ended 31 March 2009 The Company and Best Buy agreed a minimum value
of the pool, In recognition of the value that had already accrued in the scheme i relation to Best Buy Mobile

in order to align the interests of participants with those of the Company, the value of the A shares in New CPW were assessed at
defined points dunng the vesting perod, and nil-pnced options over shares in the Company were granted to participants through
the Participation Plan to match this value, so that participants benefited frorm any growth in the market capitalisation of the
Company during the vesting penod

Further to the CPW Europe Acguisition the Remuneration Committee allowed the scheme to vest based on perfonmance
achieved to 31 March 2013 In addition to the Group’s obligabons under the scheme the Group also agreed to satisfy Best
Buy’s obligations under the scheme Dunng the year ended 29 March 2014, the Company 1ssued 14 million shares in refation
to these obhgations
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5 Employee costs and share-based payments continued
b) Share-based payments continued

#)) Share option schernes continued

The following table summanses the number and weighted average exercise pnce of share options for these schemes

13 months ended Year ended

2 May 2015 29 March 2014

Number WAEP Number WAEP

million £ million £

QOutstanding at the beginning of the year 9 - 5 -
Dixens options assumed on Merger 1 - - -
Granted during the year 11 - 18 -
Lapsed dunng the year S - - -
Exercised dunng the year 1) - (14) -
Outstanding at the end of the year 17 - 9 -
Exercisable at the end of the year - - - -
13 manths Year

ended snded

2 May 29 March

2015 2014

Weighted average market pnce of options exercised in the period £4.18 £2 48
Weighted average remaining contractual hfe of awards outstandmg 91yrs 98yrs
Exercise pnce for options outstanding £nil £l

i) SAYE scheme

Dunng the year ended 29 March 2014, the Group mtroduced a SAYE scheme which allows participants to save up to £500 per
month for either three or five years At the end of the savings penod participants can purchase shares in the Company based on

a discounted share pnee determined at the commencement of the scheme

Participants in the Dixons Retail ple SAYE scheme had the opportunity to rollover therr awards into options over shares in the
merged entity, Dixons Carphone, on completion of the Merger Employees who chose Lo rollover received 0 155 options in
Dixons Carphone th exchange for each Dixons option held The sawvings penod and exercise date of these options remamns
unchanged If employees chose not to rollover thewr ophions, they could exercise the value saved within six months of the Merger

in return for 0 155 Dixons Carphone shares for each Dixons option held

The following table summanses the number and WAEP of share options for these schemes

13 months ended Year ended

2 May 2015 29 March 2014

Number WAEP Number WAEP

mitlion £ milion ¢

Qutstanding at the beginning of the perod 3 2.24 - -

Dixons opticns assumed on Merger 6 120 - -

Granted dunng the penod 7 344 3 224

Exercised during the penod {2) 2,24 - -
Lapsed during penod {1 1.76

Outstanding at the end of the penod 13 271 3 224

Exercisable at the end of the pencd - - - -

13 months Year

anded ended

2May 29 March

2015 2014

Weighted average market pnce of options exercised in the penod £3.82 n/a

Weghted average remaining contractual hife of awards outstanding 28yrs 39yrs

Range of exercise prices for options outstanding msgz 4; £2 24
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5 Employee costs and share-based payments continued
b} Share-based payments continued

v} Joint venture incentive schemes

Virgin Mobile France 1ssued market-priced and nil-pnced share options in Virgin Mobile France to certain employees of the
business These options vested over penods of two to four years Pnor to completion of the disposal of Virgin Mobile France
on 4 December 2014, these share options were exercised

v) Fair value mode!

The farr value of options with extemmal performance targets was estmated at the date of grant using a Monte Carlo model

The mode! combines the market price of a share at the date of grant with the probability of meeting performance critena, based
on the histoncal performance of Carphone Warehouse and Cld Carphone Warehouse shares and, for options 1ssued subsequent
to the Merger on 6 August 2014, the hustoncal performance of Dixons

The weighted average farr value of options granted dunng the penod was £1 62 (2013/14 £0 84) The foliowing table lists the
inputs to the model

13 months Year
ended onded
2May 29 March

20158 2014
Exercise price £ml Eml
Dividend yield 2.2% 20%
Historical and expected volatility 7% 320%
Risk-free interest rate 28% 35%
Expected option hfe 10 yrs 10 yrs
Weighted average share brice £375 g2 M

vi} Charge to the income staterment and entries in reserves

Dunng the 13 months ended 2 May 2015, the Group recognised a non-cash accounting charge to profit and loss of £10 million
{2013/14 £4 milbon) in respect of equity settled share-based payments, which is offset by an entry through reserves This entry
1s offset in reserves by the non-recourse element of loans prowvided to participants in the Carphone Warehouse Share Plan

¢) Employee Share Ownership Trust (ESOT)

2 May 2015 29 March 2014
Market Nominal Markat Noeminal
value value Number value value Number
Erilllon E£milhon million milhon Tenillion mithon
Investment in own shares 4 - 09 16 - 49
Maximum number of shares held during the period 18 - 5.2 16 - 49

The Group has an ESOT for the purposes of satisfying potential awards to employees under the Group's share plans The
number of shares held by the Trust, which are shown in the table above, remain held for potenttal awards under outstanding
plans The costs of funding and admirustering the Trust are charged to the Income statement in the year to which they relate
Shareholders’ funds are reduced by the net book value of shares held in the Trust

The ESOT has warved its nghts to receive dividends and its shares have not been allocated to specific schemes
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6 Net finance costs

13 months. Year
ended ended
2May 29 March

2015 2004
Emillion Cmithon
Interest on cash and cash equivalents - 1
Interest and other finance income from joint ventures - 1
Unwind of discounts on trade receivables 15 6
Finance income 15 8
Interest on bank overdrafts and loans (17 (1)
Interest on deferred consideration (1} 0|
Finance lease interest payable @ -
Net interest on defined benefit pension obligations 13 —
Unwind of discounts on liabilities (11) {2)
Armortisation of facility fees (3} (1)
Other interest expense 3 {2)
Finance costs (52) ]
Total net finance costs 37) 9
Headline total net finance costs (24} (9
Headline finance costs exclude net interest on defined benefit pension obligations {see note 4)
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7 Tax
a) Tax expense

The corporation tax charge compnses

13 months Year
ended ended
2 May 29 March
2015 2014
Emilhion Ernillon
Current tax
UK corporation tax at 20 92%%(2013/14 23%) - Headline 61 10
- Non-Headline * (12) -
Overseas tax - Headhne 25 3
- Non-Headline * 3) -
Al 13
Adjustments made in respect of prior years
UK corporation tax 6 1
Overseas tax {2) (6)
4 )
Total current tax 75 8
Deferred tax
UK Tax - Headline 10 19
- Non-Headline * 2 @
Overseas tax — Headline 2) 2
— Non-Headlne * 3) h
7 18
Adjustments In respect of prior years
UK Corporation tax - Headlne 8) {4)
- Non-Headline * 1 {3
Overseas tax - Headline 1 -
- Non-Headline v —_ -
{6 N
Total deferred tax 1 1
Total tax charge 76 19
Head!line tax charge® ] 25

(3 The UK corporation tax rate for the 13 months ended 2 May 2015 was 21% for the 12 months to 31 March 2015 and 20% thereafter

(2013/14 23% for the year ended 29 March 2014)
(i} The Headlne tax charge excludes those items marked *

Tax related to discontinued operations 1s included in the figures set out in note 24
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7 Tax continued
b) Reconciliation of notional to actual (effective) tax rate

The pnncipal differences between the total tax charge shown above and the amount calculated by applying the standard rate
of UK corporation tax to profit / (loss) before taxation are as follows

Restated
13 moaths ended 2 May 2015 Year endec 29 March 2014
Non- Non-

Headhine Headline Statutory Headline Headine Statutory

Ermllion Emullion E£million Cmillion Emilon £mdion

Profit / (loss) before taxation 376 (89) 287 128 (51} 77
Tax at UK statutory rate of 20 92% (2013/14 23%) 79 19) 60 29 (12) 17
Differences in effective overseas tax rates 7 {1) 6 - - —_
Adjustments in respect of prior years (2} - 2 {9) {3} {12)
{tems attracting no tax relief or hability 1 5 16 2 9 11
Movement in unprovided deferred tax (5) - (5) {1} - (n
Exceptional wnte-off of tax assets and labihties - - — - 1 1
Effect of change 1n statutory tax rate - - - 4 u)] 3
Other differences 1 — 1 - - -
Total tax charge {credit) 91 (15) 76 25 (8 19

The effective tax rate on Head!ine earmings of 24% (2013/14 20%) has increased compared to the pnor year due mamly to an
increase in the proporhion of taxable profits ansing in higher rate junsdictions, predormnantly the Nordics

ltems attracting no tax rehef or iability relate pnmanly to non-deductible lease exit costs (2013/14 related pnmanly to French
operations}

c) Deferred tax
Accelerated Retiremant Losses Othear
capital benafit carried  temporary
allowances obligatrons forward ditferences Teotal
£million Ermillion Srmillion Emiliion £milhion
At 1 Apri 2013 - - — 1 1
CPW Europe Acquisition 27 - 3 14 a4
Charged directly to ncome statement (6) - - )] {11}
Credited to equity - - - 2 2
At 29 March 2014 21 - 3 12 36
Dixons Retail Merger (41) 83 - 58 100
Credited / (charged) directly to income statement 3 - 1 (5) (1)
Credited to equity - 15 - 12 27
At 2 May 2015 {(imn 98 4 7 162

Deferred tax compnses the following balances

2 May 29 March

2015 2014

Emillion Cmillson

Deferred tax assets 263 54
Deferred tax habihities (101) (18)
162 36
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7 Tax continued

Analysis of deferred tax relating to tems {charged) / credited to equity in the penod
13 months Year
ended ended
2 May 29 March
2015 2014
Emillion Emilbon
Actuanal losses on defined benefit pension schemes 15 -
Credited to comprehensive income 15 -
Share-based payments 12 2
27 2

The Group has total unrecogrised deferred tax assets relating to tax losses of £1,444 million (2013/14 £69 millon} No

deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect of the losses due to the lack of certanty regarding the availability of future

taxable profits

There were no temporary differences associated with undistnbutable sarmings of subsidianes for which deferred tax labilties

had not been recognised at the end of ether year
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8 Eamings per share

Restated
13 months Year
ended ended
2May 29 Mareh
2015 2014
Emillion £mitlion
Headhne earnings
Continuing operations 285 103
Total eamings / {loss)
Continuing operations 211 58
Discontinued operations {114) (10
Total 97 48
Million Million
Waerghted average number of shares
Average shares In I1Ssue 964 558
Less average holding by Group ESOT (3) (3)
For basic eammings per share 961 555
Ditutive effect of share options and other incentive schemes 32 7
For diluted earmngs per share 993 562
Pence Pence
Basic earmings per share
Total (continuing and discontinued operations) 10.1 86
Adjustment in respect of discontinued operations 1.9 18
Continuing operations 220 104
Adjustments for Non-Headline ~ continuing operations {net of taxation) 1.7 82
Headline basic earmings per share 29.7 186
Diluted earnings per share
Total (continuing and discontinued operations) 88 85
Adjustment in respect of discontinued operations 114 18
Continung operations 21.2 103
Adjustments for Non-Headhne - continuing operations (net of taxation} 7.5 80
Headline diluted earmings per share 28.7 i83

Basic and diluted earmings per share are based on the profit for the penod attnbutable to equity shareholders Headline eamings
per share 1s presented in order to show the underying performance of the Group Adjustments used to determine Headline

eamings are descnbed further in note 4
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9 Goodwll
2May 29 March
2015 2014
£million Tmilion
At beginning of year 481 -
CPW Europe Acquisition (note 23) - 484
Dixons Retail Merger (note 23) 2,629 -
Impaiment (35} -
Foreign exchange (86} (3
Atend of year 2,989 481
Cost 2,989 481
Accumulated impairment - -
2,989 481

a) Carrying value of goodwill

The components of goodwill comprnise the following businesses

2 May 29 March

2015 2014

Emillion Lmillion

UK & Ireland - Dixons 1,633 -
UK - Carphone Warehouse 406 406
Ireland - Carphone Warehouse 6 8
Nordics 916 —
Spain 28 31
Netherlands - 36
2,989 481

The goodwill ansing on the Dixons Retall Merger was allocated to the CGUs which were expected to benefit from the acquisition,
based on value in use calculations The Non-Headline impaimment charge relates to the operabions in the Netherlands as
descnbed in note 24
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9 Goodwill continued
b) Goodwill impairment testing

As required by LAS 36, goodwillis subject to annual impairment reviews These reviews are camed out using the following
cntera

* business acquisitions generate an attnbuted amount of goodwill,

+ the manner n which these businesses are run and managed 1s used to determine the CGU grouping as defined in tAS 36
‘Impaiment of Assets',

* the recoverable amount of each CGU group is determined based on calculating its value in use (VILY),

+ the ViU 15 calculated by applying discounted cash fiow modelling to management’s own projections covenng a five year
penod,

» cash flows beyond the five year penod are extrapolated using a long term growth rate equivalent to long term forecasts of
Gross Domestic Product (GDP) growth rates for the relevant market, and

+ the VIU 1s then compared to the camying amount in order to determine whether impairment has occuired
The key assumptions used in calculating value in use are

* management's projections,

« the growth rate beyond five years, and

+ the pre-tax discount rate

The long term projections, which have been approved by management, have been prepared using three year strategic plans as
a base extrapolated to five years and which have regard to the relative performance of competitors and knowledge of the curmrent
market together with management's views on the future achievable growth In market share and impact of the committed
initriatives The cash flows which denve from these five year projections include ongoing capital expenditure required to develop
and upgrade the store network in order to maintain and operate the businesses and to compete in their markets In forming the
five year projections, management draws on past expenience as a measure to forecast future performance

Key assumptions used in determining the five year projections compnse the growth in sales and costs over this period The
compound annual growth rate In sales and costs can nse as well as fall year on year depending not only on the year five targets,
but also on the current financial year base These targets, when combined, accordingly dnve the resutting profit margins and the
profit in year five of the projections which is In tum used to calculate the terminal value in the VIU calculaton Histoncal amounts
for the businesses under iImpairment review as well as from other parts of the Group are used to generate the values attnbuted
to these assumptions

The value atinbuted to these assumptions for the most significant components of goodwill are as follows

2 May 2015 29 March 2014
Compound  Compound Compound Compound

annual annual  Growth rate Pre-tax annual annual Growth rate
growth growth beyond discount growth growin beyend Pre tax
in sales in costs five years rate n sales In costy five years  discount rale
UK - Carphone Warehouse 32% 2.5% 29% 9.5% 19% 12% 19% 101%
UK & lreland - Dixons 2.3% 2.0% 29% 9.5% - - - -
Nordics 49% 48% 2.2% 8.5% - - - -

Growth rates used were determined based on third party long term growth rate forecasts and are based on the GDP growth rate
for the temmtones in which the businesses operate The pre-tax discount rates appled to the forecast cash flows reflect current
market assessments of the hime value of money and the nsks specific to the CGUs

¢) Goodwill impairment sensitivity analysis

A sensitmty analysis has been performed on each of the base case assumptions used for assessing the goodwill with other
vanables held constant Consideration of sensitvities to key assumptions ¢an evolve from one financial year to the next

The directors have concluded that there are no reasonably ikely changes in key assumptions which would cause the camying
amount of goodwill to exceed its value in use
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10 Intangible assets

Acqulsition intangibles

Software
Gustomer and
Brands relationships Sub-total licences Total
£million Emillion £mithon Emilllan Emillion
Balance at 30 March 2014 8 42 50 86 136
Dixons Retall Merger 365 B8 I3 30 403
Addions - 2 2 86 88
Amortisation (21} (7 {38) {32) 7o)
Impairment {1} 6) @ (3) (10)
Disposal of business - {t) (1) - (1)
Reclassification to held for sale - - - @ @
Fareign exchange (15) 2 in @ {19)
Balance at 2 May 2015 336 26 362 163 525
Cost 357 54 411 209 620
Accumulated amortisation and impawment losses 21) (28) (49} (46) (95)
Balance at 2 May 2015 336 26 362 163 525
Acquisition intangibles
Software
Customer and
Brangs  relabonsheps Subr total licences Total
£mifion Crmilion Crmithon Cmillion Emillion
Balance at 1 Apnl 2013 - - - - -
CPW Europe Acguisition 10 56 66 54 120
Additions - - - 48 48
Amortisation (2} (14) (16) (16} (32)
Balance at 29 March 2014 8 42 50 86 136
Cost 10 56 66 102 168
Accumulated amortisation and impairment losses (2} (14) {16} (16) (32)
Balance at 29 March 2014 8 42 50 86 136

Software and licences include assets with a cost of £35 millon (2014 £14 million) on which amortisation has not been charged
as the assets have not yet been brought into use

Intangibles acquired as part of the Dixons Retail Merger

Acquision intangibles included customer relationships and brands Each ¢lass of intangible asset was independently valued by
independent experts using appropnate valuation technigues The primary intangible assets, their net book values and
amortisation penods are as follows

Net book  Amortisation

value period

Emillion Years

CurrysPCWorld 163 15
Elgiganten 66 15
Elkjep 54 15
Gigantt 32 15

Software and licences were independently valued using an amortised replacement cost method
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11 Property, plant & eguipment

Fixtures,
fittings and
Land end other
buldings  equipment Total
Smittion £milBon tmillion
Balance at 30 March 2014 40 50 90
Dixons Retail Merger 70 196 266
Addihions 4 81 85
Depreciation (8) (75) (83)
Disposals (9) ) (14)
Transferred to assets held for sale e] @ (@)
Impatrment (1) @ 3)
Foreign exchange (1) ©) (10)
Balance as at 2 May 2015 93 234 327
Cost 104 319 423
Accumulated depreciation {t1) (85} (96)
Balance as at 2 May 2015 93 234 327
Included in net book value as at 2 May 2015
Land not depreciated 8 - 8
Assets in the course of construction - 16 16
Assets held under finance leases 65 2 67
Fixtures
fittings and
Langt and cther
bultdings aguiprmant Total
Emilion Coullion Crullion
Balance at 1 Apnl 2013 27 - 27
CPW Europe Acquisition 27 45 72
Addrtions 2 18 20
Depreciation (6} (12) {18)
Disposals (10} - (10)
Foreign exchange - {1 (1)
Balance at 29 March 2014 40 50 90
Cost 47 62 109
Accumulated depreciation {7} (12) (19
Balance as at 29 March 2014 40 50 90
Included 1n net book value as at 29 March 2014
Land not depreciated 5 - 5
Assets in the course of construction 1 7 8
Assets held under finance leases - 3 3

Freehold land and buildings predominantty compnse the Group’s investment property The far value of investment property was
determined by an extemal, iIndependent property valuation expert as £14 million (2014 €22 milion) The valuation expert has
appropnate recogrised professional qualifications as well as recent expenence m the location and category of the properties
being valued The valuation of properties was performed by reference to appropnate yield rates and market evidence of recent
transactions Future minimum lease income in respect of the Group’s investment properties are set out in note 29
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12 Inventory
2 May 29 March
2015 2014
£milllon Crruttion
Fiished goods and goods for resale 920 240
13 Trade and other receivables
2 May 29 March
2015 2014
£million Emillion
Trade receivables 1,010 935
Less provision for bad and doubtful debts (20) {20)
990 915
Prepayments 124 35
Other receivables 74 55
Accrued income 22 5
Derwvative financial assets 15 2
1,225 1,012
Non-current 318 19
Current 907 821
1,225 1,012

The majority of trade and other recewables are non-interest beanng Non-current recevables matnly comprise commission
receivable on sales Where the effect 1s matenal, trade and other recevables are discounted using discount rates which reflect

the relevant costs of financing The carrying amount of trade and other receivables approximates farr value

2 May 2015 29 March 2014
Gross trade Met trade  Gross trade Net trade
receivables Provision recewables receivablas Provision  recevables
Cmillion Ermitlion £mitlion Emellion £miton £milnon

Ageing of gross trade receivables and provisions
Not vet due 848 (6} 842 795 (2) 793

Past due:

Under two months 62 (5} 47 49 (3) 46
Two to four months 17 - 17 39 1 38
Over four months a3 9} 84 52 (14) 38
162 (14) 148 140 {18) 122
1,010 (20) 990 935 (20) 915
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13 Trade and other recevables continued

Movements in the provision for impairment of trade receivables is as follows

2 May 29 March

2015 2014
£milion £mibon
Opening balance (20) -
Dixons Retail Merger (19) -
CPW Europe Acquisttion - (23}
Charged to the income statement 8) (19)
Recevables wntten off as irecoverable 16 22
Disposals 2 -
Transferred to assets held for selt 8 -
Foreign exchange 1 -
Closing balance {20) {20)

The Group’s trade recewvables included the following amounts which were past due, but for which the Group has made no

proviston based on hustoncal rates of recoverability

2 May 29 March

2015 2014
Ernillion Cmillion

Under two months 47 46
Two to four months 17 38
Over four months 84 38
148 122

14 Cash and cash equivalents

2May 29 March

2018 2014
Emillion £rndilion
Cash at bank and on deposit 163 283

Cash at bank and on deposit includes short term bank deposits which are available on demand Within cash and cash
equivalents, £92 milion (2014 £26 miilion) 1s restncted and predominantly comprises funds held under trust to fund potential
customer support agreement habilities as well as by the Group's insurance businesses to cover regulatory reserve requirements

These funds are not avallable to offset group borrowings
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15 Trade and other payables
2May 2015 29 March 2014
Non- Non-
Cument curmant Current curant
Cmillon £millon reulbon Srndlion
Trade payables 1,097 - 565 113
Other taxes and social secunty 205 - 197 -
Dervative financial instruments 26 - — -
Other creditors 103 2717 - -
Accruals 384 72 166 -
Deferred income 146 147 11 -
1,961 496 869 113

Non-current trade and other payables relate pnncipally to property leases that are deemed to be over-rented These habilities are
unwound over the penod of the relevant lease, of up to 22 years The camying amount of trade and other payables approximates
their farr value

16 Deferred consideration
2 May 2015 29 March 2014
Non- Non-
Current current Cumant current
£million Emullion £milhon £million
Deferred consideration 25 6 25 25

Deferred considerabon pnmanly relates to the CPW Europe Acquisition with £25 million payable to Best Buy in June 2015
{2014 payable to Best Buy in equal instaiments in June 2014 and June 2015) The amount bears interest at 2 5% per annum
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17 Loans and other borrowings
2May 29 March

2015 2014
£million Emillion

Non-current habilties
Loans and other borrowings 330 290
330 290

Commutted facilities

Until the Merger, the Group had a £650 mullion multi-currency term and revolving credit facility which matured in Apnl 2017 This
facihty was splitt into two tranches a £400 million revolving tranche and a term loan tranche of £250 mifion The term loan facility
reduced by £25 million during the year ended 2 May 2015 and amortises by a further £50 mullion on 30 June 2016

These faciliies were amended on completion of the Merger for specific requirements of Dixons, a temporary loosening of certain
covenants and some other provisions specific to the Merger, but which otherwise remained on the same terms as previously
agreed and will still mature in Apnl 2017 In addition, the Company aranged a new £250 million revolving credit factity matunng
on 29 Apnl 2017

The rate of interest payable on borrowings 1s a margin of 1 5% to 2 25% per annum over LIBOR or EURIBOR
The faciities require guarantees to be provided by certain Group entities under the facilities

Bank overdraft and other uncomrmtted facilities
The Group has overdraft and uncommitted money market facilities totaling approximately £157 million (2014 £95 mullion)

18 Finance lease obligations

2 May 2015 29 March 2014

Present Present

value of value of

Minirmum mindmum Minimom mimmum
bease lease lease lease

paymenis  payments payments payments
£millicn Emilhon Smiicn Emilhion

Amounts due

Within one year 8 8 1 1

In more than one year and not more than five years 33 26 - -

in more than five years 114 57 - -

155 91 1 1

Less future finance charges (64) - - -

Present value of lease obligations 9 M 1 1
Less amounts due within one year @ 2 {1} (1)

Amounts due after more than one year 89 89 - -

The majonty of finance leases relate o properties in the UK which were acquired as part of the Merger where obligations are
denominated m Sterling and remaining lease terms vary between 10 and 21 years The effective borowing rate on individual
leases ranged between 551% and 8 15% (2014 6 196) Interest rates are fixed at the contract date All leases are on a fixed
repayment basis and no arrangements have been entered into for contingent rental payments

The far value of the Group's lease obligations approximates therr carrying amount
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13 Provisions
2 May 2015 29 March 2014
Reorganisation Sales Other Total  Reorganisation Sales Other Total
Emillion £million Erillion Enullion Cmidiion Erulliony Crrulion Emilian
At beginning of period 22 10 18 50 - - 7 7
CPW Europe Acquisition - - - - 35 11 17 63
Merger i - 27 58 - - - -
Addwons 39 2 7 48 - 3 4 7
Released in the penod {4) - - 4) — - (3) {3)
Utiised in the period (63) {5} (4) 73 (13) (4 {7} (24)
Reclassification to held for sale (1) - (1) 2 - - - -
Disposal of business - - 1) {1) - - - -
Foreign exchange (1) {1} - 2 - - - -
At end of penod 23 6 46 75 22 10 18 50
Analysed as
Current 20 6 28 54 22 10 18 50
Non-current 3 - 18 21 — - - -
23 6 46 75 22 10 18 50

A description of each provision 15 included in note 1

Provisions recogmsed as part of the Merger pnmanly cormpnse provisions for onerous property lease contracts (within other) and
Merger related costs {within reorganisation)

Additiens durng the year ended 2 May 2015 relate to restructunng charges ansing from the Merger, restructuning provisions
recogrised by the businesses in Germany and the Netherlands prior to becoming discontinued operations held for sale and
provisions recognised by the Group relating to the disposal of discontinued operations

Gther provisions include £25 million 1n relation to onerous property lease contracts at 2 May 2015

Non-current provisions are expected to be utiised over a period up to ten years
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20 Retirement and other post-employment benefit obhigations

2Mgy 29 March

2015 2014
Emiltion Erauliion

Retirement benefit obligations - UK 486 -
- Nordics 3 -

489 —_

The Group operates a defined benefit and a number of defined contnbution schemes which were acquired as part of the Dixons
Retail Merger

The principal scheme which operates in the UK includes a funded defined benefit section whose assets are held n a separate
trustee adrmirustered fund The scheme 15 valued by a qualified actuary at least every three years and contnbutions are assessed
in accordance with the actuary’s advice Since 1 September 2002, the defined benefit section of the scheme has been closed to
new entrants and on 30 April 2010 was closed to future accrual with automatic entry into the defined contnbution section being
offered to those active members of the defined benefit section at that ime Membership of the defined contnbution section 15
offered to eligible employees

In the Nordics division, the Group operates small funded secured defined benefit pension schemes, which are also closed
to new entrants, with assets held by a life Insurance company as well as an unsecured pension arrangement In addition,
contnbutions are made to state penston schemes with defined benefit charactenstics There has been a net movement in
the obligation since the Merger and this pnncipally relates to an actuanal ioss of £1 million

a) Defined contnbution pension schemes
The pension charge in respect of defined contribution schemes was £20 million (2013/14 £4 milhon)
b) UK Defined benefit pension scheme - actuanal valuation and assumptions

A full actuanal valuation of the schere was last camed out as at 31 March 2013 and showed a shortfall of assets compared with
iabilites of £373 million A ‘recovery plan® based on this valuation was agreed with the Trustee post the Dixons Retall Merger
such that contributions in respect of the scheme year end of 31 March of £25 million were made in 2014/15, nsing to £35 milion
for 2015/16 Contnbutions nse to £47 million by 2024/25 The next tnennial valuation wili be as at 31 March 2016

The pnncipal actuanal assumptons as at 31 March 2013 were

Rate par annum

Discount rate for accrued benefits? - Growth portfolio 59%

- Matching portfolio 38%
Rate of increase to pensions 0% -38%
Inflation 34%

t The discount rate 1s based on a inear de-nsking methodology which assumes the Scheme's nvestment strategy switches investments from
growth assets {such as equities) to matching assets {(such as bonds) over a penod of 30 years from 2013 to 2043 so that in 30 years’ time
the asset portfolio 15 projected to be 80% invested in matching assets

At 31 March 2013, the market vatue of the scheme's investments was £812 millon and, based on the above assumptions,
the value of the assets was sufficient to cover 63% of the benefits acerued to members with the habilities amounting to
£1,185 rmulon
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20 Retirement and other post-employment benefit obligations continued
c) UK Defined benefit pension scheme - IAS 19

The following summanses the components of net defined benefit expense recognised in the consolidated income statement,
the funded status and amounts recognised In the consolidated balance sheet and other amounts recogrised i the statement

of comprehensive ncome The methodologes set out in IAS 19 are different from those used by the scheme actuaries in

determining funding arrangements

() Prncipal assumptions adopted
The assumptions used n calculating the expenses and obligations are set by the directors after consultation with the
independent actuanes

2 May 28 March
2015 2014
Emlition £milion
Rates per annum

Discount rate 35% -

Rate of increase in pensions in payment / 29%/
deferred pensions (pre / post Apnil 2006 accrual) 19% -
Inflation 31% -

The Group uses demographic assumptions undertying the last formal actuanal valuation of the scheme as at 31 March 2013

In particular, post retirement mortality has been assumed to follow the standard mortality tables ‘S1 All Pensioners tables
pubhshed by the CMI, based on the expenence of Self-Administered Pension Schemes (SAPS) with multipliers of 100% for
males and 105% for females In addition, an allowance has been made for future Improvements in longevity from 2003 by using
the new CMI 2013 Core projections with a long term rate of improvement of 1 5% per annum for men and 1 25% per annum for
women Applying such tables results in an average expected longewity of between 87 1 years and 88 8 years for men and

between B8 8 years and 90 2 years for women for those reaching 65 over the next 15 vears

() Amounts recogrised in consolidated income statement

13 months Year
endad anded
2 May 29 March
2015 2014
Emilllon Emillion
Net interest expense on defined benefit obligation 13 —
() Amounts recogrised in the consolidated statement of comprehensive mcome and expense
13 months Year
ended ended
2 May 2% March
2015 2014
Erniltion £midlion
Remeasurement of defined benefit obligation — actuarial gaing / (losses) ansing from
changes in financial assumptions (168} -
expenence adjustments 19 -
change in demographic assumptions ©) -
Remeasurement of scheme assets
Actual return on plan assets (exciuding amounts ncluded in net interest expense) 86 -
Cumulative actuanal loss {72) -
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20 Retrement and other post-employment benefit obligations continued
() Amounts recogmised i the consolidated balance sheet

2May 29 March

2015 2014

£million Ermition
Present value of defined benefit obligations (1,431) -
Farr value of plan assets 945 -
Net obligation (486) -

Changes n the present value of the defined benefit obligation

2May 29 March

2015 2014
Emlllion £milion
Opering obligation at date of Dixons Retail Merger 1,259 -
Interest cost 38 -
Remeasurements in other comprehensive income - actuanal losses / {gains) ansing from changes in
Financial assumptions 168 -
Experience (19) -
Demographic assumptions 9 -
Benefits paid (24) -
Closing obligation 1,431 -

The weighted average matunty profile of the defined benefit obligation at the end of the year s 21 years

Changes in the far value of the scheme assets

2 May 29 March

2015 2014
£millon Emithon
Cpening fair value at date of Dixons Retail Merger 830 -
Interest income 25 -
Employer special contributions 23 -
Remeasurements in other comprehensive income
Actual return on plan assets (excluding interest income} 86 -
Benefits paid (24) -
Clesing fair value 945 -
Analysis of scheme assets
2 May 29 March
2015 2014
Emullion Emillion
Overseas and global equities ~ Listed 286 -
Dwersified growth — Listed 182 —
- Unhsted 10 -
Mult-asset credit funds - Listed 29 —
- Unhsted 23 -
Emerging market mult asset funds - Listed 49 —
- Unlisted 3 -
Private equity - Unhsted 47 -
Property - Unhsted 15 —
Index-linked gilts - Listed 101 -
Corporate bonds - Listed 79 -
Liability driven investments (LDI} - busted 69 -
Cash and cash instruments - Unlisted 51 -
Other - Unlisted 1 -
045 —
Dixons Carphone plc Annual Report and Accounts 2014/15 1214

Financial statements




Financial statements

Notes to the Group financial statements

20 Retirement and other post-employment benefit obhgations continued

The investment strategy of the scheme i1s deterrmined by the ndependent Trustee through advice provided by an independent
nvestment consultant The scheme invests In a diverse range of asset classes as set out above with matching assets pnmanly
compnsing holdings n inflation linked gilts and corporate bonds

Actual retum on the scheme assets was a gam of £111 milhon (2013/14 £nil)

v) Sensitivities

The value of the UK defined benefit pension scheme assets are sensitive to market conditions, particularty equity values which
compnse approximately 67% of the scheme’s assets Changes in assumptions used for deterrmining retirement benefit costs
and habilities may have a matenal impact on the 2015/16 income statement and the balance sheet The main assumpticns are
the discount rate, the rate of inflation and the assumed mortality rate The following table prowides an estimate of the potential
impacts of each of these vanables if applied to the current year consolidated income statement and balance sheet

Net finance costs Neot deflert

13 months Year

ended ended
2May 29 March 2 May 29 March
2015 2014 2015 2014
Emillion Emmon Emillion Emiion

Positive / (negative) effect

Discount rate 0 25% increase 2 - 73 -
Inflation rate 0 25% increase! 2 — 5" —
Mortality rate 1 year increase 2) ~ (42) -

T The increase in scheme benefits prowded to members on retirement 1s subject to an wflation cap

d} Other post-employment benefits — AS 19

The Group offers other post-employment benefits to employees In overseas temtorigs, in particular in Greece These benefits are
unfunded At 2 May 2015 the net obligation in relation to these benefits was £3 million (2014 £nil) The net movement in the
obligation (since the Mergen 1s not significant
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21 Share capntal, retaned earmings and reserves

a} Share capital
2 May 28 March 2 May 29 March
2015 2014 2015 204
milion madlion Emillion £milhon
Aliotted, called-up and fully paid ordinary shares of 0 1p each 1,151 576 1 1
2 May 29 March 2 May 29 March
2015 2014 2015 2014
Note million milion Emillion Emillign
Ordinary shares of 0 1p each in 1ssue at the beginning of the period 576 473 1 1
issued as consideration to Dixons shareholders 0 5§75 — - -
Issued for cash I} - 47 - -
Issue of Consideration Shares (it} - 42 - -
Exercise of share options - 14 - _
Ordinary shares of 0 1p each in issue at the end of the period 1,151 576 1 1

{) Dunng the year, 574 7 miluon shares with a mid-market pnce of £3 432 were 1ssued as part of the all share merger with Dixons as descnbed
n note 23

(n} On 30 Apnl 2013 the Group placed 47 2 midlion ordinary shares at £2 22 per share, raising net proceeds of £103 milion which were used 1o
fund part of the consideration for the CPW Europe Acquisition

u) On 25 June 2013 the Group 1ssued 42 1 mithon Consideration Shares to Best Buy Best Buy agreed to wave nghts to dwvidends payable on
these shares for the period in which they were In ther ownership The Consideration Shares were placed by the Group in July 2013 and
from thus point held the sama nghts as other ordinary shares

b) Retained earmings and reserves

Movement n retained eamings and reserves dunng the reported penods are presented in the consolidated statement of changes
in equity The demerger reserve arose as part of the demerger of the Group from TalkTalk in 2010

22 Equity dividends
2 May 29 March
2015 2614
Lomdlion Emillion
Amounts recognised as distnbutions to equity shareholders in the penod
- on ordinary shares of 0.1p each
Final dividend for the year ended 31 March 2013 of 3 25p per ordinary share - 19
Intenm dividend for the year ended 28 March 2014 of 2 00p per ordinary share - H
Final dividend for the year ended 29 March 2014 of 4 00p per ordinary share 23 -
Interim dividend for the 13 months ended 2 May 2015 of 2 50p per ordinary share 29 -
52 30

The following distnbution 1s proposed but had not been effected at 2 May 2015 and 1s subject to shareholders’ approval at the
forthcoming Annual Generat Meeting

Emilfien
Fmal divdend for the 13 months ended 2 May 2015 of 6 Op per ordinary share 69
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23 Merger and acquisition

2014/15 Ali-share merger of Dixons and Carphone

On 6 August 2014, the Group completed an all-share merger of Dixans and Carphone after which the shareholders of Dixons
and Carphone each held 50% of Dixons Carphone on a fully dituted basis taking into account existing share options and award
schemes for both companies

Under the terms of the Merger, Dixons shareholders receved 0 155 of a new Dixons Carphone Share in exchange for each
Dixons share In accordance with the entena in IFRS 3 ‘Business Combinations’ it has been determined that Carphone
acquired Dixons

The merged entity creates a leader n European consumer electncals, mobiles, connectivity and related services The directors
believe that the Merger will deliver significant value to sharehotders through a combination of enhanced commercial
opportunities, operating synergies and growth opportuniies The integration of the two businesses 1s being managed by a
dedicated integration team, bnnging together the best relevant capabilities of both businesses, with the am of facilitating a
smooth integration

a) Farr value of assets and habilies
The prowisional farr values of identifiable assets and iabilities of Dixons as at the acquisition date were as follows

Note £million

Assets

Intangible assets 403
Property, ptant & equipment 266
Trade and other recevables 0 305
Deferred tax assets 190
Inventory 789
Income tax receivable 20
Short term Investments 1
Cash and cash equivalents 339
Assets held for sale ] 30
Total assets 2,343
Liabthities

Loans and other borrowings (289)
Finance lease obligations (93)
Retirement benefit obligations (432}
Trade and other payables (1,949)
Income tax payable (49)
Provisions i) (58)
Deferred tax liabilities (90)
Liabilities directly associated with assets classified as held for sale (30)
Total habilities (2,990)
Total fair value of identifiable net habiities acquired v (647}
Provisional goodwilt M 2,629
Total consideration - fair value of ordinary shares 1ssued ) 1,982
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23 Merger and acquisthion continued
2014/15 Ali-share merger of Dixons and Carphone continued

i) The far value of trade and other recevables represents gross trade recevables of £324 millon less amounts not considered collectible of
£19 miflion

(i) Assets held for sale included cash and cash equivalents of £8 million

@) Prowisions include the recognition of contingent liahilities of £7 mullion mainty in relation to lease covenants relating to premises assigned or
sublet to thuird parties and fegal claims It 1s anticipated that the majonty of any utilisation associated with these contingent habilities will be
incurred over the next five years No utiisation of these provisions has occurred between the acquisiton date and 2 May 2015

(iv) The finalisation of the fair value of the acquired assets and labilities will be completed within 12 months of the acquisition and therefore
remains provisional until 5 August 2015 owing to the extensive nature of the valuation process as well as the requirement to re-assess
the status of contingent liabilties wihich have been provided for It is therefore possible that adjustments to goodwill could anse up unti
5 August 2015

{v} The goodwill ansing on acquisition 1s not deductible for income tax purposes The provisional goodwill of £2,629 million reflects the fact that
Dixons’ value 1s based on its cash generating potential rather than its existing assets and the fact that many of iis key strengths, such as its
scale and expertise, do not represent intangible assets as defined by IFRS The goodwill furthermore refiects the main reasons the directors
of Dixens and Carphone proposed the Merger, being
« The markets in which Carphone and Dixons operate are converging and the combination of the two complementary businesses will create

the opportunity for compelling end-to-end propositons and long term relationships with custemers,
+ The Group wilt have improved scale and reach,
+ Significant synergies will anse with operating synergies of at least £80 million on a recurring basis expected 1o be delivered in full by
2016/17, and

+ The Merger will provide a stronger platform for growth through the provision of services to customers and businesses

{v) On 6 August 2014 the Company 1ssued 574,723,226 shares with a mid-market share price of £3 432 as consideration to Dixons
shareholders, resulting in an increase to share caprtal and share premium of £1,972 million In addition, the Company assumed the
obligation to satisfy outstanding share options within the Dixons Carphone business for which a farr value of £11 milion has been
included as part of the consideration This has been partially offset by shares with a value of £1 million included within Dixons Retail
Employee Share Trust

b) Other nformation

Transaction related charges of £9 miltion incurred by the Group in respect of the Merger have been included in Non-Headline
operating expenses as set out in note 4

The results of Dixons have been consolidated from 6 August 2014, contnibuting £5,586 million of revenue and profit after tax
of £200 million i the period to 2 May 2015 If the acquisition had completed at the beginning of Dixons’ financial year, being

1 May 2014, the Group’s revenue would have been £9,936 million and the Group's Headline profit after tax would have been
£293 million Non-Headline itemns included within Dixons results in the pencd pror to the Merger comprised £11 milhon in
respect of the acceleration of share-based payment charges which vested on the Merger, £12 million of merger related
professional fees, £5 milhon of merger integration costs, £42 millon of debt restructunng costs, £5 million of provision releases
relating to discontinued cperations and £4 million of pension interest costs A tax credit of £11 million was recognised against
these charges
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23 Merger and acquisttion continued
2013/14 CPW Europe Acquisiion

On 26 June 2013 the Group completed the CPW Europe Acquisition for a gross consideration of £500 miflion, banging the
Group’s ownership interest to 100% CPW Europe 1s one of the largest independent telecommurications specialists in Europe,
operating retail stores, pnncipally under the Carphone Warehouse and Phone House brands, together with well-developed onling
propasitions CPW Europe 1s also increasingly focused on leveraging its assets and expertise to provide services {o third parties |

through its Connected World Services business

The primary reasons for the acquisition were to brnng a simplified ownership structure, making day-to-day management easier
and the strategic decision-making process more streamlined, and enabling the Group to better leverage CPW Europe’s asset

base and know-how

c) Fawr value of assets and lhabilities

The fair values of identifiable assets and habilities of CPW Europe as at the acquisition date were as foliows

Notes £million
Intangible assets 120
Property, plant and equipment 72
Deferred tax assets 44
Stock 343
Trade and other receivables f 1,112
Net cash and cash equivalents 53
'g Current asset investments 5
g Trade and other payables (B36)
® Corporation tax llabilities (48)
§ Provisions (il 63
g Loans and other borrowings (271)
Finance lease obligations (3)
Identifhiable net assets 528
Goodwill (i} 484
Total consideration 1,012
Satisfied by
Farr value of existing joint venture investment V) 500
Cash ) 370
Deferred consideration () 50
Equrty {wi} 113
Dernvative asset {vi) (21}
1,012
Net cash outflow ansing on acquisition
Cash consideration aro
Less net cash and cash equivalents acquired 53}
317

|
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23 Merger and acquisition continued
2013/14 CPW Europe Acquisition continued

0]
@
(i)

™

v}
(vi)

The farr value of trade and other recevables represents gross contractual amounts recevable of £1,135 milhon, less amounts not
considered collectable of £23 milion

Provisions include the recognition of contingent habilities of £8 mullion in relation to legal claims and other potential exposures It1s expected
that any costs associated with these contingent habilities will be incurred over the next four years

The goodwill of £484 millon ansing on the acquisition reflects the fact that CPW Europe's value 15 based on its cash generating potential
rather than its existing assets, and the fact that many of its key strengths, such as its scale and expertise, do not represent intangible assets
as defined by IFRS None of the goodwill 1s expected to be deductible for income tax purposes

IFRS 3 ‘Business Combinations’ requires that the Group's existing 50% interest n CPW Europe be revalued to its farr vatue as part of the
acquisihion accounting process The fair value of this interest 15 considered to be equal to the gross consideration of £500 million pard by the
Group to acquire Best Buy's 50% interest in CPW Europe As the camyng value of the Group’s investment in CPW Europe was £499 mullion
at the acquisition date, a gan of £1 milion was recognised in Non-Headline operating expenses in respect of this revaluation

Gross cash consideration of £370 mulllon was settled on completion, offset by payments from Best Buy of £29 mllion in respect of the
prepayment or termination of the Group's other interests with Best Buy

The £50 mukion of deferred cash consideration, which bears interest at 2 5% per annum, 1s payable to Best Buy in two equal instalments of
£25 million in June 2014 and June 2015

(vid A further £80 million of consideration was provided through the 1ssue on completion of 42 1 mullion shares to Best Buy, at a price of £1 90

per share The Group had the nght to place the Consideration Shares on Best Buy's behalf dunng the 12 manth penod to June 2014, and to
retain any upside on disposal The value of the Consideration Shares on completron was £101 mition, based on a share price at that date of
£2 38, and this value is recorded as consideration, with the value associated with the nght to place the Consideration Shares recognised as
a denvative financial asset of £21 millon The Consideration Shares were placed in July 2013 at an average pnce of £2 44, resulbng in a net
cash gan of £23 million for the Group The difference between the disposal proceeds and the value of the denvative financial asset has
been recognised as a gain of £2 millon in Non-Headline operating expenses

As part of the transaction, the Group agreed to satisfy Best Buy's obligations in relation to certan ncentive schemes Shares
with a value of £12 million were 1ssued In respect of Best Buy's obligations and have been included in consideration

d) Other information

The results of CPW Europe have been consolidated into the Group's income staterment from 26 June 2013, contnbuting
£2,561 million of revenue and a profit before tax of £61 million in the penod to 29 March 2014 If the acquisition had completed
on 1 Apnl 2013, being the first day of the financial year, the Group’s revenue would have been £3,402 million and the Group's
profit before tax would have been £46 million

Transaction-related charges of £18 million, comprising banking and professional fees of £7 million and cash and non-cash
charges relating to incentive schemes of £11 million have been included in Non-Headhne operating expenses A tax credit of
£3 milion was also recognised in respect of these costs

e) Share of results from joint ventures

The Group's share of results of jont ventures within continuing operations relate to CPW Europe prior to its acquisition on
26 June 2013 and 1s analysed as follows

29 March
2014

£million

Headline revenue 777
Headline EBIT! 12
Net finance costs 2)
Taxation on Headline results 5)
Headline profit after taxation 5
Group share of Headline profit after taxation 3
Group share of French operations (in process of closure) {post-tax) (23}
Group share of loss after taxation (20}

+

Headline EBIT includes the unwinding of discounting for the time vatue of money on netwark commissians recenvable over the Ife of the
customer This unwinding had a value of €3 million for the penod to 26 June 2013 and 1s treated as finance income in the joint venture's
statutory resulis
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24 Discontinued operations and assets held for sale

On 16 May 2014 the Group announced that it had entered mto an agreement to sell ds interest in Virgin Mobile France
and completed the disposal on 4 December 2014 for gross consideration of £104 million and generated a profit of
£87 million

Foltowing the Merger, the Group put in place a strategy of focusing on market leadership positions while engaging Iin
other markets through partnerships with its Connected World Services division This led the Group to carry out detalled
strategic assessments of its Phone House operations which concluded in the decision to exit certain markets

+ On 15 Apnl 2015 the Group announced that it had agreed the sale of its operations in Germany to Dnlisch AG, a leading
mohile virtual network operator in Gemrmany The sale completed on 5 May 2015

« On 24 Apnl 2015 the Group entered into an agreement to dispose of a majonty 83% stake in its operations in the Netherlands
to Relevant Holdings BV, a company set up by the shareholders of Optie1 which has extensive telecom retaling expenence in
the Dutch market The sale completed on 30 June 2015

« On 16 July 2015 the Group announced its comrmutment to dispose of ts operations in Portugal following the completion of a
strategic review in 2014/15 Discussions which commenced with potential acquirers dunng 2014/15 are advanced and an
announcement confirming details of the disposal 1s expected in due course

The closure of the Phone House operations in France, which was announced in 2013/14, was completed during the year
ended 2 May 2015 and 1s therefore now treated as a discontinued operation

Prior to the Merger, Dixons agreed to sell its operations in the Czech Republic and Slovakia The net assets held for sale
associated with this business were included within the fair value of assets and liabilities acquired through the Merger and
the sale completed on 11 August 2014

All businesses noted above have been presented within discontinued operations and the assets and habilities associated
with Germany, Netherlands and Portugal have been recogmsed as held for sale at 2 May 2015 The resulits of the Phone
House Germany, Netherlands and Portugal pnor to the CPW Europe Acquisttion continue to be reported 1n results of joint
ventures within Headline continuing operations The Group's interest in Virgin Mobile France was presented as an asset
held for sale as at 29 March 2014 and equity accounting was ceased from this date

a) Loss after tax - discontinued operations

The resuits of discontinued operations are compnsed as follows

13 months ended 2 May 2015
Virgin Phone Phone Phone Phone
Mobile House House House House
France France Germany Nstherlands Paortugal Total
Emulllon £million £mithon Emillion Cmillion £million
Revenue - - 323 159 47 529
Expenses - - (364) (239) (55) (658)
Loss before tax - - {41) (80) (8} (129)
Income tax - - - - - -
- - (41 (80) (8) (129)
Profit on disposal 87 - - - - a7
Imparrment losses recogrused on classification as held for
sale - - {16) (43) (13) (72)
a7 - (57 (123) {21) (114)

The profit on disposal of Virgin Mobile France compnses consideration of £104 milon, £4 milion of costs and £13 miliion of net
assets disposed The loss before tax of the operations in Germany, the Netherands and Portugal include restructunng costs and
asset Impairment charges from reorganisations carned out pnor to the businesses being classified as held for sale Such costs
include the Non-Headline exceptional restructurng charges of £67 million, of which £35 million relates to goodwill impatrment,
recognised in relation to the Phone House Germany and Netherlands The impatrment losses recognised on classification as
held for sale on all other businesses reflects the difference between the consideration expected to be received and the net
assets held for sale including any impairment of assets to ther anticipated net realisable value on completion less any accrued
costs to sell
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24 Discontinued operations and assets held for sale continued

Restated
12 months ended 29 March 2014
Virgan Phone Phone Phone Phone
Mobile Housa Houss House Housa
France France Gemany Natherands Portugal Total
f£'milhon £million Smifion Emion £milon Emihon
Revenue - tal 3585 122 45 633
Expenses - {77) (396) (124} {46) (643)
Loss before tax - (6) (1) 2} 1) (10
Income tax - - - - - -
Loss after tax from discontinued operations - (6) 1) 2) (1} {10)
b) Assets held for sale
The Group’s assets held for sale and associated habviities are analysed as follows
2 May 29 March
2015 2014
Emillion Emillion
Investments in jomnt ventures - 1
Inventory 16 —
Recevables 66 -
Cash and cash equivalents 55 -
Assets held for sale 137 11
Liabiies associated with assets held for sale - current habilities {68) -
Net assets held for sale 69 1
c} Cash flows from discontinued operations
Aestated
13 months Year
ended ended
2 May 29 March
2015 2014
E£milfion Emilon
Operating activities (78) 44
Investing activities 81 3
3 41
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25 Financial nsk management and dernvative financial instruments
Financial instruments that are measured at far value in the financial statements require disclosure of far value measurements
by level based on the following farr value measurement herarchy

* Level 1 - quoted pnces {unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets and habilities,

* Level 2 - inputs other than quoted pnces ncluded within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or hiability either directly
(that 1s, as pnces) or indirectly {that 1s, denved from pnces), and

+ Level 3 - inputs for the asset or hability that are not based on observable market data (that 1s, unobservable inputs)

The significant inputs required to fair value all of the Group's financial instrurents are observable The Group only holds Level 2
financrial instrurments There have also been no transfers of assets or habilities between levels of the farr value hierarchy

Farr values have been arnved at by discounting future cash flows, assuming no early redemption, or by revaluing forward
currency contracts and interest rate swaps to perod end market rates as appropnate to the instrument

The directors consider that the book value of financial assets and habilities recorded at amortised cost and therr far value are
approximately equal

The book value and fair value of the Group's financial assets, iabilities and denvatve financial instruments are as follows

2 May 29 March

2015 2014
£milban Smiltion
Cash and cash equivalents 163 283
Trade and other receivables excluding denvative financial assets 1,086 975
Derwative financial {liabilibes) / assets {11) 2
Loans to Virgin Mobile France (see note 24) - 18
Trade and other payables {1,933) (844)
Finance leases {91) {1}
Deferred consideration {31) {50)
Loans and other borrowings (385) (290)

a) Financial nsk management policies

The Group's activities expose 1t to certan financial nsks including market nsk {such as foreign exchange nsk and interest rate
nsk), credit nsk and iquichty nsk The Group’s treasury function, which operates under treasury policies approved by the Board,
uses certain financial instruments to mitigate potentially adverse effects on the Group’s financial perforrmance from these nsks
These financial nstruments consist of bank loans and deposits, spot and forward foreign exchange contracts, foreign exchange
swaps and interest rate swaps

Throughout the penod under review, in accordance with Group policy, no speculative use of dervatives, foreign exchange or
other instruments was permitted No contracts with embedded denvatives have been dentified and, accordingly, no such
denvatives have been accounted for separately
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25 Financial nsk management and derwvative financial instruments continued
b} Foreign exchange nsk

The Group undertakes certain transactions that are denominated in foreign currencies and as a consequence has exposure to
exchange rate fluctuations These exposures pnmanly anse from inventory purchases, with most of the Group's exposure being
to US Dollar and Euro fluctuations The Group uses spot and forward currency contracts to mitigate these exposures, with such

contracts designed to cover exposures ranging from one month o one year

The translation nsk on converting overseas currency profits or losses 1s not hedged and such profits or losses are converted into
Sterling at average exchange rates throughout the year The Group's pnncipal translatron cutrency exposures are the Euro and

Norwegian Krone

At 2 May 2015, the total notional pnneipal amount of outstanding currency contracts was £1,540 miltion (2014 £68 mullion)
Monetary assets and habilities and foreign exchange contracts are sensitive to movements in foreign exchange rates This
sensitivity can be analysed in companson to year-end rates (assuming all other vanables reman constant) as follows

13 months ended
2 May 2015

Yoar anded
29 March 2014

Effect on

Headline
profit Effect on
before tax  total equity
increase /  increase /
{decrease) (decrease)
€million Emilllon

Etfect on
Headline Effect on
profit before  total equety
tax increase incroase /
/ (decraase) (decraase)
Emition Cenitlion

10% movement in the US dollar exchange rate - 5
10% movement in the Euro exchange rate - 87
10% movement in the Swedish Krona exchange rate - 4
10% movement in the Damish Krone exchange rate - 3
10% movement in the Norwegian Krone exchange rate - 3

c) Interest rate nsk

The Group's interest rate nsk anses pnmanly on cash, cash equivalents and loans and other borrowings, all of which are at
floating rates of interest and which therefore expose the Group to cash flow interest rate nsk These floating rates are linked to
LIBOR and other interest rate bases as approphate to the instrument and currency Future cash flows ansing from these financial
instruments depend on interest rates and penods agreed at the time of rollover Group pobicy permats the use of long term

interest rate derwatives in managing the nsks associated with movements in interest rates

The effect on the Income statement and equity of 1% movements in the interest rate for the cumencies in which most Group
cash, cash equivalents, loans and other borrowings are denominated and on which the valuation of most denvatwe financial

instruments 1s based 1s as follows, assuming that the year-end positions prevail throughout the year

13 months ended Year ended
2 May 2015 29 March 2014
Effect on
Headline Etfect on

profit Effect on
befors tax  total squity
increase/  incroasa f
{docrease) (decroase)
Emiltlion Emiltion

Haadline Effect on
profit before  total equiy
tax increase ncrease /
/(dectease)  (decrease)

Smiflion Smulion

1% increase in the Sterling interest rate - 4

- 4
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25 Finanoial nsk management and dernivative financial instruments continued
d) Liquidity nsk

biguidity nsk 1s the nsk that the Group will encounter difficulty 1n meeting the obligations assoctated with its financial habiities
that are settled by delivenng cash or another financial asset The Group manages its exposure to iquidity nsk by reviewng
regularly the long term and short term cash flow projections for the business against the resources avarlable to it

In order to ensure that sufficient funds are available for ongoing and future developments, the Group has committed bank
facilities, excluding overdrafts repayable on demand, totaling £875 million (2014 £650 million} Further details of committed
borrowing facilities are shown in note 17

The table below analyses the Group's financial labities and denvative assets and fiabilittes mnto relevant matunty groupmgs
The amounts disclosed in the table are the contractual undiscounted cash flows, including both prncipal and interest flows,
assuming that interest rates reman constant and that borrowings are paid in full in the year of matunty

n more
than one
year but
not more fn more
Within  thanfive  than five
ona year years years Totat
Emillion £milllon £million Errullion
2 May 2015
Finance leases (8) (33) (114) (155)
Derwvative financial Instruments - payable
Forward foreign exchange contracts (1,540) - - (1,540)
Interest rate swaps (2} @ - (4)
Dernvative financial instruments - recewvable
Forward foreign exchange contracts 1,530 - - 1,530
Loans and other borrowings (64) (3370 - (a01)
Deferred consideration {25} {6) - {31}
Trade and other payables {1,584) (349) - (1,933)

In more
than one

year but
not morg in more
Within than five than five
one year years years Total
£million Ermullion Ernithon Emillion
29 March 2014
Finance leases m - - {1)
Derwative financial instruments - payable
Forward foreign exchange contracts (68} —_ - (68)
Interest rate swaps (1} - - (1
Denvative financial instruments - recevable
Forward foreign exchange contracts 68 - - 68
Interest rate swaps - 4 - 4
Loans and cther borrowings (8) (303} - (311)
Deferred consideration (25) (25} - {50)
Trade and other payables (869) - - (869)
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25 Financial nsk management and denvative financial instruments continued
e) Credit nsk

Credtt nsk 1s the nsk of financial loss to the Group if a bark fails to meet its contractual cbligations, and anses pnncipally from
the Group’s recevables from customers The Group’s exposure to credit nsk 1s regularly monitored and the Group's policy 1S
updated as appropnate

The majonty of the Group's trade recewvables are balances due from MNOs, which are generally major mult-national enterpnses
with whom the Group has well-established relationships and are consequently not considered to add significantly to the Group’s
credit nsk exposure The Group's trade recewvables also include balances due from equipment manufacturers, dealers and
Connected World Services customers, business to business customers and consumer credit receivables Where 1t 1s considered
appropnate, the Group obtains credit nsurance on accounts recevable Provision is made for any recevables that are
considered to be imecoverable Details of trade recevables which are past due but not impaired are provided in note 13

The credit nsks on cash and cash equivalents and derivative financial instruments are closely monitored and credit ratings are
used in determuning maximum counterparty credit nsk

The Group's funding 1s reliant on its £875 millton bank facilities, which are provided by nine banks, these institutions are
considered to be adequately capitalised to continue to meet thetr obligattons under the facility

The carrying amecunt of financial assets recorded in the financial statements, which is net of Impairment losses, represents the
Group's maximum exposure to credit nsk

f) Capital nisk

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities within the Group will be able to continue as going concems, whilst
maximising the retum to shareholders through a surtable mix of debt and equity The capital structure of the Group consists of
cash and cash equivalents, loans and other borrowings and equity attnbutable to equity holders of the Company, compnsing
issued capital, reserves and accumulated profits Except in relation to minimum capital requirements inits insurance business,
the Group 1s not subject to any externally imposed capital requirements The Group monitors its caprtal structure on an ongoing
basis, Including assessing the nsks associated with each class of capital

g} Denvatives

Denvative financial mstruments compnse forward foreign exchange contracts, foreign exchange swaps and interest rate swaps
The Group has designated financial nstruments under tAS 39 as follows

Cash flow hedges

At 2 May 2015 the Group had forward and swap foresgn exchange contracts in place with a notional value of £1,487 million
(2014 £nil) that were designated and effective as cash flow hedges These contracts are expected to cover exposures ranging
from one month to one year

Interest rate swaps
The Group also heid nterest rate swaps with a notional value of £280 millon (2014 £280 million) whereby the Group receives
a floating rate of interest based on LIBOR and pays a fixed interest rate This contract matures in Apnl 2017
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26 Notes to the cash flow statement

a} Reconciliation of operating loss to net cash inflow from operating activibes

13 months Year
ended ended
2May 20 March

2015 2014
£rmiltion £milion
Profit / {loss) before interest and tax - continuing operations 324 86
Depreciation and amortisation 149 40
Share-based payment charge 10 4
Non-cash movements on joint ventures - 19
impairrments and other non-cash tems 4 —
Operating cash flows before movements in working capital 487 149
Movements m working capital
Decrease in inventory 6 81
{Increase) / decrease in receivables (89) 114
(Decrease) / increase in payables (289) 89
Decrease in provisions (5) (20)
377) 264
Cash generated from operations - continuing operations 110 413
b} Anaiysis of net debt
Other
30 March non-cash Currency 2 May
2014  Cashflow Merper  movements  transistion 2015
Ermillion Emllion Emillion Cmililon Smullion £million
Cash and cash equivalents 283 (120} - - - 163
Short-term investments — - - - - -
283 (120} - - - 163
Borrowings due within one year - {55} - - - (55)
Borrowings due after more than one year (290) 249 (289) - - (330)
Obligations under finance leases {1) 7 {53) {4 — 91)
(291) 20t (382) 4) - {476)
Net (debt) / funds {8} a1 (382) {4} - 313)
Other
1 April nen-cash Lumrancy 29 March
2013 Cash flow Acquisiions movements  translation 2014
£milhon £milllon Ermulion Lrmubon Emilhon £milien
Cash and cash equivalents 117 166 - - - 283
Borrowings due within one year - - - - - -
Borrowings due after more than one year - (19) (271} - - {290}
Obhgations under finance leases - 2 {3} - — (1)
- (17 (274) — - (291)
Net funds / (debt) 117 149 (274) - - (8
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27 Related party transactions

Transactions between the Group's subsidiary undertakings, which are related parties, have been eliminated on consolidation and
accordingly are not disclosed Transactions between Group undertakings and associates compnsed sales of goods of £8 million
(2013/14 £nil)

The Group had the following transactions and balances with ts joint venture, Virgin Mobile France (see also note 24)

2 May 29 March

2015 2014

Emillion Emation

Revenue for services provided - 1
Net interest and other finance income - 1
Loans owed to the Group - 18

Revenue for services provided to Virgin Mobile France in the prior year related fo commissions on sales of Virgin Mobile France
connections by the Group's wholly owned operations in France

All transactions entered into with related parties were completed on an anm'’s length basis

28 Capital commitments
2 May 29 March

2015 2014
Cmilhion Erlion
Contracted for but not provided for in the accounts 55 —
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29 Operating lease arangements
a) The Group as a lessee

Total undiscounted future commtted payments due for continuing operations are as follows

2015 2014
Liand and Other Land and Other
bulidings assets buildings assels
Erdllion Emillion Emilien £mihon

Total undiscounted future committed payments due
Within one year 361 7 93 -
Between two and five years 1,227 14 249 —
After five years 1,001 1 130 -
2,589 22 472 -

Operating lease commitments represent rentals payable for retail, distribution and office properties, as well as vehicles,

equipment and office equipment Contingent rentals are payable on certain retall store leases based on store revenues and

figures shown include only the rminimum rental component

The above figures include committed payments under onerous lease contracts for which provisions or accruals exist on the

balance sheet, including those for businesses exited

The future minimum sub-lease payments expected to be received under non-cancellable sub-leases 1s £42 million
(2014 £33 million}

b} The Group as a lessor

The Group has nvestment properties wiich are let to third parties on long term leases for which the minimum future Income

15 as follows
2 May 29 March
2015 2014
Emilhon Lmihon
Total undiscounted future mimmum lease income receivable
Within one year 1 2
In two to five years 5 8
After five years 6 12
12 22
30 Contingent kabilities
2 May 2% March
2015 2014
Emilbon Emilhon
3 -

In addition to the figures shown n the table above, contingent labilities also exist in respect of lease covenants relating to

premises assigned to third parties
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Company balance sheet

2Msy 20 March
2015 2014
Notes Emillion Emithon
Fixed assets
Investments C4 2,678 753
Current assets
Cash and cash eguivalents 666 28
Debtors due within one year c5 23 644
889 672
Creditors amounts falling due within one year C6 (160} (54)
Net current assets 729 618
Total assets less current habiities 3,407 1,37
Provisions c7 {2) (2
Loans payable cs (330) (290}
Net assets 3,075 1,079
Equity
Share capital Cg 1 1 2 .
Share premium reserve cs 2,256 283 o
Profit and loss account cs 818 795 g ;
3,075 1,079 s i
H .
The financial statements of the Company were approved by the Board on 16 July 2015 and signed on its behalf by é '

el

Sebastan James, Humphrey Singer,
Group Chief Executive Group Finance Direcior
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C1 Accounting policies
a) Basis of preparation

The Company is incorporated n the United Kingdom The financial staternents have been prepared on a going concem basis
{see note 1 to the Group financial statements) and in accordance with applicable United Kingdom accounting standards under
the histoncat cost conventton, as modified by FRS 26 *Financial Instruments  Measurement’

Histoncally, the Company has prepared its financial statements to the Saturday closest to its accounting reference date of

31 March Following the Dixons Retal! Merger, which 1s descnbed further in note 23 to the Group financial statements, the
Company has changed tts accounting reference date to 30 Apnl which was the pre-existing accounting reference date of Dixons
Retail ple, but will continue to draw up accounts to the nearest Saturday and accordingly the financial penod 1s for the 13 months
ended 2 May 2015 The comparatve penod s for the year ended 29 March 2014

The Company has applied the exemption available in FRS 1 ‘Cash Flow Statements’ not to present its own cash flow statement
The following principal accounting policies have been appled consistently throughout both financial periods
b) Investments

Investments held in subsidiaries and joint ventures are recognised at cost, being the far value of consideration, acquisition
charges associated with the investment and capital contnbutions by way of share-based payments, less any provision for
permanent diminution In value

Investments where the Company does not have control or significant influence are treated as available-for-sale and recorded at
farr value Changes in far value, together with any related deferred taxation, are taken directly to reserves, and recycled to the
profit and loss account when the investment 1s sold or Is determined to be imparred

c) Share-based payments

Equuty settled share-based payments are measured at farr value at the date of grant and expensed over the vesting penod,
based on an estimate of the number of shares that will eventually vest

Fawr value 1s measured by use of a Binomal model! for share-based payments with intemal performance cntena (such as EPS
targets) and a Monte Carlo model for those with external performance cntenia (such as TSR targets)

For schernes with intemal performance cntena, the number of options expected to vest is recalculated at each balance sheet
date, based on expectations of performance aganst target and of teavers pnor to vesting The movement in cumulative expense
since the previous balance sheet date s recogrised in the profit and loss account, with a corresponding entry in reserves

For schemes with external performance cntena, the number of options expected to vest i1s adjusted only for expectations of
leavers prior to vesting The movement 1n cumulative expense since the previous balance sheet date 1s recognised in the profit
and less account, with a corresponding entry in reserves '

If a share-based payment scheme 1s cancelled, any remaining part of the far value of the scheme 15 expensed through the profit
and ioss account If a share-based payment scheme 1s forferted, no further expense 1s recognised and any charges previously
recognised through the profit and loss account are reversed

Charges also anse on loans that are provided to employees to fund the purchase of shares in the Group as part of long term
incentrve plans, to the extent to which the loans are not, in certain circumstances, repayable, the cost of the relevant part of such
loans 1S expensed over the course of the relevant incentive plans

d) Dividends
Dwvidends recervable from the Company's subsidianies are recognised only when they are approved by shareholders

Final dwvidend distributions to the Company's shareholders are recognised as a liability in the financial statements in the year i
which they are approved by the Company’s shareholders Intenm and other dividends are recogrised in the year in which they
are paid

e) Foreign currency translation

Matenal transactions in foreign currencies are hedged using forward purchases or sales of the relevant currencies and are
recogrused n the financial statements at the exchange rates thus obtained Unhedged transactions are recorded at the
exchange rate on the date of the transaction Matenal monetary assets and labilities denominated in foreign curencies are
hedged, manty using forward foreign exchange contracts to create matching kabilities and assets, and are retranslated at each
balance sheet date Hedge accounting as defined by FRS 26 has been applied in the both years

f) Loans and other borrowings

Bank fees and legal costs associated with the secunng of extemal financing are capitalised and amortised over the term of the
relevant facility All other borrowing costs are recogmised in the profit and loss account in the penod in which they are iIncurred
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C1 Accounting policies continued
g) Provisions

Provisions are recognised when a legal or constructive obligation exists as a result of past events and it 1s probable that an
outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation
Provisions are discounted where the time value of money 1s considered to be matenal

C2 Profit and loss account

In accordance with the exemption permitted by section 408 of the Companies Act 2008, the profit and loss account of the
Company 1s not presented separately The profit recogrised for the 13 months ended 2 May 2015 was £64 millon (2013/14
£19 million) Information regarding the audit fees for the Group 1s provided in note 3 to the Group financial statements

C3 Equity dvidends

2 May 29 March
2015 2014
£million £mullion

Amounts recogmsed as distnbutions to equity shareholders in the penod
- on ordinary shares of 0,1p each

Final dwvidend for the year ended 31 March 2013 of 3 25p per ordinary share - 19

Interim dividend for the year ended 29 March 2014 of 2 00p per ordinary share - 1

Final dwrdend for the year ended 29 March 2014 of 4 00p per ordinary share 23

Intenim dividend for the 13 months ended 2 May 2015 of 2 50p per ordinary share 29 -
52 30

The following distnbution 1s proposed but had not been effected at 2 May 2015 and 1s subject to shareholders' approval at the
forthcoming Annual General Meeting

Emliion
Final dividend for the 13 months ended 2 May 2015 of 6 Op per ordinary share 69

CA4 Fixed asset investments
2May 29 March

2015 2014
Emillion milion
Opening balance 753 741
Additions 3,965 12
Disposals {2,040) -
Closing balance 2,678 753
Cost 2,776 851
Accumulated impairments (98) (98}
Net carrying amount 2,678 753

Fixed asset investments compnse mvestments in subsidiary undertakings, jomnt venture investments and other minonty
nvestments Details of the Company's investments in subsidiary undertakings are provided in note C12

2014/15

On & August 2014, the Group completed an all-share merger of Dixons and Carphene after which the sharehclders of Dixons
and Carphone each held 50% of Dixons Carphone on a fully diluted basis taking into account existing share options and award
schemes for both companies

Under the terms of the Merger, Dixons shareholders receved 0 155 of a new Dixons Carphone Share in exchange for each
Dixons share In accordance with the entena in IFRS 3 *Business Combinations' it has been determined that Carphone acquired
Dixons and accounts for the majonty of the additions histed Immediately following the Merger, the shareholding in Dixons was
transferred down to the Company’s immediate subsidiary, New CPW Limited, and this transaction accounts for the majonty of
the disposals

2013/14
Addrtions reflected the cost of shares issued to satisfy Best Buy's obligations in relation to incentive schemes (see note 23 to the
Group financial staterments)
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C5 Debtors: amounts falling due wrthin one year

2May 29 March
2015 2014

Ermilion €milion

Amounts owed by Group undertakings 194 614
Loans to joint ventures - 18
Deferred tax asset 3 2
Prepayments 5 5
Other debtors 21 5
223 644

Amocunts owed by Group undertakings are repayable within 12 months of the balance sheet date

Other debtors include loans of £nil (2014 £1 million) to senior employees of the Group in relation to the Carphone Warehouse

Share Plan as explaned in note 5 b} to the Group financial statements
C6 Creditors: Amounts falling due within one year

2 May 29 March

2015 2014

Ernilllon Emitlion

Amounts owed to Group undertakings 119 21
Cther creditors 31 5
Accruals and deferred income 10 28
160 54

C7 Provisions

2May 2% March

2015 2014

Emillicn Emillion

Opening balance 2 6
Utiised In the penod / year - 4)
Closing balance 2 2

C8 Loans payable
Details of [oans payable are provided in note 17 to the Group financtal statements
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C9 Share caprtal, reserves and accumulated profits

2 May 29 March 2 May 29 March
2015 2014 2015 2014
miltion milion {milton E£mEon
Share capital
Allotted, called-up and fully paid ordinary shares of 0 1p each 1,151 576 1 1

During the year, 0 7 million shares were 1ssued in respect of options 1ssued under employee share option plans I addition,
574 7 million shares were 1ssued as par of the Merger as descnbed further in note 23 to the Group financial statements

Share Profit Capital
Share premium and loss redemption
capnal reserve account reserve Total
£milhon Emilhon Lrmullion Emillion Emiltion
At 1 Apnl 2013 1 170 705 - 876
Net profit for the year — - 19 - 18
Other comprehensive income — - 2 — 2
Issue of shares - 113 103 - 216
Egquity dividends - - (30) - (30)
Net movernent in relation to share schemes - - (4 — (4)
At 29 March 2014 1 283 795 - 1,079
Net profit for the year - - 64 - 64
Other comprehensive income - - 3) - 3)
Issue of shares — 1,973 - - 1,973
Equity dividends - - 52) — 52)
MNet movemnent In relation to share schemes - - 14 - 14
At 2 May 2015 1 2,256 818 - 3,075

Note 21 to the Group financial statements provides further details in respect of the issue of shares
For detarls of the Company's equity dividends see note C3

C10 Financial instruments

The Company has appled the exemption under FRS 25 ‘Financial Instruments Presentation’ not to disclose details of financial
nstruments held by the Company Full disclosure of the Group's financial instruments under FRS 29 (IFRS 7) ‘Financial
Instruments Disclosures’ and IAS 39 ‘Financial Instruments Recogrition and Measurement’ 1s provided in note 25 to the
Group financial statements

C11 Related party transactions
The Company has taken advantage of the exemption under FRS 8 ‘Refated Party Disclosures’ not to provide details of related
party transactions with other Group comparies

The Company entered into transactions, In the ordinary course of business, with other related parties as follows

2 May 2015 29 March 2014

Virgin Virgn

CcPW Mobile cPw Mobite

Europe France Europe France

Emilion Lrullion Emition £million

Net interest and other finance income - - - 1
Loans owed to the Company - - - 18
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C12 Subsichary undertakings
a) Pnncipal subsidianes

The Company has investments in the following principal subsidiary undertakings Al holdings are in equity share capital and give

the Group an effective holding of 100% on consolidation

Name

Country of incorporation or registration

Nature of business

The Carphone Warehouse Limited
The Phone House SpanS LU

The Phone House Deutschland GmbH
The Phone House Telecorn GmbH
The Phone House Netherlands B V
GEAB The Phone House AB

The Carphone Warehouse Limited
The Phone House Comercio e Aluguer de bens e Servigos Lda
New Technology Insurance

Dixons Retail plc

DSG international Holdings Limited

England and Wales
Spain

Germany

Germany
Netherlands
Sweden

Iretand

Portugal

Ireland

England and Wales
England and Wales

Distnbution
Distribution
Bistnbution
Distnbution
Distnbution
Distribution
Distnbution
Distnbution
Insurance

Holding Company
Holding Company

DSG Retail Limited

DSG Retail Ireland Limited

Dixons South East Europe AEVE
El-Giganten AS

El-Giganten AB

Elkjep Nordic AS

Gigantt OY

ISE-Net Solutions Limited

New CPW Limited”

Carphone Warehouse Europe Limited

England and Wales
Ireland

Greece

Denmark

Sweden

Norway

Finland

England and Wales
England and Wales
England and Wales

Retail
Retail
Retail
Retail
Retail
Retail
Retail

T

Holding company
Holding company

*  Held directly by the Company

b) Other subsidiary undertakings

The following are the other subsidiary undertakings of the Group, all of which are wholly owned unless otherwise indicated All
these companies are either holding companies or provide general support to the principal subsidiaries listed above

Country of Country of
wncarporation or incomoration of
Name registration Name registration
Adiumentum OY Finland DSG European Investments Limited England & Wales
Codic GmbH Gemany DSG Fieet Management Lirmnited England & Wales
Coverplan Insurance Services Limited England & Wales DSG Hong Kong Sourcing Limited Hong Kong
Currys Group Limited England & Wales DSG international BYBA Belgium
DISL 2 Limited Isle of Man DSG nternational Insurance
DISL UK Limited England & Wales Services Limited Isle of Man
Dixagon SA Switzerland Di%gﬁﬁ?ﬂ?:e%e o England & Wales
Dixons Group Limited England & Wales Dixons Retall SSCsro Czech Republic
Dixons Pension Trust Ireland Limited trefand DSG mternational Treasury
Dixons Properties SA Belgium Management Limited England & Wales
Dixons Retall SSCsro Czech Republic DSG Ireland Limited England & Wales
Dixons Sourcing Limited Heng Kong DSG KHI Limited England & Wales
Dixons Travel s ltaly DSG Overseas Investments Limited England & Wales
DSG Boxmoor Limited England & Wales DSG Retal Norway AS Norway
DSG Card Handhng Services bLimited England & Wales Electroworld Sverige AB Sweden
DSG Corporate Services Limited England & Wales Elgiganten Logistik AB Sweden
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C12 Subsidiary undertakings continued

b) Other subsidiary undertakings continued

Gountry of Country of
incorporation or INCOPOration or
Name registrauon Name regstratien
Elkjep Kleverenga AS Norway FM Corporate Communications BV Netherlands
Elkjop Norge AS Norway Fiv Development BV Netherlands
Epog Holding AB Sweden FM Investments BV Netherlands
Epoq Logistc DC k s Czech Repubhc FM Wholesale BV Netherlands
Kereru Limited England & Wales ID Mobile Limited England & Wales
Lefdal Electromarked AS Norway MTIS Limited Iretand
Leverstock Investments Limsted England & Wales Osfone - comercio de Aparelhos de
Markantalo OY Finland Telecomunicacoes LDA Portugal
Mastercare Service and Osfone Negocios ~ Comercio de
Distrnbution Lirmited England & Wales Aparethos de Telecomuricacoes LTA Portugal
Mohua Limited England & Wales Pelham Limited Iste of Man
NSS Financials AS Denmark Phone House International AB Sweden
PC City {France) SNC France Provital Groothandel BV Netherlands
PC City Norge AS Norway SG The Phone House AB Sweden
PC City Spain SAU Sociedede Gestora de Participcoes
Pet ! 3: P c Limited e bSp:m Socias SA Spain
T: ’I"S&";”rar:“d :;‘pa”y e S‘ :"d & Talkm Limited England & Wales
n & Ronnlun
Vi Y weden The Carphone Warehouse (Digital)
Carphone Warehouse Ireland Limited England & Wales
Mobile Lirnited England & Wales
The Carphone Warehouse
Charterhouse Management Limited tsle of Man Resources Limited Isle of Man
Compro-Telematics BV Netheriands The Carphone Warehouse UK Limited  England & Wales
Connected World Services The Phone House Holdings (UK)
Oistnbutions Limited England & Wales Limited England & Wales
Connected World Services The Phone House Netherlands
Europe SL Spain Business Centres BV Netherlands
Connected World Services The Phone House Netherlands
Netherands BY Netherlands Franchise BV Netherlands
Connected World Services SAS France The Phone House Netherlands
Connected World Services LLC USA Retail BV Netherlands
CPW Acton Five Limited England & Wales The Phone House Netherlands Retail
CPW Acton One Lenited Isle of Man Regio Midden BV Netheriands
The Phone House Netherlands Retail
g;x CB:randshz L:m:_tedt g Eng:ang z xvva:es Regio Zuid BV Netherlands
onsultancy Limre ngian a'es The Phone House Netherlands
CPW CP Limited England & Wales Services BV Netherlands
CPW GC Holdings BV Netherlands The Phone House Services GmbH Germany
CPW Irdam Limited England & Wales The Phone House Shop
CPW Tulketh Mill Limited England & Wales Management GmbH Germany
CWIAB Limited England & Wales Typhone e-concepts BV Netherfands
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C12 Subsidiary undertalangs continued

c) Subsidiary undertakings exempt from audit

The following subsidianes, all of which are incorporated in England and Wales and are all included with section b) above, are
exempt from the requirements of the UK Companies Act 2006 relating to the audit of individual accounts by virtue of section

479A of that Act

Name

Company registration number

CPW Tulketh Mill Limited

CPW Irlam Limuted

CPW Brands 2 Limited

The Carphone Warehouse (Digital) Limited
CPW Acton Five Limited

CPW Consultancy Limited

CWIAB Limited

The Carphone Warehouse UK Limited
CPW CP Limited

DSG Boxmoor Limited

DSG Card Handling Services Limited
DSG intemational Retail Properties Limited
DSG treland Limited

06585719
05825842
07135355
03966947
05738735
07881879
02441554
Qag272ev?
06585457
05430014
04185110
00476440
00240621
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Five-year record (unaudited)

Headline results - continuing operations

2014115 201314 201213 201112 2010111
Emillion Ermllion Emullon Cmilion Emilon
Group
Revenue 8,255 1,943 11 B 6
Share of results of CPW Europe - 3 48 46 43
Other 285 100 4 3 (1)
Net profit 285 103 52 49 42
Earnings per share
- Basic 29.7p 18 6p 108p 107p 93p
- Diluted 28.7p 18 3p 10 8p 102p 8 9p
Pro forma Headline results!"
Revenue 9,936 9,752 9,517 8,820 8,822
EBIT 414 359 310 277 259
Interest (33) (43) (33) {39) (35)
Profit before taxation as1 316 277 238 224

(1) Pro forma results are presented as though the Dixons Retail Merger and the CPW Europe Acquisiion had occurred at the beginming of the
five year penod The Financial Years 2013/14 and pnor have been restated to exclude discontinued aperations

Dixons Carphone plc Annual Report and Accounts 2014/15 145

Investor information




Investor information

Shareholder and corporate information

Dixons Carphone pic 1s Iisted on the mam market of the
London Stock Exchange (stock symbol DC) It is a constituent
of the FTSE 100

Registrar

Equiruti

Aspect House

Spencer Road, Lancing
West Sussex BN29 6DA
United Kingdom

0871 384 2089 (UK only)*
+44 (01121 415 7047 (from outside the UK)

“Calls to the 0871 number cost 8p per minute plus network
extras Lines are open 8 30am to 5 30pm, Monday to Fnday

‘You can manage your shareholdings via an electronic
communications service called Shareview -

www shareview co uk To register, you will need your
shareholder reference nurmber, which can be found on your
share certificate, dividend tax voucher or proxy card
Registration 1s free

Registered office / Head office

1 Portal Way

London W3 6RS

Urited Kingdom

+44 (0)20 8617 6002

www dixonscarphone com

Company registration number
07105305

Company Secretary

Enguines should be directed to

Nigel Paterson
Company Secretary and General Counsel
cpwlegal@cpwplc com

Investor relations ;
Enguines should be directed to }

Kate Ferry, Investor Relations Director
Mark Reynolds, investor Relations Manager

r@dixonscarphone com
I cal

Financial calendar Advisors

Ex-dividend date (final dividend 2014/15) 27 Aug 2015 Auditor

Record date {final dvidend 2014/15) 28 Aug 2015 Deloitte LLP

Annual General Meeting 10 Sep 2015 2 New Street Square

intended dividend payment date {final London EC4A 382

dnidend 2014/15) 25 Sep 2015 Jont Stockbrokers

Deutsche Bank AG
1 Great Winchester Street
London EC2N 2DB
Citigroup Global Markets Limited
33 Canada Square
Canary Wharf
E145LB
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Glossary and definitions

The following definiions apply throughout this Annual Repert and Accounts unless the context ctherwise requires

Acquisition intangibles

Acquired intangible assets such as customer bases, brands and other intangible assets
acquired through a business combmation capitalised separately from goodwill

ARPU Average revenue per user

B2B Business to business

Best Buy Best Buy Co , Inc (incorporated in the United States) and its subsidianes and interests
n joint ventures and associates

Best Buy Europe Best Buy Europe Distnbutions Limited and its subsidianes and interests in joint ventures
and associates {incorporated m England and Wales)

Board The Board of directors of the Company

Carphone, Carphone Warehouse The Company or Group pnor to the Merger on 6 August

or Camphone Group

CGU Cash Generating Unit

Consideraton Shares The 42 1m ordinary shares in the Company 1ssued to Best Buy on 25 June 2013
at a pnce of £1 90 per share, in connection with the CPW Europe Acquisition

CPW The continuing business of the Carphone Group, excluding its interest in
Virgin Mobile France

CPW Europe Best Buy Europe’s core continuing operations

CPW Europe Acquisttion The Company's acquisiton of Best Buy's interest in CPW Europe, which completed on
26 June 2013

CwWs The Connected World Services division of the Company

Dixons or Dixons Retail

Dixons Retal plc and its subsidiary companies

Dixons Carphone or the Company

Dixons Carphong plc (incorporated in England and Wales under the Act, with registered
nurmber (7105905), whose registered office 1s at 1 Portal Way, London W3 6RS

Dixons Retal Merger or Merger

The all share merger of Dixons Retall ple and Carphone Warehouse ple which occurred
on 6 August 2014

Eamings Profit or loss after taxation, unless the context otherwise requires

EBIT Earmmings before investment income, interest and taxation

EBITDA Eamings before investment income, interest, taxation, depreciation and amortisation
EPS Earmings per share (basic unless otherwise indicated)

ESOT Employee share ownership trust

Free Cash Flow

Free Cash Flow compnses cash generated from / {utiised by) continuing operations
before special pension contnbutions, less net finance expense, less iIncome tax paid
and net capital expenditure The directors consider that ‘Free Cash Flow' provides
addihonal useful nformation to shareholders i respect of cash generayon and 1s
consistent with how business performance 1s measured internally

Headline results

Results before Non-Headiine results The phrases ‘Headline eamings’, ‘Headline EBIT”,
‘Headline EBITDA' and 'Headline EPS’ should be interpreted in the same way The
Headline resutts of the Group's joint ventures also include certain reclassifications,

as detared in note 24 to the Group financial statements, to aid understanding of
underlying performance

HMRC

Her Majesty’s Revenue and Customs

IFRS

Intemational Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the European Union

Dixons Carphone pic Annual Report and Accounts 2014/15 147

Investor information




Investor information

Glossary and definitions

MNO Mobile network operator

MVNO Mobie virtual network operator

MTR Mobile termination rates

New CPW New CPW Limited {incorporated in England and Wales)

Non-Headhine results

Non-Headline compnse the results of discontinued operations or exited / to be exited
businesses, amorhisation of acquisition intangibles, any exceptional items considered
so one-off and matenal that they distort underlying performance (such as reorganisation
costs, impairment charges and other non-recumng charges) and net pension interest
costs Businesses exited or to be exited are those which the Group has exited or
committed to or commenced to exit through disposal or closure but do not meet the
definition of discontinued operations as stipulated by [FRS and are matenal to the
results and operations of the Group

NPS

Net promoter score, a rating used by the Group to measure customers’ likelihoed to
recommend its operations

Qld Carphone Warehouse

TalkTalk Telecom Holdings Limited {formerly "The Carphone Warehouse Group PLC")
(incorporated in England and Wales)

0Oid Carphone Warehouse Group

Old Carphone Warehouse and its subsidianes and interests in joint ventures pnor to the
Demerger

Parhicipation Plan The Carphone Warehouse Group plc Participation Plan 2011

PAT Profit after taxabon

PBT Profit before taxatron

Pro forma Results ncorporating Dixons Retall plc as if t had been owned by the Group for the
entire reporting pencd and the previous year In addition, in respect of 2013/14, the
results aggregating CPW Europe and the Group's wholly owned businesses, as though
CPW Europe had been 100% owned by the Group in the refevant penod

ROCE Retum on capital employed Net profit as a percentage of capital employed, calculated
using Headline earnings and with capital employed defined as average equity and
average non-current debt Averages are calculated based on the opening and closing
positions for the relevant year

RCF Revolving credit facility

Sharesave or SAYE Save as you earn share scheme

SWAS Stores-within-a-store

TalkTalk or TalkTalk Group TalkTalk Telecom Group PLC and its subsidianes and other investments

TSR Total shareholder retum

UK GAAP United Kingdom Accounting Standards and applicable law

Virgin Mobile France

Omer Telecom Limited (incorporated in England and Wales) and its subsidiaries,
operating an MVNO in France as a joint venture between the Company, Bluebottle UK
Limited and Financom SA S

WAEP

Weighted average exercise price
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